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Corporate Profile

REEN

EDA Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2505) is a leading
global artificial intelligence logistics technology service group
for e-commerce vendors, empowering the fast-growing B2C
export e-commerce industry in the PRC. With an unwavering
commitment to delivering customer-centric, technology-driven
and reliable solutions to our customers, we offer supply chain
solutions which encompass cross-border logistics, overseas
warehousing and fulfilment delivery services that are integrated
into EDA Cloud, our self-developed cloud platform which houses
a comprehensive range of digital supply management tools.

The Group has a large portfolio of carefully selected third-
party logistics service providers, comprising over 60 third-
party warehouse service providers, 300 international freight
forwarding service providers, ocean carriers and air carriers
and 80 local “last-mile” fulfillment service providers. We
contracted 61 overseas warehouses in the United States,
Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany and Australia, spanning
three continents and over 40 cities in the world. Among our 61
overseas warehouses, 47 are partnered warehouses, making
our network of partnered overseas warehouses one of the
largest among our peers.

In addition to our overseas warehouses (which serve as storage
and fulfillment centers), we also contracted four storage facilities
in Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Shanghai and Qingdao in the PRC
(which serve as temporary stock storage before their “first-mile”
international freight).
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Financial Highlights
MBRHE

For the year ended
31 December
B Z12831BLLEE

Change
2024 2023 gl
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%)
(AE®T ) (ARETFT)
Revenue WA 1,690,081 1,209,304 39.8%
Gross profit EH 250,995 197,104 27.3%
Profit before income tax B B AT A 66,026 80,424 (17.9%)
Profit for the year FRHE 47,068 69,403 (32.2%)
Profit attributable to owners of ARARHER A FEALFE
the Company 47,068 69,403 (82.2%)
Adjusted net profit (Non-HKFRS & HAZEA B GEES
measure)” MBHREERGTE) O 113,903 91,896 23.9%
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-HKFRS &I EEEBITDA (BEE
measure)® M mELEAFE)® 211,146 157,243 34.3%
Earnings per share attributable 3 i J% 3 f& (5 & % & 7
to ordinary shareholders (AAR® KR
(expressed in RMB)
Basic HAK 0.12 0.20
Diluted g N/A
0.11 i A

Adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS measure) is defined as profit for
the year adjusted by adding back listing expenses, share-based
payments expenses which management aims to better represent the
underlying business operations.

Adjusted EBITDA (non-HKFRS measure) is defined as profit for the
year adjusted by adding back (i) listing expenses, (ii) share-based
payments expenses, (iii) net finance costs, which represents finance
costs less total interest income of the same year, (iv) income tax
expenses, and (v) depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortization of other
intangible assets which management aims to better represent the
underlying business operations.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T FMBEHE
For the Year Ended December 31
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARETRT ARETR
RESULTS 4
REVENUE A 1,690,081 1,209,304 708,665 631,882 316,176
GROSS PROFIT ES 250,995 197,104 106,494 106,855 43,158
EXPENSES' % (166,302)  (109,592) (59,839) (47,102) (27,559)
FINANCE COSTS BEH A (22,231) (10,452) (11,044) (10,651) (5,720)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRAE 47,068 69,403 36,292 46,411 10,258
ADJUSTED NET PROFIT* BEER A 113,903 91,896 36,827 46,411 10,258
Net income attributable to BERALRREBR
ordinary shareholders of the R 0% A
Company 47,068 69,403 36,292 46,411 10,258

47,068 69,403 36,292 46,411 10,258

. Represented the sum of selling and distribution expenses, # EHER MBS THRES - FREX
administrative expenses, R&D expenses and other expenses & E MBI By

A non-HKFRS measure and derived from the net profit of the Group = EEEPEBELEAHERMB LTHEX
excluding the effect of listing expenses and share-based payments BEABRGAERMEASEY BB EE A
expenses SEENE

At 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TRT ARETT AR®TRT ARETR

FINANCIAL POSITION BB ARR
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,053,100 256,221 309,213 181,099 106,733
Current assets MBEE 652,226 422,778 255,197 203,974 102,861
Total assets BERE 1,705,326 678,999 564,410 385,073 209,594
LIABILITIES g%
Non-current liabilities kRBaE 685,241 98,569 132,532 143,761 83,512
Current liabilities mEaE 423,874 256,386 199,485 155,782 136,535
Total liabilities RERE 1,109,115 354,955 332,017 299,543 220,047
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 228,352 166,392 55,712 48,192 (33,674)
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of ~ R G A A FE1L

the Company g 596,211 324,044 232,393 85,530 10,453
Total equity BREH 596,211 324,044 232,393 85,530 10,453

4 EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report



Dear Shareholders, partners, employees, and friends from all
walks of life,

On behalf of the Board of EDA Group Holdings Limited, | am
honored to present to you the annual results report for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Over the past year, the Group
has demonstrated robust performance. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
RMB1,690,081,000, with a year-on-year increase of 39.8%.
Gross profit amounted to RMB250,995,000, representing
a year-on-year increase of 27.3%, while adjusted net profit
reached RMB113,903,000, representing a year-on-year increase
of 23.9%.

Throughout 2024, the Group contracted 11 new overseas
warehouses, with an increase in total area of approximately
200,000 square meters. As of 31 December 2024, the Group
contracted a total of 61 overseas warehouses, establishing
overseas warehouse network spanning three continents and
continuously expanding its market share. The Group has
actively engaged in deep cooperation with brand-oriented
customers and integrated industrial-trade customers to
continuously optimize its customer base. Additionally, the Group
has forged partnerships with major e-commerce platforms.
Currently, the overseas warehouses of the Group have become
official TEMU-Certified Warehouses, AliExpress Overseas
Escrow Certified Ecological Warehouses, and TikTok Platform
Docking Warehouses. The Group believes that a well-structured
customer base and increasingly close cooperation with
e-commerce platforms will enhance growth certainty and drive
sustainable and high-quality development.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

Furthermore, in 2024, the Group successfully commercialized
its SaaS system, generating revenue from SaaS services of
RMB1,089,000 and acquiring 9 new customers of SaaS system.

In terms of technology research and development, the Group
firmly believes that continuous technological innovation will
enhance operational capabilities, improve user experience, and
further strengthen the Group’s competitiveness as a leading B2C
export e-commerce supply chain solutions provider in China.
In 2024, the Group entered into a comprehensive cooperation
agreement with Huawei Cloud Computing Technologies Co.,
Ltd. (“Huawei Cloud”) to jointly explore the application of
advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (“Al”)
and big data in the overseas warehousing and cross-border
e-commerce sectors, driving the development of China’s
overseas warehousing and cross-border e-commerce sectors
with such technological innovation. In February 2025, amid the
wave of Al led by DeepSeek, the Group actively responded to
the national “Al+” industrial development strategy, deploying
and integrating DeepSeek to promote the application of
DeepSeek across business scenarios of the Group. Through Al
technology, the Group automated processes and intelligentized
decision-making, reshaping the cross-border e-commerce
logistics value chain.

In recent years, China’s cross-border e-commerce sector has
experienced rapid growth. As a new type of trade, cross-border
e-commerce has continuously injected vitality into the nation’s
economic growth, supported by a robust industrial system
and advancements in information technology. The Group firmly
believes that China’s cross-border e-commerce industry will
continue to experience rapid growth in the future, with the B2C
export market still holding development potential.

With “sticking to long-term growth” as the strategic focus for
2025, the Group has formulated a specific action plan for 2025
to 2030. Meanwhile, the Group has set a long-term strategic
objective of “becoming a leading global artificial intelligence
logistics technology services group in the new era”.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report
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The Group will actively embrace Al and large-scale model
technologies, striving to build a comprehensive global logistics
automation platform. By fully leveraging its accumulated
high-quality customer resources and business interaction
data from digital platforms, the Group aims to achieve
high-performance growth. The Group also recognizes that,
despite the vast market size of the global shipping industry,
the penetration rate of robotic process automation (“RPA”)
remains relatively low, indicating significant untapped growth
potential. To this end, the Group plans to provide Al+RPA
services for the shipping logistics industry, helping industry
participants reduce costs and improve efficiency. Additionally,
the Group will implement a smart warehousing plan to achieve
higher operational efficiency and continue exploring market
opportunities in the smart warehousing sector. Furthermore,
to accelerate business development, the Group is committed
to building an ecosystem-based collaborative business model.
By promoting the application and development of digital and
intelligent technologies in logistics, the Group will continue
to strengthen its resource integration capabilities, thereby
enhancing the market competitiveness of its operations.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere
gratitude to our hard-working employees, stakeholders, and all
Shareholders and business partners who support EDA Group
Holdings. On 28 May 2024, the Group successfully listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, a milestone achievement made
possible through the collective efforts of our market partners
and the unwavering support of the Shareholders. Looking
ahead, the Group will remain steadfast in its customer-centric
philosophy, striving to become a leading global artificial
intelligence logistics technology services group in the new
era and contributing to the development of the cross-border
e-commerce industry. At the same time, the Group will continue
to increase its investment in research and development, further
advancing innovation in “Al+Cross-Border E-Commerce” and
creating value for the industry through the application of Al
technologies.

Yours faithfully,

EDA Group Holdings Limited
Liu Yong
Chairman of the Board

25 March 2025

Chairman’s Statement
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EENEREEBEAERE

Mr. LIU Yong (8| B), aged 45, is the chairman of our Board
and executive director of our Group. Mr. Liu joined as a director
of our Group in 14 March 2014 and was redesignated as our
executive director on 23 June 2023, primarily responsible for the
overall management, strategic and business development of our
Group.

Mr. Liu has over 22 years of operational management
experience in the technology sector. From October 2003 to May
2011, Mr. Liu worked as a deputy department head at Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd (¥ & £ 1l & R 2 &), and primarily
responsible for telecommunications engineering construction.

Mr. Liu holds a bachelor’'s degree in computer science and
technology from South-Central Minzu University (7 & R ik X 2)
in the PRC.

Ms. LI Qin (Z #)), aged 38, is our executive director and
chief executive officer of our Group. Ms. Li joined as a human
resources manager of our Group in 17 November 2016 and
redesignated as our executive director on 23 June 2023,
primarily responsible for the operation and management of our
Group.

Ms. Li has over 16 years of operational management experience
in human resources and business operation management at
Shenzhen Yinglong Jian’an (Group) Co., Ltd. (®IIlTHh EiEE L (&

&) A BR A 7l) and Shenhua Construction (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (3%

ERERORY) BROHERRQF).

Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree in food quality and safety from
Nanjing University of Finance and Economics (F & Bf 48 K &)
in the PRC, a master of human resources management degree
from Renmin University of China (R B A R X&) in the PRC and
a master of business administration degree from Sofia University
in the US.

Mr. CHEUNG Man Yu (3R X F), aged 50, is our executive
director, our chief financial officer and company secretary of our
Group. Mr. Cheung joined as our director in 11 October 2022
and was redesignated as our executive director on 23 June
2023, and is responsible for the overall financial management of
our Group.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Cheung has more than 24 years of experience in financial
reporting, management and services at multinational
professional services company, international investment banks
and listed companies, including Ernst & Young, BNP Paribas
Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited, UBS AG, J.P. Morgan Securities
(Asia Pacific) Limited, China Lesso Group Holdings Limited
(“Lesso”) (listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2128) and Feiyu Technology International Company
Ltd. ((RER KB BRAF]) (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1022). Mr. Cheung served as
an independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
Lesso, and the chief financial officer and company secretary of
Feiyu Technology International Company Ltd.)). Mr. Cheung is a
director of subsidiaries of Samanea China Holdings Limited.

Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. ZUO Manlun (% @), aged 52, joined as our director
in 11 October 2022 and redesignated as our Non-executive
director on 23 June 2023, and is responsible for the investment
and strategic development of our Group.

Mr. Zuo has approximately 25 years of experience in the
plastic pipe industry. Mr. Zuo is an executive director and chief
executive officer of Lesso (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2128),is a non-executive director of
Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited (% %% $5 % % j¢ & R A 7))
(listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
98) and is a director of Keda Industrial Group Co Ltd (&} #i i
J& 13 B BR A R]) (isted on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600499).

Mr. Zuo won award of “Outstanding Worker of the Plastic
Industry in the PRC” (FEBI#Z R {T¥ % # T %) by China
Plastics Processing Industry Association (/7B %8 £Hi0 T T % 1
). Mr. Zuo completed a programme of EMBA from Sun Yat-sen
University (FF LX), Mr. Zuo is the brother-in-law of Mr. Wong
Luen Hei, a controlling shareholder of Lesso.
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EENEREEBEAERE

Mr. LUO Jianfeng (ZE#&I£), aged 53, joined as a director
of our Group in 22 October 2019 and redesignated as our
Non-executive director on 23 June 2023, primarily responsible
for the investment and strategic development of our Group.

Mr. Luo has approximately 32 years of experience in accounting
and worked at Shunde City Accounting Firm (B {E 1 & 51 A & 7%
Ffr), Guangdong Dezheng Accounting Firm with Limited Liability
(EREERRETEEEE S AT), Guangdong Gongcheng
Accounting Firm (B 3R 2 # & 5 B0 = 7 FT) and Foshan City
Zhongzhengcheng Accounting Firm Co., Limited ({8 LU 71 & IE 3
st EEFTAR AQF). Mr. Luo joined our Group in October
2019 and was a director of EDA CLOUD Company Limited from
October 2019 to July 2024 and a director of Global Logistics
Services Limited from September 2020 to July 2024. Mr. Luo is
an executive director of Lesso (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2128) and an executive director
of Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited (3% 8 2R AR A
A]) (listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code:98).

Mr. Luo holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Guangdong University of Business Studies ( & = & £ fx )
and is a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (4 Bl 3 filt & 51 Al 175 ).

Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin (B B ¥ ), aged 63, has
been our Independent Non-executive director since 18 April
2024. Mr. Chan has over 31 years of experience in investment
management and he worked at Schroders Asia Limited, Long
Investment Management Limited and a number of Edward Wong
Group companies including Edragon Management Ltd.

Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in applied science from the
Faculty of Applied Science and Engineering of the University of
Toronto and a master’s degree in business administration from
the University of Toronto in Canada. He is a chartered financial
analyst certified by the Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts.
He has obtained a Certificate in ESG Investing from the CFA
Institute.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. NG Cheuk Him ( & = & ), aged 50, has been our
Independent Non-executive director on 18 April 2024. Mr. Ng
has over 22 years of experience in accounting and auditing,
corporate financial management, investment and mergers and
acquisitions, and he worked with international investment bank
and various listed companies, including BNP Paribas Capital
(Asia Pacific) Limited (/=B B 22 gt & (= K) B R A7), China Ting
Group Holding Limited (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 3398), the chief financial officer and joint
company secretary of China Sunshine Paper Holdings Company
Limited (listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2002), the chief financial officer and a joint company
secretary of Miko International Holdings Limited (listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1247), the
executive director, chief financial officer and company secretary
of Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited
(listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
6068) and the executive director of LAV Capital Management
Limited.

Mr. Ng holds a bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis (£ % 14), aged 48, has been
our Independent Non-executive director since 18 April 2024.
Mr. Wong has over 21 years of experience in quantity surveying
and project management at Levett & Bailey Chartered Quantity
Surveyors Ltd., Wharf China Ltd, Henderson (China) Investment
Co., Ltd. and WT Partnership.

Mr. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree of science in Construction
Economics and Management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a
registered professional surveyor and a registered cost engineer
in the PRC.

EENEREEBAERE

RERELE 5058 ° H20245F4A18A &
EERMOBIERTES - REER
SEREF LEMBER  RERM
BHTHEBEBEA22FLR  SEBNER
REROTERZEMLETAR  BEEZEE
RpmBE(EAX)BRAA - EFREEER
BRAR(BAZRMER LT - BRMHARKE:
3398) FRAGHEEZERAR AR (B
ZErER LT RH AR 2002) EEE
B BERBELARWME  KEEHEE
BERAE (BRZATERET - BRMHRE:
124N ETEENBERBEREARME
KREHEBEBERERAREEHTE
ZE EHEVEEERRAAMEEAME
R £ B D 5% 6068) R LAV Capital
Management Limited Z 11T & &

REERBEEARIRNEGHELZ LTS
i UREEGAMAGRER

BERAEEE -

EIRMBFKE 4858 0 H12024F4H18H #E
EERMNBILIFERTES - TEEH
EHBEAFHNIRENENEEEERL
B o 1% (LB 7 Levett & Bailey Chartered
Quantity Surveyors Ltd. * Wharf China
Ltd. - BE(FE)KREFR QR RBEE
fa o

TREERBEEARIARBEELERE
BESSLEU Y RERFFHEM
2egs FTANEMEBEegE8 PH

SEMT 2R 2 Ah K GE A& 8 TA2AD -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER

11



12

EENEREEBEAERE

Mr. LI Hong Jun (2 4 &), aged 43, has been our chief
technology officer on 23 June 2023, and is responsible for
providing overall development and operation of the technology
platform of our Group.

Mr. Li has nearly 22 years of experience in software research
and development. He held software research and development
positions in several large Chinese companies (Nanjing ZTESoft
Technology Co., Ltd. (B R HE & A & & KR B R 2 7)),
Huawei Technology Co., Ltd. (% & # 1l7 & BR A &), Taobao
(China) Software Co., Ltd. (88 (FBE) &4 H R A7), Ping An
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ((F & & &R II) AR A 7).
From July 2014 to August 2019, Mr. Li served as the president
of technology department at Beijing Yilong Aviation Service
Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch (It REZEMERB B R QR E
I A 7)), principally engaged in software development and
planning. From September 2019 to June 2021, Mr. Li has served
as the chief technology officer at Tiger Thorn Fear Internet
Service (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (R RI B E B @R & OFI)E
fR A ®]), principally responsible for software and technology
development and management. Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s degree
in information technology from Hunan University.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
accounting policies adopted by the Group and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The Company strategically adopts an asset-light model through
leveraging third-party logistics service providers, which keeps
nimble in decision making. Through improving EDA Cloud
platform and investing in R&D activities, the Company can
optimize its operational efficiency, ultimately enhancing customer
experience.

The Company aims to leverage on its operational experience
in popular B2C e-commerce delivery destinations to reach out
to more emerging e-commerce vendors. The Company will
continue to strengthen its presence across the globe as this will
enable the Company to not only reach out to new customers,
but also consolidate existing long-term business relationships
with the Company’s customers, in particular, core customers.

A customer-centric culture values relationship with customers
and drives to provide customers with reliable and quality
solutions. The Company places heavy emphasis on endeavors
relating to the technologies, particularly the EDA Cloud platform.
With consistent enhancement of the platform, customer
experience is improved.

The Company is committed to promoting a culture of
integrity and compliance, and has therefore established an
anti-corruption risk management policy. The Company has
delivered and will continue to deliver trainings to the employees
on preventing corruption.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect the interests of the
Shareholders. The Company has adopted the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance. From the Listing Date to 31 December
2024, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code.
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The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to review of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control system;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(f)  to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code).

The Board has performed the above duties during 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code
governing securities transactions by directors of the Company.
Having made specific enquiry to the directors of the Company,
all directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code from the Listing Date to
31 December 2024. The Model Code is also applicable to other
specific senior management of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises 8 directors, including 3 executive
directors, 2 non-executive directors and 3 independent
non-executive directors. The composition of the board,
by category of director, is set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at the Board and General Meetings”.
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The Board is responsible for management and development
of the Company. The main responsibilities of the Board are to
set the development direction and strategies of the Group and
supervise the management performance of the management.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman is Mr. Liu Yong, primarily responsible for the
overall management, strategic and business development of
our Group. The chief executive officer is Ms. Li Qin, mainly
responsible for the operation and management of our Group.

One of the important duties of the chairman is to lead the Board
to ensure the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. The chairman shall ensure the effective operation of
the Board and fully perform his duties and ensure all important
issues are discussed at Board meetings in a timely manner.
All directors will be consulted for any proposed items in the
agenda. The chairman has delegated the drafting of the agenda
of each Board meeting to the company secretary. With the
assistance of the company secretary, the chairman aims to
ensure all directors are adequately briefed on any issues being
put forward at a Board meeting and receive sufficient and
reliable information in a timely manner.

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements included
in the annual report and the interim report. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024, the directors have selected and applied
appropriate accounting policies and have made prudent and
reasonable judgements and estimates in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Company has arranged directors’ liability insurance for its
directors.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”), Any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after
his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.
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In addition, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Apart
from retirement by rotation pursuant to the Articles, each
non-executive director has a term of three years. Therefore, no
director will remain in office for a term of more than three years.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

All of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed
their independence as regards the factors in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

The training records provided by the directors of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

o EBERRBEFAS L BEHA
=HhZz—EZARERT BEERES
BELB=ZFHEERT X - BBREE
BAAGBRESRIN SEIEVTESEH
THAE=ZF A BEENTH—HT
FHBBA=F -

BRBYM
PIEBYIFATTESCO M LA RIZE313

GRATPINRAZBRBE B ARA]R
RS RBLAL -

ESNREEXRRE

HE2024F12A31HIEFE » AARIESE
RBHAOEIZEHEOT

Directors Type of Trainings
BE=x EIER
Liu Yong A B, C
2=

Li Qin A B, C
¥ )

Cheung Man Yu A B, C
RXF

Zuo Manlun A, C
I fm

Luo Jianfeng A, C
mEE

Chan Kwok Cheung Kevin A, C
PR B B

Ng Cheuk Him A, C
REHR

Wong Ping Yee Natalis A, C

ITxRE
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Notes:
A. attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
B. delivering talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C. reading information, newspapers, journals and materials relating to
the responsibilities of directors, economy, finance, investments and
business of the Company

Each of Mr. Chan Kwok Cheung Kevin, Mr. Ng Cheuk Him and
Mr. Wong Ping Yee Natalis was appointed as our independent
non-executive director on 18 April 2024. Each of them obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules
on 27 January 2024 and has confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to certain
committees under its supervision, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee (collectively known as “Board Committees”). Board
Committees can engage intermediaries to provide professional
opinions and the reasonable expenses incurred as a result are
borne by the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being
independent non-executive director Mr. Ng Cheuk Him
(chairman of the Audit Committee), independent non-executive
director Mr. Chan Kwok Cheung Kevin and non-executive
director Mr. Luo Jianfeng. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among others:

° reviewing the compliance, accounting policies and financial
reporting procedures;

° supervising the implementation of the internal audit system;

° advising on the appointment or replacement of external
auditors;

o liaising between the internal audit department and external
auditors; and

° other responsibilities as authorized by the Board.
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The Audit Committee shall convene at least two meetings each
year. In 2024, the Audit Committee convened two meetings. The
attendance record of the meetings is set out on a named basis
on page 22. The following is a summary of work performed by
the Audit Committee during 2024:

° review of the interim report and the interim results
announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

° review and approval of Ernst & Young’s report for the Audit
Committee for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

° review of the corporate governance disclosures for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, with recommendations to the
Board for approval;

° assistance of the Board in monitoring and overseeing
of the risk management and internal control systems,
as details in the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control”;

° review of the effectiveness of the internal control function;
and

° 2024 audit service fee.

Following the year end, the Audit Committee reviewed the
annual report, annual results announcement and environmental,
social and governance report for the year ended 31 December
2024 with a recommendation to the Board for approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
executive director Mr. Liu Yong, independent non-executive
director Mr. Chan Kwok Cheung Kevin (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and independent non-executive
director Mr. Wong Ping Yee Natalis. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include, among others:

o making recommendations to the Board on our policy and
structure concerning remuneration of our directors and
members of the senior management;
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° making recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration package of each director and members of
the senior management;

o reviewing and approving compensations payable to
executive directors and members of senior management
for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

° reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of any director for his
or her misconduct to ensure that such arrangements
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

° other responsibilities as authorized by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee shall convene at least one
meeting annually. In 2024, the Remuneration Committee
convened one meeting. The work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during 2024 included review of the
current remuneration package of the directors and senior
management as well as the non-executive directors’ fees. The
attendance record of the meeting is set out on a named basis
on page 22.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being
executive director Mr. Liu Yong (chairman of the Nomination
Committee), independent non-executive director Mr. Wong Ping
Yee Natalis and independent non-executive director Mr. Ng
Cheuk Him. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include, among others:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, and advising on any changes of the
Board proposed in accordance with the strategies of the
Company;

o identifying, selecting or making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

° making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment and re-appointment of the
directors;
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o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

° other responsibilities as authorized by our Board.

The Nomination Committee shall convene at least one meeting
yearly. In 2024, the Nomination Committee convened one
meeting. The work performed by the Nomination Committee
during 2024 included review and assessment of the current
composition of the board and independence of all independent
non-executive directors. The attendance record of the meeting
is set out on a named basis on page 22.

Director nomination policy sets out the approach and
procedures the Board adopted for the nomination and selection
of directors of the Company, including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-election of
directors.

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the potential contribution
such candidate can bring to the Board in terms of his or her
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender diversity, etc. The Nomination Committee
shall consider the following selection criteria and such other
factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board: (a) attributes complementary to the Board, (b) business
experience & Board expertise and skills, (c) availability, (d)
motivation, (e) integrity, (f) independence and (g) diversity in all
aspects.

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for identifying
suitable director candidates, including referral from directors,
shareholders, management, advisors of the Company and
executive search firms. Upon compilation and interview of the
list of potential candidates, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board based on the selection criteria
and such other factors that it considers appropriate. The Board
has the final authority on determining suitable director candidate
for appointment.
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Where a retiring director, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election, the Board shall consider and, if appropriate,
recommend such retiring director to stand for re-election at a
general meeting. A circular containing the requisite information
on such retiring director will be published in the websites of
Stock Exchange and the Company prior to a general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the director nomination policy from the website
of the Company for detalils.

NUMBER OF THE BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Board
convened three meetings to review operating performance,
significant investments, financing, board diversity and connected
transaction. The Board also considered and approved the
Group’s overall strategy and reviewed interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2024. No general meeting was convened
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT THE BOARD AND

GENERAL MEETINGS

Director

E=
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ESNESEERRRRAENHER

Meetings attended/eligible to attend@ ®
HERY EEREENRE®

Board
EEg

Audit
Committee

EREEE

Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee

REZES FMESS

Executive Directors
BITES

LIU Yong

2=

LI Qin

=3 )

CHEUNG Man Yu

iR X F

Non-executive Directors
FHITESE

ZUO Manlun

T W

LUO Jianfeng

mRE

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

BYXBITES

CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin

PR B 2=

NG Cheuk Him

RE

WONG Ping Yee Natalis

FFRIR

Note:

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

2/2

2/2

2/2

it :

(@ In accordance with the Articles, directors may attend meetings in  (a)
person, by telephone, tele-conferencing or other electronic means.

(b)  No general meeting was convened from the Listing Date to 31 (b)

December 2024.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

11 1/

— 1/1

1/1 —

11 11

REZEREMURTE EFAUHS  BBE
EoEFERSEMEFIALESS -

B LA E2024F12A31B KB A K
RRK& -



COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary reports to the board of directors, follows
board meeting procedures and provides advice to the Board on
governance matters.

The company secretary has participated in no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management including the risks related to environmental, social
and governance and internal control systems of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness annually. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Board is responsible for identifying, evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board oversees risk management functions directly and also
through the Audit Committee and the management.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines covering first-mile
international freight services, last-mile fulfillment services,
overseas warehouse management, corporate management,
research and development, finance and human resources.
Annual evaluation has been conducted to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.
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The management is responsible for the overall implementation
of risk management and internal control plans and policies
determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection
with all of the Company’s business operations. The management
identifies, assesses and takes measures against any significant
risks and material internal control defects that the Company is
facing, and reviews the risk assessment report.

Risk
AR

Description

I

EEERREFEEEMNRAREERA
MEEAEMBRNERER LEE

RARafiEXEBEERBENRR - B1E
EB#7 - B ARREEBENEMER

ﬂ 2 & ERNBPEEERRIE - I Bk B ER
B A RERRRF RS -

Measures

B H & i

1. Logistics Risk
R B B

2. Exchange Rate Risk
EEmE R

Cross-border logistics is complex, involving multiple
aspects such as international transportation,
customs clearance, and last-mile delivery. The
Group attaches great importance to every aspect
to avoid delay, loss or damage of goods and ensure
timely delivery of goods.

BEWRREEE SREARER BSHEH-
BR-NEEXSZERD - AREERTMN—{E
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ EXRNBE  UBRREMER

Overseas warehousing services involve currency
settlements in various countries and regions.
Fluctuations in exchange rates will have an impact
on the Group’s costs, profits and pricing strategies.
BHERRBLRSABRNMENHEHEE -
EXHRDERARENNAK FIEMERREST

E/;
Ry &-
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Establish long-term partnerships with numerous
high-quality logistics partners to diversify
logistics risks. Optimise logistics and distribution
plans, plan transportation routes and methods
in advance, and reserve emergency time and
alternative plans. Strengthen communication and
coordination with logistics suppliers, track cargo
transportation status in real time, and promptly
resolve problems that arise during the logistics
process. Purchase logistics insurance to protect
agamst losses of goods during transportation.
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Use a variety of exchange rate risk management
tools such as forward foreign exchange contracts,
foreign exchange options, currency swaps, etc.
to lock in the risk of exchange rate fluctuations.
Optimise pricing strategies, adjust product
prices in a timely manner according to exchange
rate changes, and negotiate with customers to
reasonably share exchange rate risks. Strengthen
financial management, arrange funds rationally,
improve the efficiency of fund use, and reduce
the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the
Group’s financial condition.
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Measures

EHEE

Risk Description

R #a

3. Technological risks
RN

(i) Technology Integration ~ When the DeepSeek model is integrated with the
BB Group’s Saa$S platform, system compatibility issues

may arise, extending the development cycle.

DeepSeek 12 2 8 7K & [B £ SaaS ¥ & & K B 7

REGRATERE TRAZESH -

(i) Data Seourity( and Privacy
FBEZ2EENL

Al helps process customer data.

ABBIREEF#E

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for year 2024.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
monitoring and overseeing the risk management and internal
control systems through the internal audit department, and
reporting and making recommendations to the Board on a
regular basis.

The following are the Company’s key internal control tasks in
2024:

1.  In accordance with regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business objectives, with risk management
as the guide, various audit projects have been
comprehensively implemented as planned, follow-up
audit efforts have been continuously strengthened, and
the Company’s risk management, internal control and
corporate governance systems have been continuously
improved to achieve the Company’s business development
objectives;

2. Deepened business audits, encouraged employees to
conduct self-inspections, self-corrections and proactive
disclosures; paid special attention to key control points
during inspections to improve inspection results in various
business areas; and

3. Carried out activities to strengthen the anti-corruption
culture, enhanced employees’ awareness of integrity and
anti-corruption, and created the anti-corruption culture;
comprehensively promoted the construction of the audit
system and improved the auditors’ qualities.

Establish a cross-departmental technical research
team to implement system connection in stages;
conduct compatibility tests and simulations in
advance and establish emergency backup plans.

B MPIRMI A/ - PERERA S EE
RAETHEDMEASANER BUBESERAIR -

Deploy end-to-end encryption and anonymisation
technology; establish regional managers and
conduct regular data security audits.
BERIAGNERELCRERIN:-RUREA
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The Board reviews the management report and internal audit
report annually with the support of the Audit Committee and
management. During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Review Period”), the Board reviewed and considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
effective and adequate, and ensured that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training courses and related
budgets are adequate in respect of the accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions and environmental, social and
governance performance and reporting.

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. In order to ensure the market and
stakeholders are timely and fully informed about the material
developments in the Company’s business, the Board has
adopted the inside information disclosure policy regarding the
procedures of proper information disclosure. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and
use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

The Board supervises the management to establish an
anti-fraud cultural environment within the Group and establish
and improve the internal control system to prevent fraud;
Investigate and judge fraud reporting cases involving senior
managers, and formulate resolution on handling. Once fraud
is found, the Board will deal with it strictly in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the anti-fraud policy. For matters
related to reporting, the Board shall implement in accordance
with the reporting policy, so as to ensure the compliance and
transparency of the Company’s operations and safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Company and all
stakeholders.
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TEERRE
AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION BRI &
. . For the year ended 31 December 2024

The service fees paid or payable by
the Group to Ernst & Young, the external auditors B £2024512A31R ﬂ:ng
REE O I B A T oK s A =AY RMB million
EXNBEFZREEA ARBBEETR
Annual audit services 1.80
FEETRY
Non-audit services 0.91
IEEF RS
° Interim results review 0.75

SR TES
° Others* 0.16

HAh
Total
@it 2.71

Others were tax advisory services
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the benefits of the Board that
possesses a balance of skill set, experience, expertise and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the strategies of the
Company. The Company believes that board diversity enhances
decision-making capability and thus the overall effectiveness
of the Board in achieving sustainable business operation and
enhancing Shareholder value.

The Company takes into consideration the benefits of various
aspects of diversity, including gender, age, culture, ethnicity,
education background, professional experience and other
factors that may be relevant from time to time towards achieving
a diversified Board.
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Ms. Li Qin has been appointed as an executive director and
Chief Executive Officer to promote gender diversity on the
Board. The Company’s board has a female director which
comply with the Corporate Governance Code. The Company
has adopted the following measure to develop a pipeline of
potential successors to the board and achieve gender diversity:
(@) keep track of the Board’s skills matrix and the need for
appointment of new director(s); (b) nurture talent by internal
training program; (c) identify external candidates with desirable
skillsets by engagement of recruitment agencies.

GENDER RATIO IN WORKFORCE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s women
employees accounts for 39.3% of the total workforce and
41.9% of its middle or above managerial level. All employees
are treated equally regardless of gender, nationality, age,
race or religion. The recruitment procedures are impartial and
non-discriminative and each candidate is selected on the basis
of objective criteria such as skills, experience or competency.
The Board is of the view that the current gender ratio in the
workforce is appropriate to the development of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

SHAREHOLDERS CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital of the
Company may require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the board pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the consideration of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are available on the website of the
Company.

Shareholders who wish to raise inquiries about the Company
to the Board are welcome to contact the Company’s Investor
Relations by email (e.g.IR@edayun.com) or telephone (+86 400-
0990-015).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no amendment to the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and the investment community, and will regularly
review shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its
effectiveness. This policy is available on the website of the
Company.

The Company’s communication channels with its shareholders
are as follows:

° Board members, particularly the chairman of the Board,
the chairman of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives and external
auditors will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions;

° participate in general meetings (including annual general
meetings) or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend
such meetings;

o attend Shareholders’ activities organized by the Company,
where information about the Company, including its
latest strategic plan, products and services, etc. will be
communicated;

° attend investor/ analysts briefings and group/one-on-one
meetings, roadshows (both domestic and international) and
media interviews;

° participate in marketing activities and forums for
specialists, etc. on a regular basis.
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Shareholders shall direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited (17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong).

The Board has reviewed the shareholder communication
policy this year and believes that the above channels promote
communication between the company, Shareholders and
investors. Therefore, the shareholder communication policy
implemented by the Company is effective.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since its inception, the Group has consistently adhered to
an unwavering commitment to delivering customer-centric,
technology-driven and reliable solutions to our customers,
dedicating itself to providing global-leading logistics technology
services powered by artificial intelligence for e-commerce
sellers, which encompass cross-border logistics, overseas
warehousing and fulfillment delivery services. We have
integrated these services into our SaaS Platform, EDA Cloud
platform, our self-developed cloud platform which houses a
comprehensive range of digital supply management tools,
aiming to support the sustainable growth of China’s rapidly
expanding B2C export e-commerce industry.

The listing of the Group on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on 28 May 2024 has further established the Group’s important
position in the B2C export e-commerce supply chain solutions
market, greatly increased the Group’s industry influence,
credibility and brand awareness. Such milestone event has
paved the way for our steady strategic partnerships with various
market participants, including e-commerce vendors, foreign
and domestic third-party services providers, and cross-border
e-commerce platforms, laying a solid foundation for deepening
our business roots and expanding our market presence.

As an internet-driven enterprise in the cross-border e-commerce
industry, the Group leverages our technology-enabled
“internet + overseas warehouses” business model to focus on
cross-border e-commerce services, enhancing synergies across
the cross-border e-commerce industry value chain and driving
the integrated development of “cross-border e-commerce +
industrial clusters.” The Group empowers its ecological partners,
including cross-border e-commerce, logistics service providers,
and warehousing service providers, through its self-developed
EDA Cloud platform and extensive overseas warehouse
storage network system, so as to enable partners to reduce
costs, improve efficiency, and achieve worry-free cross-border
transactions and trading in the new business environment of
cross-border e-commerce.
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In terms of performance, for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group recorded revenue of RMB1,690,081,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of 39.8% as compared
with RMB1,209,304,000 for the corresponding period last
year. In particular, during the Review Period, revenue from the
last-mile fulfillment services amounted to RMB1,470,221,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of 54.8% as compared
with RMB949,799,000 for the corresponding period last year,
while revenue from first-mile international freight services
amounted to RMB219,860,000, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 15.3% as compared with RMB259,505,000 for the
corresponding period last year. In terms of gross profit, the
Group recorded a gross profit of RMB250,995,000 during the
Review Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 27.3%
as compared with RMB197,104,000 for the corresponding
period last year. As for the profits, during the Review
Period the Group recorded a net profit of RMB47,068,000
representing a year-on-year decrease of 32.2% as compared
with RMB69,403,000 for the corresponding period last year,
mainly due to the fact that the Group recognized share-based
payments expenses during the Review Period; and the
adjusted net profit (a non-HKFRS measure and derived from
the net profit of the Group excluding the effect of listing fees
and share-based payment expenses) was RMB113,903,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of 23.9% as compared
with RMB91,896,000 for the corresponding period last year.
During the Review Period, the Group’s net profit margin
and adjusted net profit margin (non-HKFRS measure) were
2.8% and 6.7% respectively, as compared with 5.7% and
7.6% respectively in the corresponding period last year. The
decrease in net profit margin was mainly due to the decrease
in gross profit. The management of the Group believes that the
presentation of the adjusted net profit as a non-HKFRS measure
when shown in conjunction with the corresponding HKFRS
measures helps to identify underlying trends in the Group’s
business that could otherwise be distorted by the effect of non-
operational or non-recurring expenses, and therefore provides
useful information to investors and others in understanding
and evaluating results of operation of the Group by eliminating
potential impacts of such items. The management of the Group
also believes that the use of non-HKFRS measures provides
useful information about the Group’s operating results, enhances
the overall understanding of the Group’s past performance and
prospects, and allows for greater visibility with respect to key
metrics used by the Group’s management in its financial and
operational decision-making.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

¥EHHE NE 22024F12/318 [EF
B AEEEREZERAARE,690,081
T ®REFREEH AR #1,209,304
TR bt 1 R39.8% - BB E - RO
EHE EEBARBOKABAR
1,470,221 F 0 BREFRHHARE
949,799F JT [A] kb #E £54.8% : 38 12 B B
HERBH WA B ARE219,860F It -
BREFREEBHAREE259,505F TR LT
F£15.3% B F 5 HE » AN EE R [0 B H
ETIHEF ARKE250,995T T BWEFF
B E) A R #5197 104F JT R L 18 K 27.3% ©
FE s - AN BN B RSB F B
AR®47068F T KREFRHHARKE
69,403 F LA L T F£32.2% » F R £ H
REBEAEER ARG BERNMNRFE
TR KCRABEERNFANECGERBHB
RELEAFESEMBLETERRUKRD
AEERAONZIAIFEBREAERF
) B A RE113,903F 7T © &= F R Hf
B A R#91,8967 7T [A £ 1 £23.9% °
[O1BE BAM - AN & BT I 3 R0 48 3 B R &
GERBYBRELEANFTE) DA B2.8%
M6.7% + KFREARFH KR &FHEBF
FED RN B57%F7.6% @ FH KT
ZEREFTHERAB - AEEEEERSE -
HRBEVERELENFTE—HE2H L
FEFEFNBERIERBMEHRE LG
) EURBRIAAESEEBNABBE
(TR EEBUHNELCT RIS
MAE) BEABEREEEENBETE -
EUhABEEEREMALE TR LTME
KPR XEEREEBERAER K&
EEREETRR TRIEFBEMBHRS
ZAFHERHEEUASELEXENE
RER MEAHAEEBATEERKK
AR ERER YFAEEERER
EH B S R & R R E AR EEZ
FABHE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEFWED

Year ended 31
December 2024

Year ended 31
December 2023

B £2024F128 #H £2023%F12A4

B1ALEE BILFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARKET T

Profit for the year FRFHE 47,068 69,403

Add: hn e

Listing expenses FmAX 10,454 22,493

Share-based payments expenses RO BERONRALZ 56,381 —
Adjusted net profit (Non-HKFRS KA EREFEREGER BB

measure) WELEAFE) 113,903 91,896

In terms of businesses, for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group contracted 11 new overseas warehouses, which are
located in Australia, Germany, Canada, the United Kingdom and
the United States, with an increase in total area of approximately
200,000 square meters. As of the same date, the Group
contracted a total of 61 overseas warehouses covering more
than 40 cities in three continents of the world. The Group’s
overseas warehouse storage network continued to expand,
enhancing its business capacity. During the Review Period,
the number of core customers (customers which contributed
more than RMB3 million of our revenue for the Review Period)
was 90 (58 for the corresponding period in 2023) and sales to
core customers amounted to RMB1,441,427,000, representing
an increase of 35.0% as compared to the same period last
year. During the Review Period, new entities were opened
in Xiamen, Anji and Ezhou as domestic sales channels to
promote local business development and customer services. In
addition, the Group also made progress in the reconstruction
and commercialization of its SaaS system. During the Review
Period, the Group completed the reconstruction of the WMS/
OMS templates of the SaaS system and successfully achieved
commercialization During the Review Period, revenue generated
from SaaS services amounted to RMB1,089,000 and there were
additional 9 new users.
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Meanwhile, the Group has forged close partnerships with major
e-commerce platforms during the Review Period. In April 2024,
the Group successfully connected its self-developed EDA
Cloud platform with the TEMU system, becoming an official
TEMU-Certified Warehouse. In November 2024, the Group
successfully connected its SaaS platform with the AliExpress
official system, becoming an AliExpress Overseas Escrow
Certified Ecological Warehouse. In January 2025, the EDA Cloud
platform successfully connected its system with TikTok Shop,
becoming a TikTok Shop Platform Docking Warehouse. The
Group believes that close collaborations with major e-commerce
platforms will enable it to provide more comprehensive and
integrated services to a broader base of e-commerce vendors.

Furthermore, the Group is acutely aware that in the wave
of digital trade, artificial intelligence (“Al”) to assist in global
expansion of trade has become a trend. During the Review
Period, the Group entered into a comprehensive cooperation
agreement with Huawei Cloud Computing Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Huawei Cloud”). The cooperation focuses on three key
areas: Al technology empowerment, ecosystem partnership
empowerment, and data security empowerment. By leveraging
Huawei Cloud’s technological strengths in cloud services,
Al, and big data, the Group aims to drive the development of
China’s cross-border e-commerce industry and empower the
global expansion for products made in China.

Since its establishment, the Group has consistently monitored
the changes in the global presence of economic sectors. With
the continually structural upgrading of industries in China
and changes in production costs, the Group has observed
a trend of labor-intensive industries gradually relocating to
Southeast Asia. This trend has brought new opportunities
for economic development in Southeast Asia and has also
provided potential for the Group’s business development. To
accelerate the rapid development and future expansion of the
Group’s business in Southeast Asia, and in consideration of
Indonesia’s strategic location in Southeast Asia, coupled with
its expanding e-commerce sector and increasing demand for
efficient logistics services, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement in January 2025 to acquire PT SAMANEA
LOGISTICS PROPERTY, positioning the Company to better
prepare for future logistics warehousing property investment to
better meet the increasing demand of the Indonesian market,
ultimately driving growth and competitiveness of the Group in
the region.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As the first enterprise in China’s cross-border e-commerce
industry to successfully list with overseas warehouse as its
core business, the Group will uphold its core values of pursuing
simplicity, advocating efficiency, embracing innovation, and
focusing on results. We remain committed to providing globally
leading Al logistics technology services to our customers, aiming
to seize market opportunities in global trade and capitalize on
the rapid growth of the cross-border B2C e-commerce market.
Meanwhile, we will vigorously develop cross-border e-commerce
empowerment for industrial belts, strive to improve the Group’s
profitability, achieve sustainable high-quality growth, and
maximize returns for the Shareholders.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND FUTURE STRATEGIES

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, China’s gross
domestic product (“GDP”) for the year of 2024 reached
RMB137,908.4 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 5.0% calculated at constant prices. Amid a complex and
severe situation of increasing external pressures and internal
challenges, China’s economy maintained overall stability with
steady progress, solidly advanced high-quality development,
and successfully achieved the main targets for economic and
social development. Among the economy driven by key forces
including exports, domestic consumption and investment,
exports played a pivotal role. In 2024, China’s total volume of
goods import and export reached RMB43.85 trillion, with a
year-on-year increase of 5.0%, while the total volume of service
import and export reached RMB7.5 trillion, with a year-on-year
increase of 14.4%. In 2024, China’s export reached RMB25.45
trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.1%; imports
amounted to RMB18.39 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 2.3%; and the trade surplus reached RMB7.06
trillion, expanding by 22.2% year-on-year. Overall, the strong
growth in net exports of China’s trade in goods and service in
2024 contributed 30.3% to China’s economic growth, driving
GDP growth by 1.5 percentage points, making a significant
contribution to the annual economic growth target. Due to
anticipated changes in the external trade environment, such
as the U.S. imposing tariffs on multiple countries, the booming
year-end holiday consumption overseas and the year-end
acceleration of exports, driving China’s export growth to the
highest.
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In 2024, China introduced multiple policies to stabilize foreign
trade, with cross-border e-commerce, as one of the key
channels for foreign trade, supporting by several policies.
In June 2024, the Opinions on Expanding Cross-Border
E-commerce Export and Promoting the Construction of
Overseas Warehouses (B8 1\ ¥ & 5 3% E 5 1 O # # 8§ H)
EEEZNE R)) were issued, followed by the Opinions on
Strengthening the Synergy Between Commerce and Finance to
Further Support the High-Quality Development of Cross-Border
Trade and Investment ({EAR M@ BN mBRE R HE
XHEBERESNKRESEEHERMNER)) in July, and the
Several Policies and Measures to Promote the Steady Growth
of Foreign Trade (KR IREN BB EL RN E THEE
) in November. These policies have continuously driven the
development of cross-border e-commerce. According to the
initial statistics from the General Administration of Customs, the
total volume of cross-border e-commerce import and export
in China reached RMB2.63 trillion in 2024, with a year-on-year
increase of 10.8%, accounting for 6% of the total volume
of import and export. In terms of growth rate, cross-border
e-commerce growth has not only outpaced the overall foreign
trade growth but also showed an accelerating pace. In terms
of trend, there has been a new operating mechanism since
2024 which is a semi-hosting model runs between full hosting
and self-operation models. The semi-hosting model allows
merchants to operate independently while the e-commerce
platform only handles warehousing and logistics. This model
provides merchants with greater operational flexibility while
lowering the barriers to entering overseas markets, making the
semi-hosting model a new trend in cross-border e-commerce
platforms. As the semi-hosting model is being widely embraced
by market participants, the overseas warehouse sector
has flourished, driven by increasing demand for overseas
warehouses. Additionally, with the continuous evolution
of Al technology, its application scenarios in cross-border
e-commerce and overseas warehousing have become
increasingly extensive. Al technology is no longer limited to
simple tool-based applications but is playing a significant role in
intelligent decision-making, market trend prediction, as well as
other fields, thereby improving operational efficiency and user
experience and comprehensively driving the development of
cross-border e-commerce and overseas warehouse sectors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group believes that recent changes in tariff policies
by certain countries targeting China may disrupt the trade
environment in the short run and may affect the fulfillment
processes of the cross-border e-commerce and overseas
warehousing sectors. These changes in tariff policies do
not solely affect cross-border e-commerce but also affect
traditional foreign trade, and given that e-commerce sellers
have established certain brand premium through the pre-sale
stocking model and the semi-hosting model, the Group
considers the disruptions to the cross-border e-commerce
and overseas warehousing sectors to be limited. In the
long term, these changes may send the concerned trading
partner’s inflation higher. At the same time, with the further
implementation of domestic supportive policies, the increasing
adoption of the semi-hosting model, and the continuous
advancement of Al technology, the cross-border e-commerce
and overseas warehousing sectors are expected to maintain
strong growth. There is enormous market potential for logistics
solutions of pre-sale stocking model, which indicates a trend
towards scale development and an increasing degree of
automation. The Group will actively capitalize on industry
development trends, enhance the fulfillment capabilities of its
overseas warehousing network through technological innovation
and refined operations, and thus contribute to the growth of the
cross-border e-commerce and overseas warehousing sectors.
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The Group believes that the following competitive advantages
have contributed to our success and distinguished us from
our competitors: 1) By establishing an open SaaS platform,
the Group has revamped the EDA Cloud platform with a
comprehensive range of digital supply management tools,
consolidated real-time data of multiple angles, improved
user experience, automation of order processing, and data
synchronization to optimize the operational efficiency of the
platform; 2) the Group established an extensive global logistics
network and warehousing of pre-sale stock network system,
boosting the business capabilities and increasing a wide
selections for customer, through deep connections with various
enterprise participants in the B2C export e-commerce value
chain; 3) through the continuous optimization of the customer
structure, the Group has gradually deepened its collaboration
with brand customers and integrated manufacturing-trade
customers, which helps the Group achieve high-quality growth;
4) leveraging the self-developed EDA Cloud platform, the
Group has created an efficient business management process.
By addressing the multi-dimensional needs of e-commerce
vendors, such as industry characteristics, regional market
distribution, and sales channels, the Group offers customized,
globally leading artificial intelligence logistics technology
services, covering cross-border logistics, overseas warehousing
and fulfillment delivery services; 5) By virtue of its profound and
extensive industry knowledge and the operational experience
accumulated over the years, the Group has improved both
operational efficiency and quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With the rapid development of cross-border e-commerce,
overseas warehouses, as a critical infrastructure integrating
storage, fulfillment, and product return services in the “last
mile” of cross-border e-commerce, have seen a surge in
demand. This trend is driving accelerated global deployment
and more extensive coverage. In order to seize the potential
growth opportunities in the industry, the Group will continue
to increase our profitability through the following measures in
the next phase: 1) continuing to expand the Group’s overseas
warehouses network and global logistics network, increase
business scale and market share; 2) continuously improving
the SaaS platform, enhancing its commercialization and the
intelligence of the EDA Cloud platform, thereby improving
the efficiency of cross-border supply chains, creating more
value-added services, and simultaneously strengthening the
integration of the upstream and downstream of the cross-border
e-commerce industry to build a sound and healthy business
ecosystem; 3) continuing to actively conduct business
cooperation with brand customers and industrial and trade
integrated customers, optimizing the Group’s customer structure
while enhancing the Group’s business stability and development
potential, 4) actively seeking strategic cooperation partners,
industry investment opportunities and potential high-quality
mergers and acquisitions targets to enhance business synergy,
achieve multi-dimensional business expansion and business
scale growth; 5) continuing to embrace Al technology with an
open and innovative mindset, actively exploring the application
of cutting-edge technologies such as Al, large-scale models
and warehouse robots in the cross-border e-commerce field,
to improve the Group’s intelligent operation level, achieve
continuous cost reduction and efficiency improvement and
enhance the efficiency of supply chain solutions.

The Group’s long-term strategic goal is “to become a globally
leading Al-powered logistics technology service group in the
new era”. Positioning 2025 as the foundational year, the Group
has set forth a strategic goal to achieve high growth within five
years and formulated a specific action plan up to 2030. In the
future, the Group will be continuously committed to achieving
its sustainable growth and creating outstanding value for
shareholders.

EEEFWED

HEZEEEANAERER  BINEE
REREBIRE-—RBEITFERERF &
K RERBR —BNHEREREIE -

HERLWAEEL O ARELIREE
AMEGR ERERTENEE B
EETEEEEROKE  T—BER X
SEREBEBATHEEARS MO
BMEN  DFERERAEEBIE BHK
MERYRER BARBRE =25
MIBHER:2)FENESaaSF A © 1=
=mSaaSYAEMEELIREENMSGEEFS
MEBRILCEERE  EtMERABRHERED
ME - BEEZHIBERYE  RAEER
EREBEXNLTEEE BERY
RBEMNEBER: JLEBEEGHEERE
HEFMIE-RIELEFAREBAE

BLEAKRERPAEBHNRRE BRAE
EOEXEBREUNEREN VBERS
KEBWAERHE EXREHRSME

MELHBERN UERXBKHR &
REHENEBHRMEBRENESR  5)
EEAFRAIF O R EERARIM
BRERA - KB E RS AFTA
ERMEBREMESNER  Uigm
AEBENBRILELKE  BREFEN
B A 3B RN B E WROR 7 RABKR VIR T -

AEBENRHEREREREIXNSHERE
REAEMAYREMRBER] - NEH
N—ZZE-_hEERBEZF ?mﬁ7£$

NERERENBEBEEIE  LHE T
CE-TEmARABHE - RK &

SEBEBRIIRNERIFERR R
PRREIESMEE -

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER

39



40

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEwE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
revenue of RMB1,690,081,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB480,777,000 or 39.8% as compared with
RMB1,209,304,000 in the same period last year. Revenue
generated from first-mile international freight services amounted
to RMB219,860,000 representing a year-on-year decrease of
RMB39,645,000 or 15.3% as compared with RMB259,505,000
in the same period last year. Such decrease was mainly due
to: 1) impacted by the increase in shipping container volume
and the continuous increase in the unit price of first-mile ocean
freight services, shipping revenue increased by RMB91,538,000
as compared with RMB108,364,000 in the same period
last year; 2) revenue from direct mail for small package air
transportation business decreased by RMB131,183,000 as
compared with RMB151,141,000 in the same period last
year, the Group terminated its direct mail for small package
air transportation business in March 2024. Revenue from
last-mile fulfillment services amounted to RMB1,470,221,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of RMB520,422,000 or
54.8% as compared with RMB949,799,000 in the same period
last year, which was mainly attributable to an increase in
last-mile order quantity and the continuous increase in last-mile
order prices which were affected by the prices of the local
delivery service.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R RED T
By categories of services RIE%ERE D
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
#H £2024%F12831A #H £2023%F12 318
ILtFEE IEEFEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T % ARETIT %
“First-mile” international freight  [S812 |HR & 1&

services AR 75 219,860 13.0 259,505 21.5
“Last-mile” fulfillment services [ERIBARE 1,470,221 87.0 949,799 78.5
Total st 1,690,081 100.0 1,209,304 100.0

Year ended 31 December 2024

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE0451283ALEE HE2023F12R31ALERE
Ocean Number of Ocean Number of
freight  Air freight “Last mile” freight  Airfreight  “Last mile’
Revenue volume volume orders Revenue volume volume orders
23 (B
A BEE REE EHA WA GEE ®EE FEHE

No.

RMB’000 No. of FEU Tonnes (million) ~ RMB'000  No. of FEU Tonnes  No. (million)

ARETR BEH ] (BB) AREF:R EER ] (A8)

“First-mile” intemational ~ [ER2|EREE N/A N/A

freight services B% 219860 5761 3% FER 250505 4589 1887 T@FE
“Last-mile” fulfillment N/A N/A N/A N/A

services [ERIBORYE 1,470,221 TER TER 95 949799 TER TEaHR 6.0

Total @t 1,690,081 5,761 336 9.5 1,209,304 4,589 1,887 6.0

The Group’s revenue generated from the United States,
the United Kingdom, Germany and Australia increased by
RMB474,542,000 as compared with the same period last
year, which was mainly attributable to the Group’s continuous
investment in overseas warehouses and sales channels in these
countries.
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By country

Year ended
31 December 2024

ZERE D

Year ended
31 December 2023

E £2024F12H31H H =2023F12A31H
IEEE WFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR® T % ARETIT %
United States ES 1,360,788 80.5 1,008,445 83.4
Canada mex 103,822 6.1 97,587 8.1
United Kingdom 4 88,800 5.3 41,495 3.4
Germany = 116,451 6.9 57,061 4.7
Australia SR A 28 20,220 1.2 4,716 0.4
Total @t 1,690,081 100.0 1,209,304 100.0
COST OF SALES SHERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
cost of sales of RMB1,439,086,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB426,886,000 or 42.2% as compared with
RMB1,012,200,000 for the corresponding period last year. Cost
of sales by categories of services from first-mile international
freight services amounted to RMB224,807,000, representing
a year-on-year decrease of RMB28,806,000 or 11.4% as
compared with RMB253,613,000 for the corresponding period
last year. Cost of sales from last-mile fulfillment services
amounted to RMB1,214,279,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB455,692,000 or 60.1% as compared with
RMB758,587,000 for the corresponding period last year.

By categories of services
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60.1% °
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
B £2024F12A831H # £2023F12 A31H
LHFEE IEFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR TR % AR®ETT %
“First-mile” international freight [S8 12 | BB & &

services ARk 7 224,807 15.6 253,613 251
“Last-mile” fulfilment services [ERIELRYE 1,214,279 84.4 758,587 74.9
Total Bt 1,439,086 100.0 1,012,200 100.0
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Cost of sales primarily consists of logistics costs, warehouse
operating costs, labor costs and share-based payments
expenses. Among them, logistics costs amounted to
RMB1,005,910,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB253,969,000 or 33.8% as compared with RMB751,941,000
for the corresponding period last year. Logistics costs primarily
include international transportation expenses and last-mile
delivery costs. Warehouse operating costs amounted to
RMB232,028,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB97,425,000 or 72.4% as compared with RMB134,603,000
for the corresponding period last year. Warehouse
operating costs mainly include warehouse rent, warehouse
transshipment charges, warehouse material costs, property
utilities and depreciation expenses. Labor costs amounted
to RMB200,497,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB74,841,000 or 59.6% as compared with RMB125,656,000 in
the corresponding period last year. Labour costs mainly include
salary and bonuses for overseas warehouse employees. Share-
based payments expenses were RMB651,000, and no such
expenses were incurred in the corresponding period last year.
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
gross profit of RMB250,995,000, representing a year-on-
year increase of RMB53,891,000 or 27.3% as compared with
RMB197,104,000 for the corresponding period last year. The
Group’s overall gross profit margin was 14.9% as compared to
16.3% for the corresponding period last year. The negative gross
profit margin of first-mile services was 2.3% during the year, as
compared to gross profit margin of 2.3% for the corresponding
period last year, and the negative gross profit margin of direct
mail for small package air transportation was 20.9% during
the year, as compared to gross profit margin of 0.5% for the
corresponding period last year. The gross profit margin of last-
mile services was 17.4% during the year, as compared to 20.1%
in the corresponding period last year.

The decrease in the gross profit margin of first-mile services
during the year was mainly due to the impact of continuous
increase in first-mile ocean freight rates since the second
quarter of this year, which was mainly due to: 1) the prolonged
drought in the Panama Canal, which led to the increase in
freight rates since the first quarter of this year; 2) difficulties in
navigating the European shipping route caused by the Palestine-
Israel Conflict, and a certain degree of panic in the shipping
industry; and longer shipping routes and reduced transport
capacities due to subsequent detours around the Cape of Good
Hope; 3) shipment in advance arranged by some sellers due
to the above situations, resulting in an early peak season and
higher freight rates; and 4) more losses on the small package air
transportation business during the year, mainly due to significant
penalties imposed by counterparties.

The gross profit margin of last-mile services during the year
was 17.4%, as compared to 20.1% for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in the gross profit margin of last-
mile services was mainly due to: 1) the Group’s newly opened
overseas warehouses in the second half of the year, which
usually need ramp up time to reach profitability, led to the
decline in gross profit margin when the rental cost was fixed; 2)
the increase in the unit price of overseas orders, the labor costs
of overseas warehouses and rent.
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By categories of services
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Year ended
31 December 2024

|7

Year ended
31 December 2023

B £2024F12A31H & £2023%12HA31H
LHFE IEFE
Gross
profit Gross profit
RMB’000 margin RMB’000 margin
AR%T R EFE ARBTT EXES
“First-mile” international freight  [F81E |ER &8
Services R % (4,947) (2.3%) 5,892 2.3%
“Last-mile” fulfillment services (12 1B X AR %5 255,942 17.4% 191,212 20.1%
Total ®Et 250,995 14.9% 197,104 16.3%
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS BEXATHR&E

For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group incurred a
capital expenditure of RMB12,845,000 (2023: RMB1,462,000) for
the purchase of shelves and forklifts for overseas warehouses,
a capital expenditure of RMB691,427,000 (2023: nil) for
new leases of some warehouses and offices and a capital
expenditure of RMB21,989,000 (2023: nil) for the purchase of an
overseas warehouse in Indonesia. There is no significant capital
commitments outstanding not provided for as at 31 December
2023 and 2024.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group continued to adopt prudent financial policies.
Finance, fund utilisation and fund raising activities of the
Group are subject to effective centralised management and
supervision. The Group keeps reasonable gearing level and
adequate liquidity.

At the end of the Review Period, the Group had total debts (i.e.
borrowings and lease liabilities) of RMB879,986,000, of which
13.5% and 0.02% of the borrowings were denominated in RMB
and Canadian dollar respectively. The effective interest rates
of the Group’s bank borrowings range from 2.84% to 4.5% per
annum, and the maturity terms are within one year. As at the
end of the Review Period, the Group’s Gearing Ratio was at a
healthy level of 20%.
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The Group’s total equity increased from RMB324,044,000 as
at 31 December 2023 to RMB596,211,000 as at 31 December
2024; the Group’s current assets and current liabilities as at 31
December 2024 were RMB652,226,000 and RMB423,874,000
respectively; and the Group’s Current Ratio decreased from 1.6
as at 31 December 2023 to 1.5 as at 31 December 2024.

The Board believes that the Group will continue to generate
positive cash flows from its operations. With cash and bank
deposits, including restricted cash, of RMB310,045,000 as well
as unutilised banking facilities, the Board considers that the
Group has sufficient working capital for its operation and future
development.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged deposits of
RMB14,164,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the Review Period, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at the end of the Review Period, the Group had a total of 367
employees, including directors of the Company, and most of
them are based in the PRC. Total employee benefits expenses
(excluding Directors’ emoluments) and Directors’ emoluments
for the year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately
RMB261,735,000 (2023: RMB172,312,000) and RMB54,558,000
(2023: RMB3,882,000) respectively. The Group ensures that the
remuneration packages for employees are determined based
on their work performance, professional abilities and industry
practices. Discretionary year-end bonuses and share incentives
may be granted to employees based on their individual
performance. The Company adopted the pre-IPO share option
scheme, post-IPO share option scheme, pre-IPO RSU plan,
post-IPO RSU plan and share award plan to award eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group.
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INVESTMENT IN OVERSEAS WAREHOUSES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leased 11
new properties as overseas warehouses, which are located
in the United States, Canada, Germany, the United Kingdom
and Australia respectively, with an increase in total area of
approximately 200,000 square meters.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

As at the end of the Review Period, the Group had short-term
financial investments of approximately RMB52,713,000, which is
a fund financial product. During the Review Period, the Group
recognised unrealised income at fair value of RMB2,395,000
and realised investment income of RMB2,660,000.

The funds and wealth management products which the Group
purchased during the Review Period were all issued by banks
and financial institutions in Hong Kong, and mainly included
money market fund and guaranteed structured notes with
non-guaranteed expected return rates ranging from 0.2% to
4.8% per annum and with maturity within one year. The funds
purchased during the Review Period did not guarantee the
return of principals upon maturity. During the Review Period,
the Group preserved all its invested capital in these funds and
wealth management products and did not encounter any default
by the issuing banks or financial institutions. The Group’s
investments had not been pledged to secure its borrowings as
at 31 December 2024,

Before making investment decisions, the Group prudently
conducted research on the market and the information of
potential investees, and prudently adjusted its investment
strategies to minimize the impact of market fluctuations on the
Group when necessary.

The Directors consider that the terms of the funds and wealth
management products purchased during the Review Period
are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms or better
in the ordinary course of business of the Group, and are in the
interests of the company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Any purchase and redemption of our investments in funds and
wealth management products shall be reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer of the Group or its subsidiaries.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT BEARE

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant Bk E X AT TE &S - REIEHBE KX K
investment with a value of 5% or more of its total assets at the S BT EFM(GHEALEES%KIA LR E
end of the Review Period. KIE&E -

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS BERRBRHEEE
Save as disclosed above, we did not have any significant B EXFIEEEN > REIEBEHA - &M

investments held, nor did we make any material acquisitions and W EETEMEAKE L HEMBRAF -
disposals of subsidiaries during the Review Period.
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Set out below is the report presented by the Board together
with the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the principal subsidiaries and joint ventures
are set out in notes 1 and 18 respectively to consolidated
financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, the Group’s
environmental policies can be found in the “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Corporate Governance Report”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”. This discussion forms part of the Directors’
Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A separate environmental, social and governance report will
be available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange at the same time as the publication of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 93.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKS3.5 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the “Proposed Final Dividend”) to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 5 June 2025, subject to the Shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Wednesday, 28 May 2025 (the “2025 AGM”). It
is expected that the Proposed Final Dividend will be paid on
Thursday, 19 June 2025.

Including the interim dividend of HK3.5 cents per share for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 which was paid to the
Shareholders on 31 October 2024, the total dividend for 2024
amounts to a total of HK7 cents per share, which represents
a payout ratio of 60.3% of the profit attributable to the
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

FOR DETERMINING THE ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND,
SPEAK AND VOTE AT THE 2025 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 23 May 2025 to Wednesday, 28 May 2025, both
dates inclusive, during this period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. To be eligible to attend, speak and
vote at the 2025 AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the
Company should ensure that all transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
22 May 2025.

FOR DETERMINING THE ENTITLEMENT TO THE THE
PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Thursday, 5 June 2025, both
dates inclusive, during this period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. To be eligible to receive the
Proposed Final Dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the
Company should ensure that all transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
2 June 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND PERMITTED
INDEMNITY PROVISION

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

A permitted indemnity provision for the Group’s directors and
officers was/is in force throughout the Review Period and as at
the date of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the
past five financial years, as extracted from audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on page 4. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties were RMB21,550,000. Particulars of the Group’s
properties are set out in note 14 to consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The details of the changes in the Company’s share capital
during the year are set out in note 29 to consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the pre-IPO share option scheme, post-IPO share
option scheme, pre-IPO RSU plan and post-IPO RSU plan
disclosed on pages 61 to 72, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has not entered into any equity-
linked agreement (as defined in section 6 of the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of
Hong Kong)).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
RMB232,686,000 (2023: RMB92,000,000). The amount of
RMB77,925,000 (2023: nil) represented the Company’s share
premium which may be distributable provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total revenue
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers was 33.4%
of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue from the largest
customer included therein amounted to 9.3%. The total
purchase attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was
50.3% of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to 40.6%.
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At no time during the year did the directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interests in the above-mentioned
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group’s charitable donations were
approximately RMB50,000 (2023: RMB50,000).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

Directors in office during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. LI Qin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHEUNG Man Yu
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. ZUO Manlun
Mr. LUO Jianfeng

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin

Mr. NG Cheuk Him

Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis
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Pursuant to Article 151 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin, Mr. NG Cheuk Him
and Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis are subject to retirement by
rotation at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. The biographical details of all directors are set
out on pages 8 to 11.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are recommended by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of SFO) as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:

EERRSTRAERKRG - HER
DREEENEER AR

R2024F12A318 ' KRB EERHEEST
BABRARARSEEMAH EZE(EE
RBEELBEKMEXVI) MG, B
BROKBEESEBFHEERBEEFSRBER
Bl 3521 AR ARRFERZE LML
8 SR IBIZESTAIZE BN AR R K
R RARMT

Number and capacity of shares @

RH#ERMEE
Percentage
Interests of the issued
Interest of jointly held share capital
Beneficial  corporation Other  with another of the
owner controlled interests person®) Total Company
HAAFE
ZERLE BORAMN
Name i BHERAA ER A& BRERL ag BAt
Liu Yong G 15,414,000 (L) — 152,295,000 (L)@ — 167,709,000 (L) 37.8%
Li Qin &) 13,198,000 (L)@ - - — 13,198,000 (1) 2.9%
CheungManYu — ®XF 3,314,000 ()" 10,269,000 (L)@ — 167,391,000 (L) 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
Luo Jianfeng Bk — 10,269,000 (L)" — 170,705,000 (L) 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
Zuo Manlun it — 10,269,000 (L)0 — 170,705,000 (L) 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
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The letter “l” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

Each of Mr. Zuo Manlun, Mr. Luo Jianfeng, Mr. Cheung Man Yu, Ms.
Tang Jia Jia and Mr. Qian Yu Cheng entered into an acting-in-concert
agreement with Samanea China Holdings Limited in respect of their
interests in the Company. Please refer to the Prospectus for details.

Mr. Liu Yong is granted share options under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for 9,248,000 shares and RSUs under
the Pre-IPO RSU Plan to subscribe for 6,166,000 shares.

These Shares are held by EDA Shine International Limited, which
is owned as to 1% by Edaurora Holdings Limited and as to 99.0%
by Skyline Investment International Limited. Skyline Investment
International Limited is wholly owned by Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong
Kong) Limited, which is the trustee of the Liu Yong Trust, of which
the settlor is Mr. Liu Yong and the beneficiaries are Mr. Liu Yong
and Edaurora Holdings Limited. Edaurora Holdings Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Liu Yong, an executive director, the chairman of our
board and a controlling shareholder of the Company. Sovereign
Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited is a professional trust company and
an Independent Third Party of our Group. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited, Skyline Investment
International, Edaurora Holdings Limited and Mr. Liu Yong is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which EDA Shine International
Limited is interested.

Ms. Li Qin is granted share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme to subscribe for 7,919,000 shares and RSUs under the
Pre-IPO RSU Plan to subscribe for 5,279,000 shares.

Mr. Cheung Man Yu is granted share options under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 1,989,000 shares and RSUs
under the Pre-IPO RSU Plan to subscribe for 1,325,000 shares.

I

(@)

(b)
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FRILEZALTRZEEENITA -
Limfmits BEBLEE RXFEE -
EEELXLRBETERLESEAERMME
XA B H) #E %5 B2 Samanea China Holdings
Limited s M2 — B T8 % - S 15F 2R
RER -

ERERBERLCHEENBRES
T X 35 AR BE LA SR 859,248,000k Bk 17 K 4R
BERD SRR RS A% () B 5 B
B2 WA ) 8 7 LA SR #56,166,000/% Ak

T/'\ ®

ZE AR A {5 BEDA Shine International
Limited ¥ B ° #% 2 8] % 7l B Skyline
Investment International Limited # B99%
¥ Edaurora Holdings Limited # H1% °
Skyline Investment International Limited
M Liu Yong Trust (R Z 5t A B B B %
£ kX @m AR E% 4 K Edaurora
Holdings Limited) # & 3 A Sovereign
Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited & # &
& ¥ 4 ° Edaurora Holdings Limited B #
MR TEE EEFEETRLAEEE
R AR R B B 5L &£ 2 & ¥ HB - Sovereign

Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited * &% %
ERAERARAEEB 2 BYE=7 - RE

#F 5 Kk H E 1% % - Sovereign Fiduciaries
(Hong Kong) Limited * Skyline Investment
International + Edaurora Holdings Limited
K BB % &% B8 %R B K EDA Shine
International Limited # & 1 %5 &9 A% 15 =
B -

TYHLLIRBEE RN AR ESHIERETS
T IR B IS HE A 52 B8 7,919,000 % A% 10 M AR 1
BRARABEEIZREIRGELEER
2 PR i % 19 BE i LA R B 5,279,000 8% A% 17 ©

R F AR E G IR AR SRR E T
B 7 1% B8 A% RE ] 3R B81,989,0000% A% 19 LA
&tﬁféﬁ@&ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁuXKE%\JHXP““&%
B 7 5% BRI AR 15 B4z 7] 33 81,325,000 %
B o

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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(99  Comprises 10,269,000 Shares held by LittleBear Investment Limited.
LittleBear Investment Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI
and is wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Man Yu, an executive director of
the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Cheung Man Yu is deemed to
be interested in the Shares in which LittleBear Investment Limited is
interested.

(h)  Comprises 10,269,000 Shares held by Dawnhill Group Limited.
Dawnhill Group Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI and is
wholly owned by Mr. Luo Jianfeng, a non-executive director of the
Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Luo Jianfeng is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Dawnhill Group Limited is interested.

(i) Comprises 10,269,000 Shares held by Zhan Hua Limited. Zhan Hua
Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly owned by
Mr. Zuo Manlun, a non-executive director of the Company. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Zuo Manlun is deemed to be interested in the Shares
in which Zhan Hua Limited is interested.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
SHAREHOLDERS PURSUANT TO SFO

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
a director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

(@ B FELittleBear Investment Limited # A &)
10,269,0000% % 7 ° LittleBear Investment
Limited /& — & 72 25 & Bz 2 BF & 1 Bl 32 &9
ANAEl BARRHITEZTRNFLEEEE
HE BEIHERBERA  RXFirAE
% 18 B A LittleBear Investment Limited #
ERENROPHEEEZ -

(hy & #& Dawnhill Group Limited # A& £
10,269,000f% % 19 ° Dawnhill Group
Limited R — MR BE ZH Sk Z
WAR BARRIFENTESTERZELE
2EHE REZBHFRBEKG  BEE
P A 1R A R Dawnhill Group Limited # &
BERBROPEEER -

() B ¥ Zhan Hua Limited ¥ & #10,269,000
f% B 15 ° Zhan Hua Limited 2 —BE & B
BLBESHFMKRIAH AR AAABIEH
TEELERREE2EEE REBHER
B - ZmimEERR AR Zhan Hua
Limited E B R MO P HEREZE

RER R BERGIEMRREOE DS
KRR

R2024F12 8318 » IR AR IR 1) 2k 48 78
B HERBEES K EKP 5E336
1§78 F 17 B 1) & 50 it /b 0 5% A0 42 25 5004
EWAT(RRAEERERTHABRIN
wmr

Percentage of

Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held® of the Company

FRENERT HEALRASHIT

REREB g7 ZERHA@ BRANE D

Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Trustee 152,295,000 (L)® 34.3%

Limited EFEA
Edaurora Holdings Limited Beneficiary of a trust 152,295,000 (L)® 34.3%
X @A

Skyline Investment International Interests in a controlled 152,295,000 (L)® 34.3%

Limited corporation

XA E gD
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Number of
issued ordinary

Percentage of
the issued
share capital

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held@ of the Company
FRENERT HEALRASHT
REREB g7 ZERHA@ BRAWE D
EDA Shine International Limited Beneficial owner 152,295,000 (L)® 34.3%
EaEAA
LS DiDi Network Technology Limited Beneficial owner 27,660,000 (L)@ 6.2%
(“LS DIDi”) ExEAA
ARHHEEERBERAR(HEE
1 5 1)
Samanea China Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 105,501,000 (L)@ 23.8%
(“Samanea’) EanEEA
Interest in a controlled 27,660,000 (L)© 6.2%
corporation
XEEEER
Interests held jointly with 47,818,000 (L)@ 10.8%
another person
BE-—ALRIFHERER
Subtotal 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
NEE
EDASEEZERER A

R MEFFR
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Number of
issued ordinary

Percentage of
the issued
share capital

Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held@ of the Company
FRENERT HEALRASHT
REREB g7 ZERHA@ RAKNE
Lesso Home International Holdings Interest in a controlled 180,974,000 (L)@ 40.8 %
Limited corporation
BRBRHRERZERBER QA XEEEE R
China Lesso Group Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled 180,974,000 (L)@ 40.8 %
FEBEEEZERERAA corporation
XEEEER
Mr. Wong Luen Hei Interest in a controlled 180,974,000 (L)© 40.8 %
"HELE corporation
XEEEE R
Ms. Zuo Xiaoping Interest of spouse 180,974,000 (L) 40.8 %
TESL+ o B R 2
Zhan Hua Limited Beneficial owner 10,269,000 (L)® 2.3%
EmBEBA
Dawnhill Group Limited Beneficial owner 10,269,000 (L)® 2.3%
BEmBEBA
LittleBear Investment Limited Beneficial owner 10,269,000 (L)® 2.3%
EmBEBA
QCJJ Group Limited Beneficial owner 6,846,000 (L)0 1.5%
BEmBEBA
Ms. Tang Jia Jia Interest in a controlled 6,846,000 (L)» 1.5%

BEELL
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Percentage of

Number of the issued
issued ordinary share capital
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held@ of the Company
RENERT GEXRASHT
BRRE® 4] EEREABW BRAWE D
Interests held jointly with 174,128,000 (L)@ 39.3%
another person
HE-ARRFHAER
Subtotal 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
NEE
QCZC Group Limited Interests held jointly with 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
another person
HE-AHXRBHAEER
QCBM Group Limited Beneficial owner 6,846,000 (L)0 1.5%
ExEBA
Mr. Qian Yu Cheng Interest in a controlled 6,846,000 (L)® 1.5%
BEELE corporation
REEEER
Interests held jointly with 174,128,000 (L)@ 39.3%
another person
HE—AHXRFHAEER
Subtotal 180,974,000 (L) 40.8%
NEE
Note: M FE -
(@)  The letter “I” denotes the person’s long position in such securities. (@) FEILIIEZATIRZEEEFNTR -

(b)  These shares relate to the same block of shares in the Company (b)) ZEBRHEEELIXEENESTHRASR

as those set out in note (d) in the section headed “Directors’ and REHD - AR REESHERZR R AR
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying —EM Q)T ARAT R —# RO ER -

Shares and Debentures” above.

(c) LS DiDi is owned as to 70% by Samanea. By virtue of the SFO, (©) 48 1% 1 7 fg SamaneaE B70% #E 25 - BB

Samanea is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which LS DiDi BEERHEEH - Samanealf 18 AR E M
is interested. HREEAESORDPHEEER -

(d)  Each of Mr. Zuo Manlun, Mr. Luo Jianfeng, Mr. Cheung Man Yu, Ms.  (d) ZAmfait4E BRELE  FXFhE -

Tang Jia Jia and Mr. Qian Yu Cheng entered into an acting-in-concert EEELTESEEEREERAaRMMER

agreement with Samanea in respect of their interests in the Company. NFIHE B Samaneas] Y — B ITEN % o

Please refer to the Prospectus for details. HEE2BRERE
EDASEZIRER AT

R MEFFR
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Samanea is wholly owned by Lesso Home International Holdings
Limited. Lesso Home International Holdings Limited is wholly owned
by China Lesso Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Wong Luen Hei and his
spouse, Ms. Zuo Xiaoping, are the controlling shareholders of China
Lesso Group Holdings Limited. By virtue of the SFO, each of Lesso
Home International Holdings Limited, China Lesso Group Holdings
Limited, Mr. Wong Luen Hei and Ms. Zuo Xiaoping is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Samanea is interested.

These Shares relate to the same block of Shares in the Company
as those set out in note (i) in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above.

These Shares relate to the same block of Shares in the Company
as those set out in note (h) in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above.

These Shares relate to the same block of Shares in the Company
as those set out in note (g) in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above.

QCJJ Group Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI and is
wholly owned by Ms. Tang Jia Jia, a director of four subsidiaries
of Samanea, namely LS DiDi, Guangdong Qicheng Information
Technology Co., Ltd, Guangzhou LS DiDi Technology Co., Ltd and
Treasure Pathway Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Tang Jia Jia is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which QCJJ Group Limited
is interested. QCZC Group Limited is a company incorporated in the
BVI and is wholly owned by Ms. Tang Jia Jia. By virtue of the SFO,
QCZC Group Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Ms. Tang Jia Jia is interested.

QCBM Group Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI and is
wholly owned by Mr. Qian Yu Cheng, a director of each of LS DiDi
and Guangdong Qicheng Information Technology Co., Ltd, both of
which are subsidiaries of Samanea. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Qian
Yu Cheng is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which QCBM
Group Limited is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the directors
of the Company were not aware of any person or corporation
(other than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares) during the Review Period.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 May 2024, a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was adopted.

1.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide an incentive for Eligible Participants and to reward
their performance with rights which permit a Grantee to
subscribe for Shares in our Company in accordance with
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Options,”
each an “Option”) and to own our Company in proportion
with their contribution to our Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries.

PARTICIPANTS AND THE BASIS OF DETERMINING
THE ELIGIBILITY OF THE PARTICIPANTS

The Board of our Company may, at any time before
the Listing Date, subject to and in accordance with the
provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules, at its discretion grant Options to any full-time
employees, consultants, executives or officers (including
executive, Non-executive and Independent Non-executive
Directors) of our Company or any of its subsidiaries who, in
the absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or will
contribute to our Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

Pre-IPO Share Option for an aggregate of 31,212,000
shares, representing 7.05% of the issued share capital
of the Company have been granted to (a) 3 directors; (b)
1 member of our senior management and (c) 28 other
grantees, totaling 32 grantees on 14 May 2024. No option
shall be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on or after the Listing Date, although provisions of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will in all other respects
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme prior to
the Listing Date, and options granted prior thereto but not
yet exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

BB
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MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Pre-IPO Share Option granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed
31,212,000 Shares, representing 7.05% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

VESTING PERIOD

Any option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme to any grantee who is not a Director may be
exercisable at any time prior to the expiry of two (2) months
from the following dates: (i) 25% of the total number of
Shares under the options granted to such grantee can be
exercised from the Listing Date; (ii) 25% of the total number
of Shares under the options granted to such grantee can
be exercised from the date immediately after the first
anniversary of the Listing Date; (i) 25% of the total number
of shares under the options granted to such grantee can
be exercised from the date immediately after the second
anniversary of the Listing Date; and (iv) 25% of the total
number of Shares under the options granted to such
grantee can be exercised from the date immediately after
the third anniversary of the Listing Date.

Any option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme to any grantee who is a Director may be
exercisable at any time prior to the expiry of two (2) years
from the following date: 100% of the total number of
Shares under the Options granted to such Grantee can be
exercised from 180 days after the Listing Date.
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Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding AR &% 1F2024F12 A3IHE X A EE
share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme RIEERET S TR EN KRITHFEERED

as at 31 December 2024: BEE
No. of Shares
involved in
No. of Shares Granted outstanding
involved in after the Share
outstanding ~ Listing Date Vested  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Options
share options ~ andduring  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
asatthe  the Review Review Review Review Review 31 December Exercise
Name/Category of grantees  Date of grant Listing Date Period Period Period Period Period 2024 Price
120045
WEFRE  LTAE4 12A31A
AEERE  RWEES  REEE  WEEER  REER  MERE AGRRRE
RRARS /B RHRE fERAHA R&H RER niE M RxN FIRRER fEE
Liu Yong May 14, 2024 9,248,000 - - - - - 9,248,000 Lower of () 33% of HK$2.28
83 4E SRR (the “Offer Price’) and
(Chaiman of the Board and (il 33% of the closing
executie Director) price of the shares ong
(EZ21E#1E2) business day immediately
preceding the date of
EXeICise
(| HKS2.28 (1% = ]330
RiZE RS-
EXARRMMMEN
iz
LiQin May 14, 2024 7,919,000 - - - - - 7919000 Lower of () 3% of the Offer
5y 4% 5A14R Price and (i) 33% of
(Executive Director and chief the closing price of the
execufive officey) shares one business day
BrEEFTHE) immediately preceding
the date of exercise
() EERMINRIBETR
DN A2 2 ARG
HEMa BEE
Cheung Man Yu May 14, 2024 1,989,000 - - - - - 1,989,000 Lower of (i 33% of the Offer
X5 4E 5A148 Price and (i) 33% of
(Executive Director, chief financial ihe closing price of the
offcer and company secretary) shares one business day
HIEE HEEER immedliatey preceing
AL the date of exercise
(| BEBMINRMZETE
REH-EEXRRHK
RN BEE
EDAKEZRER AR

—s-mEFg 09
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No. of Shares
involved in
No. of Shares Granted outstanding
involved in after the Share
outstanding Listing Date Vested  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Options
share options ~ andduring  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe during the as at
asatthe  the Review Review Review Review Review 31 December Exercise
Name/Category of grantees  Date of grant Listing Date Period Period Period Period Period 2024 Price
Ho0uE
REFRE  LTREE 12831A
AEERE  RMWEES  REEE  WEEE  REER  MERE AGRRRE
ARARS/EH RERE FYRHYE AR nER kit ni# nEN FYROER fRE
Li Hongjun May 14, 2024 1,266,000 - 314,000 314,0002 - - 942,000 33% of the Offer Price upon
BuE 20045 5A14R the first vesting period;
(senior management) thereafter, 3% of the
(RRERENE) closing prce of the
shares one business day
immealately preceding
the date of exercise
ARGERRALERN
33%: A BRERA
A-EEZARRUHE
#133%
Employees May 14, 2024 10,800,000 - 2,676,500 2,676,5002 - 94,000 8,029,500 33% of the Offer Price upon
8 20045 5R14R the first vesting perioc;
(Other Grantegs) thereafter, 3% of the
(EfARA) closing prce of the
shares one business day
immealately preceding
the date of exercise
ARGERGALERN
33%: A BRERA
A-EEZARRUHE
#133%
Total 31,212,000 - 2990500 2,990,500 - 94000 28,127,500
it
Note: B 5
1. An eligible employee resigned in October 2024 resulting lapse of the 1. —HEEREBNR2024F10A B - 25
shares options. EARERA M AR -

2. The exercise price of the options exercised was HK$0.75 and the 2. E{THEHENTEERBGETEZS

weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the BHOERBEBMAZRETESEBRHNN
date on which the options were exercised during the Review Period MEFHKBREBL /L6 T -

was approximately HK$4.6.

For details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to BB X A ERERETIINFES -
Appendix IV to the Prospectus. F2HBRERMSO -
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 May 2024, a post-IPO share option scheme (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was
adopted. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for the scheme period which is of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date.

1.

PROPOSE

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is intended to provide
incentives or rewards for employees who make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring
about an increased market price of the Shares.

ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANT

Our directors may at any time within the scheme period,
at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any person
belonging to any eligible participants (Directors and
employees; directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of
our Company; and person(s) who provide services to our
Group) to take up options to subscribe for Shares.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FOR SUBSCRIPTION

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company as from the adoption date must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as of the Listing
Date. It is expected that our Company may grant options
in respect of up to 21,997,000 Shares to the eligible
participants under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of our Company in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
of our Company for the time being (“Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant must be separately approved by our
shareholders in general meeting of our Company with
such eligible participant and his close associates (or his
associates if the eligible participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

CONSIDERATION FOR THE OPTION AND THE
EXERCISE PRICE

An amount of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option and such payment shall not be refundable.
The exercise price shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to an eligible participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option.
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TIME OF EXERCISE OF OPTION AND VESTING
PERIOD

An option may be exercised at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years
from the date of grant subject to the provision of early
termination thereof. The vesting period for options shall not
be less than 12 months. In any event, the vesting period
shall commence from the date of the offer for the grant of
options is made, but shall end in any event not later than
10 years from the date of offer for the grant of the option
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during
the Review Period. The total number of shares which may
be issued on the exercise of share options granted or to
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
any other scheme is 21,997,000, representing 4.97% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report. As of the date of this report, the remaining life of
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is around 9 years and
2 months.

For details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, please
refer to Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
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PRE-IPO RSU PLAN

On 14 May 2024, the Company adopted a pre-IPO RSU plan (the
“Pre-IPO RSU Plan”). The Pre-IPO RSU Plan shall be valid and
effective for the period of 3 years commencing on the date of
adoption, after which no further awards will be granted.

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of the Pre-IPO RSU Plan is to reward the
RSU participants for their contribution to the success of
our Group, and to provide incentives to them to further
contribute to our Group and to attract suitable personnel
for further development to our Group.

2. AWARDS

An award of RSUs may include cash and non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of
non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those
Shares from the date that the Award is granted to the date
that it vests.

3. PARTICIPANT

RSU participants may include employees or directors of
the Company; employees of subsidiaries of the Company;
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents, advisers; and
any person at the Board’s discretion.

4. MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FOR GRANT

The maximum number of Shares underlying all awards
made (excluding awards that have lapsed or have been
canceled in accordance with the rules of the Pre-IPO RSU
Plan) that is 12,770,000 Shares, representing 2.88% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.
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5. DETAILS OF GRANTEES UNDER THE PRE-IPO

RSU PLAN

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had granted an
aggregate of 12,770,000 RSUs to 3 grantees under the
Pre-IPO RSU Plan and no more awards will be granted

under the Pre-IPO RSU Plan after the listing.

6. VESTING PERIOD

The 12,770,000 RSUs shall be fully vested by 180 days
after the Listing Date. The 12,770,000 RSUs were vested

immediately on the 180th days after Listing Date.

For details of the Pre-IPO RSU Plan, please refer to
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding
RSUs granted under the Pre-IPO RSU Plan as at 31 December

5.
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(Granted after
the Listing Cancelled Lapsed
Consideration Date and Outstanding during during  Qutstanding as at
Name/Category Paid for during the as at the the Review the Review 31 December
of grantees Date of grant the Grant  Review Period Listing Date Period Period 2024
ITAB4R REWRE REESAA REBER  R204E1R3A
RRARS/ BN RHRE REAARE  REBEARY HATR i 5% HAfR
Liu Yong May 14, 2024 il Nil 6,166,000 - - 6,166,000
tE NUESR14R Z z
(Chairman of the Board and executive
Director)
(BEE81ERH11E5)
LiQin May 14, 2024 i Ni 5,279,000 - - 5,219,000
3 AR z z
(Execuive Director and chief executive
offcer)
#rEFRTHES)
Cheung Man Yu May 14, 2024 Ni Nil 1,325,000 - - 1,325,000
kxF 04E5F 1A z z
(Executive Director, chvef fnancial offcer
and company secretary)
HTEE HREERITHE)
Totl Ni 12,770,000 - - 12,770,000
CE z
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POST-IPO RSU PLAN

On 14 May 2024, a post-IPO RSU plan (the “Post-IPO RSU
Plan”) was adopted. The Post-IPO RSU Plan shall be valid and
effective for 10 years from the adoption date, after which period
no further Post-IPO awards shall be granted or accepted.

1. PURPOSE

The Post-IPO RSU Plan is (i) to recognize the contributions
by the grantees and to give incentives thereto to retain
them for the continual operation and development of our
Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of our Group.

2. ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANT

The eligible participants may include any employee, related
entity, or service provider, who are selected by the Board
or the Remuneration Committee at its discretion (“Selected
Person(s)”).

3. PLAN LIMIT

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants
made pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Plan (excluding
Post-IPO Awards that have lapsed or been canceled in
accordance with the rules of the same Scheme) and all
other share schemes as adopted by our Company from
time to time shall exceed 21,997,000 Shares, representing
4.97% of the number of issued Shares of the Company.

4. VESTING PERIOD

The vesting period shall not be less than 12 months and
the award may be subject to a shorter vesting period at the
discretion of the Board or the Remuneration Committee. If
the grantee fails to execute the required documents within
7 days after receiving the vesting notice, the vested shares
will lapse.

5. RESTRICTIONS ON GRANTS

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded
to any one Selected Person under the Post-IPO RSU Plan
may not exceed 1% of the issued Share of the Company,
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taking into account of the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted to such
grantee under all share schemes adopted by the Company
in aggregate in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of relevant grant (the “Individual Limit”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has not identified any
grantee or granted any restricted shares to any grantee pursuant
to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. As of the date of this report, the
remaining life of the Post-IPO RSU Plan is around 9 years and 2
months.

For details of the Post-IPO RSU Plan, please refer to Appendix
IV to the Prospectus.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

On 14 February 2025 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company’s
board of directors approved the adoption of a share award plan
(the “Plan”).

1. PURPOSE

The purposes of the Plan are to recognise and reward the
contribution of eligible participants (including employee
participants, related entity participants and service provider
participant) to the growth and development of the Group
and to give incentives to the eligible participants in order
to retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

2. DURATION

The Plan shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years
and may be terminated earlier as determined by the Board.

3. ADMINISTRATION

On 14 February 2025, the Company entered into the Trust
Deed with CMB WING LUNG (TRUSTEE) LIMITED (the
“Trustee”).
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SHARES POOL

In order to satisfy any award to be granted under the Plan
from time to time, the Trustee shall maintain a shares pool.

AWARD OF SHARES

Subject to and in accordance with the Plan, the Listing
Rules and all applicable laws, the Board shall be entitled,
at any time on any Business Day during the scheme
period, to grant an Award out of the Shares Pool to any
Eligible Participant, as the Board may in its absolute
discretion select.

VESTING OF THE AWARDED SHARES

In any event, the Awards granted under the Plan shall
be held for not less than 12 months before being vested
on the Eligible Participant, unless there are specific
circumstances for such shorter vesting period which can
be provided for in accordance with the Listing Rules.

PLAN LIMIT

Under the Plan and any other schemes of the Company,
the maximum number of awarded shares which may
be awarded by the Board must not exceed 44,293,050
Shares, representing 10% of the number of issued shares
of the Company as at the date of this report, of which
4,429,305 Shares, representing 1% of the number of issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report for the
awards granted to the service provider participants (the
“Service Provider Sublimit”). The total number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of all awards granted to
each eligible participant (excluding any awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Plan) in any period of 12
months period up to and including the date of such grant
shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the issued shares of
the Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit”).

Since the Adoption Date of the Plan and up to the date of
this report, no shares have been awarded under the Plan.
Subject to any early termination as determined by the
Board pursuant to the Plan, the remaining life of the Plan is
around 9 years and 10 months, after the expiry of which no
further awards under the Plan may be made. For details,
please refer to the announcement made by the Company
on 17 February 2025. Capitalised terms used herein shall
have the same meaning as defined in the announcement
dated 17 February 2025.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director of the Company or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company and
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with him had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Each of EDA Shine International Limited (owned as to
1.0% by Edaurora Holdings Limited and as to 99.0% by
Skyline Investment International Limited), Skyline Investment
International Limited (wholly owned by Sovereign Fiduciaries
(Hong Kong) Limited, which is the trustee of the Liu Yong Trust,
of which the settlor is Mr. Liu Yong and the beneficiaries are
Mr. Liu Yong and Edaurora Holdings Limited (wholly owned by
Mr. Liu Yong)), Edaurora Holdings Limited and Mr. Liu Yong,
our executive Director and the chairman of the board of the
Company, is regarded as the controlling shareholders of the
Company, and is interested in approximately 34.3% of our total
number of the issued shares of the Company.
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The members of the Lesso Consortium are interested in
approximately 40.1% of our total number of the issued shares of
the Company. Because each member of the Lesso Consortium
is acting in concert with each other, they are together entitled to
exercise and control the voting power in the general meetings
of the Company attached to these shares, and are collectively
regarded as the controlling shareholders of the Company.

Each of the controlling shareholders of the Company has
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 17 May 2024 in
favour of the Group (the “Deed of Non-Competition”).

As at the date of this report, none of the directors or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or
may compete with the business of the Group. The directors
are of the view that the Group’s measures adopted by the
Company in respect of the Deed of Non-Competition are
sufficient to safeguard the effectiveness of the non-competition
undertakings.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition. Based on the
confirmation from each of the controlling shareholder, the
independent non-executive directors are of the view that the
Deed of Non-Competition has been complied with and has been
effectively enforced.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Following the date of the Company’s interim report up to the
date of this report, there has been no change to the information
of the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 28 May 2024.
The net proceeds from the Global Offering was approximately
HK$161.3 million, which will be utilized for the purposes as set
out in the Prospectus. The following table shows a summary of
the intended use of the net proceeds and the utilization as at 31
December 2024:

Percentage of
IPO proceeds
to be utilized as
disclosed in the

Net proceeds
received
and expected

Utilization as at

Intended use of 31 December
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Expected time

net proceeds Prospectus to utilize 2024 2024 of use
HZ20245F HZz2024%
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% HKS$ millions HK$ millions HK$ millions
BEAT BEATL BEATL
Enhance our global logistics 62% 100.0 60.0 40.0  On or before 31 May
network though our 2027
unique asset-light model 20275313,
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Optimize our operational 16% 25.8 3.4 22.4  On or before 31 May
efficiency through 2027
improving our intelligent R2027F5H31H 3%
systems Z Al
BERRRGABLES
Attract new customers and 16% 25.8 3.2 22.6 On or before 31 May

maintain relationships
with core customers

RelFEPRGFHEZLE
P B R

2027
R2027F5A31H 5
2Bl
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Percentage of

IPO proceeds Net proceeds

Remaining

to be utilized as received Utilization as at balance as at
Intended use of disclosed in the and expected 31 December 31 December Expected time
net proceeds Prospectus to utilize 2024 2024 of use
HZ204F HZ204F
RRERFEE FMENEFHEYL 12A31H 12A31A
FEREREREAR AHBALY BHBANSEHE cEReE M RADARE
% HK$ millions HK$ millions HK$ millions
BEAT BEAT BEAT
General working capital 6% 9.7 9.7 —  On or before 31 May
~REEES 20271
R202745A318 3
Z Al
Total 100% 161.3 76.3 85.0
@t
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, certain of the related
party transactions as disclosed in note 33 to consolidated
financial statements also constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the
Listing Rules and satisfied relevant disclosure requirements
thereof.

PARTIALLY-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, as previously disclosed in the Prospectus, was
subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements but exempt from independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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On 14 May 2024, the Company (for ourselves and on behalf of
our other subsidiaries) entered into a cross-border logistics and
warehouse framework agreement (the “Cross-border Logistics
and Warehouse Framework Agreement”) with China Lesso
Group Holdings Limited (the “Lesso”), pursuant to which, the
Group will provide cross-border logistics and warehousing
services to Lesso, including but not limited to cross-border
logistics services from the PRC, to Europe and America, as
well as overseas warehousing services of the transported
goods in Europe and America (the “Cross-border Logistics
and Warehousing Services”). The transactions under the
Cross-border Logistics and Warehouse Framework Agreement
will be negotiated by the relevant entities of our Group and
Lesso, and the Cross-border Logistics and Warehousing
Services to be provided will be made on terms no more
favorable terms to Lesso than those to independent third
parties.

The type of goods transported under the Cross-border Logistics
and Warehouse Framework Agreement will mostly include
building materials produced by Lesso.

The initial term of the Cross-border Logistics and Warehouse
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing Date to 31
March 2027, subject to renewal upon the mutual consent of
both parties.

Lesso is one of our Controlling Shareholders and is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Cross-border Logistics and Warehouse Framework Agreement
constitute a continuing connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The service fees to be paid by Lesso under the Cross-border
Logistics and Warehouse Framework Agreement shall be
determined on arm’s length basis and on normal commercial
terms in the ordinary and usual course of business of our
Group, with reference to, among others, (i) the prevailing market
rates of similar warehouses located in the vicinity in respect
of the warehousing services; and (ii) the price offered by other
cross-border logistics services provider for similar services.
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The maximum annual amounts payable to us under the
Cross-border Logistics and Warehouse Framework Agreement
for each of FY2024, FY2025 and FY2026 will not exceed
RMB3.2 million, RMB3.5 million and RMB3.9 million,
respectively. Total consideration paid for the Review Period by
the Group was RMB2,863,000.

The Company has followed the pricing policies and guidelines
when determining the price and terms of the connected
transactions during the year. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors have, for the purpose
of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the continuing
connected transaction and have confirmed that the continuing
connected transaction has been entered into by the Group (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the terms of
the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Auditor of the Company has also confirmed that nothing
has come to the Auditor’s attention that causes it to believe that
the continuing connected transaction (a) has not been approved
by the Board; (b) was not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group; (c) was not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing such transaction; and (d) has exceeded the caps as
aforesaid.

The Company’s Auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transaction in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor
has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The details of the related party transactions are set out in note
33 to consolidated financial statements.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information obtained by the
Company and to the best knowledge of the directors, as at
the date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float required under in the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young have been the auditor of the Company since the
Listing Date.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2025 AGM to re-appoint
Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REVIEW PERIOD
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 7 January 2025, PT Flexlogis Investment Indonesia
and Flexlogis Private Limited (the “Purchasers”), each an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Samanea Logistics (Asia) 01 Private Limited and Samanea
Logistics Partner Limited (the “Vendors”) entered into the
conditional agreement for sale and purchase (the “Sale and
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Purchasers
have conditionally agreed to acquire and the Vendors have
conditionally agreed to the sale, transfer, and assignment
of all shares legally owned by Samanea Logistics (Asia) 01
Private Limited (“Vendor 1”) and Samanea Logistics Partner
Limited (“Vendor 2”) with the consideration of approximately
Rp13,659,044,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB6,179,146),
representing 100% of the total issued shares of PT Samanea
Logistics Property (the “Target Company”). As at 7 January
2025, the Target Company is owned as to 99% by Vendor 1
and 1% by Vendor 2. Upon completion of the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital of the Target Company by the
Purchasers pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the
“Acquisition”), the Target Company will become an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial
result of the Target Company will be consolidated into the
financial statement of the Company. As part of the Acquisition,
the Vendors and the Purchasers have agreed that the Target
Company shall continue to assume the relevant debt in the
amount of Rp54,966,785,897 (equivalent to approximately
RMB24,866,149) owed by the Target Company to the Vendors,
which is interest-free and shall be payable by the Target
Company within six months after completion of Acquisition.
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As at 7 January 2025, China Lesso Group Holdings Limited
(“Lesso”) is a controlling shareholder of the Group. Each of
Vendor 1 and Vendor 2 is indirectly wholly owned by Lesso, and
is therefore each an associate of Lesso and a connected person
of the Company. Hence, the Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

This investment could not only strengthen the Group’s global
warehouse house network directly but also position the
Company to better prepare for future logistics warehousing
property investment to better meet the increasing demand
of the Indonesian market, ultimately driving growth and
competitiveness in the region.

For details, please refer to the announcement made by the
Company on 7 January 2025.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION

On 23 January 2025 (U.S. time), EDA International, Inc. (the
“Tenant”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the
Company and EDA Cloud International, Inc. (a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) (as the lease guarantors) entered
into the lease agreement with THOMSON LOGISTICS ASSETS
LLC (the “Landlord”) in relation to the tenancy of the premises
located in Houston, Texas, the U.S. (the “Premises”).

Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, the lease term
is 65 full months from 1 February 2025 and the rent payable
shall consist of the base rent and additional rent. The aggregate
amount of the base rent covering the whole lease term under
the lease agreement (exclusive of tax) is approximately US$10.8
million (equivalent to approximately RMB77.7 million). The rent
payable under the lease agreement has been determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the Landlord and the Tenant,
after taking into consideration the prevailing market price for
comparable premises in the vicinity of the Premises. The rent
payable is satisfied by the Group’s internal resources.

For details, please refer to the announcement made by the
Company on 24 January 2025.
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ADOPTION OF SHARE AWARD PLAN

The details of the share award plan are set out on pages 71 to
72.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION

On 27 February 2025, Yinshan Investment (an indirectly wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Xizheng Fund entered
into the Fund Partnership Agreement for the establishment and
management of the Funds with initial proposed aggregate size
of RMB200 million in the coming three years. The proposed
capital commitment of the Group is not more than RMB100
million, representing not more than 50% of the total committed
capital contribution of the Funds.

The Funds will principally invest in companies in their early or
mid-cycle engaging in the cross-border e-commerce innovation
industries. The Funds may also invest in overseas warehousing
facilities and project companies with strategic locations and
efficient operation capabilities, with special attention to Al
technology and smart warehousing sectors.

For details, please refer to the announcement made by the
Company on 28 February 2025.

Li Qin
Chief Executive and Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BY R ENRE

EY::

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of EDA Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of EDA
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

HEELZER

HREXEN(F)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNELNABRABRELRSE

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

EZRUREANENFESRRE

At 31 December 2024, the Group had trade
receivables of RMB197.4 million, net of provision
for impairment of RMB16.8 million, accounted
for 11.6% of the total assets.

M202412H31H - EHXENE S EWKIEA
RARBIO7T4ABE T B RERBARE
16.8B &L HEEREN11.6% °

The assessment of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was considered to be a
matter of most significance as it required the
application of judgement and use of subjective
assumptions by management.

HRE SRR EREREN T EETEE
WHE R TERER BUHERARSEESFHE -

According to HKFRS 9 requirement, the Group
should apply an expected credit losses (“ECLSs”)
model to measure the provision for impairment
of trade receivables. Management was required
to make significant estimates and assumptions
in calculating the ECLs, such as the credit risk
characteristics and loss patterns, historical
observed default rates, forward-looking
information, and other parameters used in the
model.

BEEBEMBERSENFIRR T EEH
EERABEHEEBR(EBHEEBENKRAG
EESRWRENRERE EEELEAER
HEEEERAELERGEGFRRER - flE
ERBEFHELBEREX ELBERENE A
EUEBENUAREXMANEMSE -
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Our audit procedures included among others:

BHMEZRERFEFE(EFeR)

(i)

(i

(il

Evaluated and tested the effectiveness of the design
and implementation of key controls relating to trade
receivables collection and impairment assessment;
A1 381 5 B B 5 e W SR B W [B] K2R (B AT (d B B EY
BB SR AT R ITR B AL

Obtained trade receivables ageing report from
management and perform ageing testing on the
report;

BEERENSEZRURENRERSE - 1 HZ®R
HEITRE RS

Re-calculated the provision matrix of ECLs to ensure
mathematic accuracy;
EFAERPEERRNBEEER  UERHPH
B EMEE:



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEZEXER
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HREXEN(F)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNEBELNMNBERERERSE

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Cont’d)

EZRUREANABEEGRRE(A)

The accounting policies, estimation uncertainty
and disclosures of the impairment of trade
receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3, and
21 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
EREZRERRFEREN ST EE B T8
EUERBEESRNE NG BHREOMT24 -
B TES K Bt 5k 21 o

(iv)

Evaluated the assumptions used by management in
the ECL model by:
BRATHAFGEREERPEEBHEEN TR
fE A RER

reviewing the credit terms and historical
payment patterns of different categories of
customers to assess the reasonableness of
grouping of customer segments with similar
loss patterns;
EZHTRERNEFNEEGRRRE L AFER
N AEERUEBEREANER S AR &
BN

examining the underlying data used in the
model by checking the corresponding ageing
and historical repayment records on a sampling
basis; and

R E LSRR N E R IE RN
RN R P EAEREE &

assessing management’s consideration of
forward-looking adjustment information when
determining expected credit losses, including
the use of macroeconomic information and the
judgement of adjustments; and

A EEECEE TR GERBRRHATE T
REGEENEZEE  BRZBELBEGENEAR
A EE Y &

Assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure
of the allowance for impairment of trade receivables
and the related credit risk.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBRakHMEERRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I F /&

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% AR T AR T
REVENUE A 5 1,690,081 1,209,304
Cost of sales 8B K AR (1,439,086) (1,012,200)
Gross profit £ 250,995 197,104
Other income and gains = NS & 5 18,070 6,111
Selling and distribution expenses & &9 85 X (13,885) (11,473)
Administrative expenses THHX (114,677) (60,909)
Research and development HEMRAX
expenses (32,265) (33,327)
Impairment losses on financial and € & & & %8 E KR E
contract assets, net B 18 55 7 (14,517) (2,515)
Other expenses Hap (5,475) (3,883)
Finance costs B & B A 6 (22,231) (10,452)
Share of results of an associate i — R ERRIFEE - (232)
Share of results of a joint venture  EH— A E D EELE 11 =
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B A F) 7 66,026 80,424
Income tax expense FrigfiMx 10 (18,958) (11,021)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ 3 FI 8 47,068 69,403
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBRBEREMEERKER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I FZ

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 2 AR¥ TR AR T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 47,068 69,403
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hih 2 EH WK &=
INCOME
ltems to be reclassified to profit or ~ H & K E#H 5 48
loss in subsequent periods: EEEMIEER:
Exchange differences on MEBINEBESE
translation of foreign B M X, = 58
operations 390 248
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE R E RS
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 390 248
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FR2EKBLAE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 47,458 69,651
Profit attributable to: LATTA TSR -
Owners of the parent NGIEZZ=DN 47,068 69,403
Total comprehensive income for UNTATEEFREZE
the year attributable to: W e 4258
Owners of the parent UNSIE DN 47,458 69,651
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARAEBEEREE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ANEEBRER
ORDINARY EQUITY OWNERS
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic AR
— For profit for the year — FAFHE RMBO0.12 RMB0.20
AR®o012T AR®0.207T
Diluted g
— For profit for the year — FRME RMBO.11 N/A
AR¥0117T i@ A
EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRER

31 December 2024 2024412 31H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
2024 20234
12A31H 12 H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3% AR T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BENEE 13 14,033 5,382
Investment properties "EYE 14 21,550 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 735,965 107,743
Goodwill G 16 76,443 76,443
Other intangible assets EMEREE 17 51,310 58,640
Investments in a joint venture R—HEEELENKE 18 45,461 —
Deferred tax assets RIEFIRE E 19 11,053 8,013
Other financial assets EtemEE 24 5,000 =
Other non-current assets HM3ERBEE 20 92,285 =
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 1,053,100 256,221
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 EINGRIE 21 197,366 142,431
Contract assets AMEE 22 - 268
Prepayments, deposits and other AT FXIE « & K
receivables H b e W18 23 92,102 58,652
Other financial assets EtemEE 24 52,713 =
Cash and bank deposits Be RIRITER 25 310,045 221,427
Total current assets RBEEME 652,226 422,778
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables 2 5 RIA 26 148,261 127,875
Other payables and accruals HMERIE R
fEEtIE R 27 58,860 35,614
Borrowings RN 28 118,938 52,324
Lease liabilities MEAE 15 85,176 34,724
Tax payable FE A B 18 12,639 5,849
Total current liabilities RBBEEARE 423,874 256,386
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETHE 228,352 166,392

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position — —
e B RRE

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
20245 20234
128318 12 A318
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETT ARETIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBARS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,281,452 422,613
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 675,872 89,675
Borrowings &% 28 - 98
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIEAR 19 9,369 8,796
Total non-current liabilities ERBaERE 685,241 98,569
Net assets BEFE 596,211 324,044
EQUITY R
Share capital % 29 31,493 15
Reserves it 31 564,718 324,029
Total equity = B R 596,211 324,044
Liu Yong Cheung Man Yu
g R X F
Director Director
BE BE
EDASEIZERERDF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERRBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I F /&

Statutory Share  Exchange
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve* profits* equity
EE BRE EX
kx  RGEE ANEE EARE RHER R HBERE REAE  EEEE
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AR%Tn ARMTR ARETR ARETR AR%Tn AR%Tn ARET:R
(note 29)  (note 29) (note 31(b)) (note 31(c) (note 31(d)  (note 30) (note 31(e))
(Hsoo)  (WaFoo) (W&E31() (W&E31(c) (M)  (WE30) (KE31(e)
At 1 January 2024 202451418 15 - M) 214,130 12,070 - (470) 98,310 324,044
Profit for the year R - - - - - - - 47,068 47,068
Other comprehensive income A2EkE:
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation BEENEBEEN
of foreign operations ERZE - - - - - - 390 - 390
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ A2 EUZEE - - - - - - 300 47,068 47,458
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to REERDREE(ERA
initial public offering (IP0’) REEDETLAR 6,04 195,794 - - - - - - 202,7%
Capitalisation issue ER(LER 24,323 (24,323) - - - - - - -
Share issue expenses L - (22,405) - - - - - - (22,405)
Appropriation of retained profits REHBAIE - - - - 7,090 - - (7,090) -
Dividend recognised as distributions to EAESRTEBAN
owners (note 11) T8 (HrE1) - - - (14,075) - - - - (14,075)
Recognition of equity-settled share option B ER £ E 4
expense BRER - - - - - 56,381 - - 56,381
Exercise of share options EERE 214 5,605 - - - (3,836) - - 2,073
At 31 December 2024 H2024F 128318 31,493 154,761 M) 200,055 19,160 52,545 (80) 138,288 596,211

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBEX

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H i F /&

Statutory  Exchange

Share Share Merger Capital surplus  fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium* reserve” reserve” reserve” reserve’ profits® equity
iR B

kR ROEE AHEE  EFEE REER RBERE RENE  BR4E
RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETT ARETr ARETR
(note 29) (note 29)  (note 31(b)  (note 31(c)  (note 31(d))  (note 31(e))
(Wioo)  (Watoo) (Wtat)  (Kaidwe)  (W&ESI0)  (Mit3ie)

At 1 January 2023 R2023%1A1A 15 - (1) 192,130 3,863 (718) 37,114 232,398
Profit for the year ERFIE - - - - - - 69,403 69,403
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMRENRE:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign REENEBELY
operations ERER - - - - - 248 - 248
Total comprehensive income for the year EMEENELE - - - - - 28 69,403 69,651
Deemed capital contributions by way of discharge of NERER-LREAED
liability cue to a sharenolder FARELE - - - 25,000 = = = 25,000
Capital injection HE - 20,000 - - - - - 20,000
Appropriation of retained profits RENENE - - - - 8,207 - 8.207) =
Dividend recognised as distributions to owners (note 1)~ BR A EFEEAR
T8 (Hs11) - (20,000) - (3,000 - - = 23,000)
At 31 December 2023 RA02BEI2A31R 15 - ) 214130 12070 Wy w30 30408

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERE R B 1 R2024F12A31H

RMB564,718,000 (2023: RMB324,029,000) in the consolidated MM BRAKXRAEEEREEA
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024. R #564,718,0007T (2023F: A R #

324,029,0007T) °

EDARMEEERAT o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I F /&

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3E AR®B TR AR T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHIBRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B B4 B 66,026 80,424
Adjustments for: AT SIEELHAE
Interest income ) B WA 5 (3,155) (1,017)
Finance costs B & B A 6 22,231 10,452
Share of results of an associate JEh — A B & R &)
¥ - 232
Share of results of a joint venture B —REAE L
E (11) —
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE BEK
property, plant and equipment HREEEBE 7 14 1
Fair value changes of financial EARnBEGTAESR
assets at fair value through WEeMEEAN
profit or loss EEE 7 (5,055) 42)
Gain on disposal of an associate & — M E QA
I == 7 - (779)
Depreciation of property, plant M- BEREE
and equipment meE 7 4,100 3,590
Depreciation of right-of-use CHREEENE
assets 7 67,519 33,971
Amortisation of other intangible EMEREEEH
assets 7 7,330 7,330
Impairment of trade receivables, 2 5 MW SR IE B EF
net £ 7 14,524 2,508
Impairment of contract assets, BERNEEREBEFRE
net 7 (7) 7
Share-based payments expenses VA RS 17 2 FE R 0 1 3Kk
X 30 56,381 —
229,897 136,677
Increase in trade receivables 5 MU FR E I N (71,601) (74,826)
Decrease/(increase) in contract BREERL,/ (G M)
assets 275 (275)
Increase in prepayments, deposits FEfTFIE - 4 &
and other receivables H Ath R W SRR 38 0 (58,165) (21,912)
Increase in trade payables B 5 M R IE LN 21,829 71,849
Increase in other payables and H Ath fE 5 518 K FE AT
accruals T8 B 0 16,820 7,269
Cash generated from operations 2BEMSE® 139,055 118,782
Interest received BT B 3,155 781
Income tax paid =ENIIECE (13,812) (13,774)
Net cash flows from operating KEEBSERS
activities Dioh-=E = 128,398 105,789

9 EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows — —
n _\éiﬁn %ﬁ%%
Year ended 31 December 2024 # Z20244F 12 A31H i F/E

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B E AR T AREET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING R EEEBFMESHRESARE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BELKHE
plant and equipment BB (12,845) (1,462)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  WE K& F&
property, plant and equipment HBFT1SKIE 10 29
Purchases of investment properties & 5 & 4 ¥ 2% (21,989) —
Purchase of financial assets at fair B E & QA A BE T A
value through profit or loss EalmEamEE (477,668) (19,932)
Advance payment for equity f&% #E 15 & TR FRIB
investments (73,757) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial H&&E A B ETA
assets at fair value through profit ExNeREEMS
or loss I8 425,671 22932
Additions to a joint venture mM—EAe&ahREEE (45,450) =
Proceeds from disposal of an HE — R B A A
associate Fr {5 3k 18 - 12,000
Increase in loans to directors, ETES EER
employees and third parties F= R E LM - (19,593)
Decrease in loans to directors, KT£EE EER
employees and third parties FE=ZTWNERRD - 45,562
Interest received from financial BARBEFAEBZH
assets at fair value through profit CRMEEMSHE
or loss - 103
Net cash flows (used in)/from wEZE(FTA),
investing activities FIisRemE 358 (206,028) 39,639
CASH FLOWS FROM METDMESRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New borrowings T AR 32(b) 141,000 76,291
Repayment of borrowings EHEEX 32(b) (74,142) (65,760)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary BTERBATERE
shares 29 202,735 —
Share issue expenses BHmETHS (16,085) .
Capital injection from the EERRIE
immediate shareholder - 20,000
Dividends paid to the owners of KA FARRE B A
the Company % 8 - (23,000)
Decrease in amounts due to related  J& 1 B8 B 75 B R
parties 32(b) - (2,621)
Other interest paid 2 A E At 7 2 32(b) (2,445) (1,632)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEgHEaE 32(b) (79,090) (40,741)
Dividends paid B’ E (9,200) =
Increase in restricted cash 2 PR I IR & 12 10 (14,164) —
Proceed from issuance of shares TR AR 31T
upon exercise of share options & 17 BT 15 %R 30(a) 2,073 =
Net cash flows from/(used in) BmEEHHGE(FTR)
financing activities REMEFHE (150,682) (37,463)
EDAKEZERER AT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n _\éiﬁaﬁ‘;ﬁ%%

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I F /&

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5 ARE T ARET T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReREEZEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 28 73,052 107,965
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNReRAEEEY
beginning of the year 221,009 112,056
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHTETR
changes, net 1,726 988
CASH AND CASH FRAERRAEEEY
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
THE YEAR 295,787 221,009
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERREEEBEYHER
OF CASH AND CASH o
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be MIBITER 25 295,881 211,427
Time deposit FHITF 25 - 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents as iR & B AR 2R B A
stated in the consolidated BehkIREEEY
statement of financial position 25 295,881 221,427
Bank overdrafts RITEX 28 (94) (418)
Cash and cash equivalents as HEBRERERMY
stated in the consolidated BehkReEEY
statements of cash flows 295,787 221,009

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. KFREKEEH
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in ARAlB—HEARASHSTMK
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the SHABERRA AR A G
Company is P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, = & i 4 & P.O.Box 31119 Grand
802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Pavilion * Hibiscus Way * 802 West
Islands. Bay Road ' Grand Cayman * KY1-
1205,Cayman Islands °
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of AEBEFZENEREEERNBREE
first-mile international freight services and last-mile RERERBAORS  B8FEA/LLR
fulfilment services, including overseas warehousing, other FREAMHEBEEN2HEERHE
value-added services and deliveries for the cross-border SN HMIEERERIKX -
e-commerce participants based in Chinese Mainland.
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding BEERB  ARRHNHEKRERRAA
company of the Company is China Lesso Group Holdings AERASEEFMRYIREE L
Limited (“China Lesso”), which was incorporated in the MHFEEBEEERERAR(F
Cayman Islands and is listed in Hong Kong. BB ) o
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES BRAFAFTBHEH
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KRB FRABIMNFBEOT
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered share equity attributable
Company name and business capital to the Company Principle activities
HREL/ BRTLE/
NGES BRRERLE it R & FAEEEREIL TEEH
Direct Indirect
BE &
EDA CLOUD Company Limited Hong Kong Renminbi 100% — Investment holding
(FEEERDA) (“RMB")100
HEZARDA Bk N4 100% - REER
TAR%])1007m
Global Logistics Services Limited Hong Kong United 100% —  Investment holding
BHRDRREER L) Stated dollar
(US$")1,000
BRENRREERAA &b 1,000% 7T 100% - REZR
(EF)
EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Cont’d)

Company name

LAER

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
EREL/
BEREXEH

Issued ordinary/
registered share

capital
BROTEE/
BRIPES

LFIREKEEH ()

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

RARAEERERDL
Direct Indirect

E& A&

Principle activities

IEXRH

EDA CLOUD Technologies Co., Ltd.#
(RITHEERRERAR)

AT HEENRERAA

EDA (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Service
Co., Ltd.* (Formerly as “Shenzhen
Haolian Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd") (BEE(RII)
BRAR - AR RIITE

EEBRAR)

PEZ(RINEEEREER
(MRBIRIH B R E 2

al)

Shenzhen Yunge Technology Co., Ltd.*
(RADEAHBERAR)

AT EMRRERAE]

EDA Cloud Technology (Anji) Co., Ltd.*
(PEEMR(ZE)ERDA)
HEERR(ZE)BRATA

EDA Cloud Technology (Ezhou) Co.,
Ltd (BEERK(BMH)ERAA)
SEEREFMNT)ERARA

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

The People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC")/
Chinese Mainland

PEARLMN
([HE)/HERM

PRC/Chinese Mainland

BE /R E R

PRC/Chinese Mainland

BE /R E R

PRC/Chinese Mainland

mE /BN

PRC/Chinese Mainland

mE/REN

RMBS6,310,535
N
56,310,5357

RMB5,000,000

N
5,000,0007C
RMBS5,000,000

N
55,000,0007C

US$100,000

100,000% 7T

US$10,000,000

10,000,000% T

100%

= 100%

- 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

S 100%

= 100%

Provision of logistics
and warehousing
services

REDRRERRE

Provision of logistics
and warehousing
services

RENTRR RS

Provision of IT services
and internet solution

RALITAR S 2 B B A iR
RAR

Provision of IT services
and internet solution

REITREREHAER
AAR

Provision of IT services
and internet solution

RETRY R EHAR
AR



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R SRR R M
31 December 2024 2024125314
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. LFRKEEH &)
(Cont’d)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered share equity attributable
Company name and business capital to the Company Principle activities
EREL/ BRAEER/
NAER BEREXEH dfRx  AAREEEZEIL 0 FEXRH
Direct Indirect
EE E:3

Yinshan Investment (Shenzhen) Ltd.* PRC/Chinese Mainland ~ RMB20,000,000
(i%?ﬁﬁ(i%ﬂ\\)ﬁ ’)

100%  Investment

BERE(RINER e/ RE R ARE - 100% K&
20,000,0007T
Shenzhen Epin Technology Co.,Ltd* PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
(RITAHREERAA) warehousing services
RN A REBERRA B/ ER M ARE - 100% BREMRR A RS
5,000,0007C
Flexlogis International Holding Singapore USS1 - 100%  Investment holding
Private Limited
Flexlogis International Holding A MK (P - 100% REZK
Private Limited
FLEXLOGIS PRIVATE LIMITED Singapore US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
FLEXLOGIS PRIVATE LIMITED 3% 1% - 100% RERR
PT Flexlogis Investment Indonesia Indonesia Indonesian - 100%  Property investment
Rupiah
(IDR)
10,001,000,000
PT Flexlogis Investment Indonesia 0 10,001,000,000 = 100% WEERE
HERBETE
([ENfEL)
EDA DEVELOPMENT (HK) LIMITED Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar S 100%  Provision of logistics and
(PE=EZRAB)BRLA) (‘HKS”) 625,000 warehousing services
FEEER(ER)BRAA BB 625,000/ T - 100%  RREMIR R 8 RS
(&)
EDAKEZRERA T

“ECMEER
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Cont’d)

LFIREKEEH ()

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered share equity attributable
Company name and business capital to the Company Principle activities
EREL/ BRAEER/
NAER BEREXEH dfkx  AAREEEZESL 00 FEXRH
Direct Indirect
EE E:3
8987947 CANADA INC. Canada Canadian dollar - 100%  Provision of logistics and
(“CAD") 100 warehousing services
8987947 GANADA INC. JIEYN 100ME AT - 100% REDRRE ERS
(Mnzcl)
EDA Cloud Canada Inc. Canada CAD100 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA Cloud Canada Inc. mex 10010 7T - 100% RENDTREGERE
EDA AU PTY LTD Australia Australian dollar - 100%  Provision of logistics and
("AUD") 100 warehousing services
EDA AU PTY LTD RANE 100 AMZE 7T - 100% REDRRE RS
(p:-y )
EDA CLOUD UK LTD The United Kingdom Great Britain S 100%  Provision of logistics and
pound warehousing services
("GBP")100
EDA CLOUD UK LTD i 100£ - 100% REWDRRE RS
(&)
EDA INTERNATIONAL, INC. The United States US$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA INTERNATIONAL ' INC. X 1,000,000% 7T - 100%  RREMIR R B GRS
EDA CLOUD INTERNATIONAL, INC. The United States US$100,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA CLOUD INTERNATIONAL * INC. ELE 100,000% ¢ = 100% BREMRRE RS
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

LFIREKEEH ()

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered share equity attributable
Company name and business capital to the Company Principle activities
EREL/ BRAEER/
NAER BEREXEH dfRx  AAREEEZEIL 0 FEXRH
Direct Indirect
EE E:3
EDA Development Inc. The United States US$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA Development Inc. ZH 1,000,000% 1T - 100% RENDTREERS
EDA Sav Inc. The United States US$100,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
(Formerly as “EDA inGA Inc.’) warehousing services
FDA Sav Inc. (BIf8[EDAINGA Inc.))  *& 100,000% 7T - 100% REWRRE RS
EDA International ATL Inc. The United States US$10,000 - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA International ATL Inc. * 10,000% T - 100% RENTREHERS
EDA Cloud GmbH Germany EURO (“EUR") - 100%  Provision of logistics and
100,000 warehousing services
EDA Cloud GmbH feg 100,0008( 1T - 100% REDRRE ERS
(Bt )
EDA TX Inc. The United States S - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA TX Inc. e - - 100% REDRRE ERE
EDA CHl Inc. The United States — - 100%  Provision of logistics and
warehousing services
EDA CHI Inc. % - = 100% REDRRE RS
& The English names of all group companies registered in the

PRC represent the best efforts made by the directors of the
Company to translate the Chinese names of these companies
as they do not have official English names.

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

eV RRME

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for other financial assets and
investment properties, which have been measured at
fair value. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

241

BB R
WmBlEE

ZEVBBRRDIBREBFTBSAMA
e((EE MG BEMNEL
BBREERSHLEY(BEMER
AUMBHEER - FEGHER(E
BEFERDRRE) REFE AR K
Plmsl - rEMEREENIREDY
XEBEANEBEFE)IN  HRESL
RAEPIRE - =B REAI - %
EGRAVMBHRRAARKED - A7
EHEONEERRONTAH -

mAEREE

RAVNBBRRBEARTARETFA
AR BIAREE] & £2024F128
SIHIEFENBBRE - FARIE
SARNEEIEELEFHNEE(B
BEBMEERE)  WASBEE BN
WIREREBMEZA KBRS K
WEFHAEO R BEERNITE
EWRETNENTZERFBROR -
Bl RSB B A % E Ay H (B
RERTFAEBEERKE H BB
SEERBE D) ©

—RmME FEZEEREETKIE
R HETE o MARFEENWE
B RERSBLUERNDRKZE
AIFEARRREHRRESTESR
AR AEESEEMAREBS
ERER - BE:

(@) BEERETHMREEEAA
MAa®mT



2.1

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.2

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

period’s financial information.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of these revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current period has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The
Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become
effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability.: Disclosures?

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2.3

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability!
Annual Improvements to HKFRS ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1,

Accounting Standards HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
- Volume 11 and HKAS 72

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

e Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards upon initial application. HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the statement
of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required.
The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements. Except
for this, the Group considers that other new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards may result in changes in
accounting policies but are unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

eV RRME

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates
or joint ventures.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations other than those under common
control and goodwill

Business combinations not under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. EBEHEE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EXErIBR(AF)
Business combinations other than those under common FHEESHTHESSHREE
control and goodwill (Cont’d) (#&)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the EAEEKRE-—BEEXEBEK  @RIE
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate ABABE  RIWEBHNEERER
classification and designation in accordance with the REBEGE  FHEEAENSHRE
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent EXaE  UMELa@E > ERIET -
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the HRBEEREREBIEEHNT D E
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of HBRAXNPTETER o

the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the MEFZEHFIBEEREIT  KRIFEA
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its MREAWEBEHNAREBEER
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss AFE -mMEMBALEELENKESE
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive EREsEMmzER=(WER)
income, as appropriate. HRHER ©

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the WEABEZENEMNIARERK
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition BRHHZALEBERR DERE
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or EXEENHIARERBEAAEE
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value WEHUAAAEBETE  URER
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that PR 7EAEGNIARER
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent HEFE  HEBEHERERZIAR -

settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of HMEBVBEKAGE  IEE@ER
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount B FEBRERNEERSERAR
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value EEARNFAENBEBEIRENT
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the A AREEBEE - 67U EE &5
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities BEERFAZEBREZEMNERE © i
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items EHEREHAEMIBENAMERFET
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the WEEEFENAIABE EBE=
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or EREFTHEREBESTERAZR
loss as a gain on bargain purchase. BEEWKE -
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Business combinations other than those under common
control and goodwill (Cont’d)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. ErBK(HE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EXERIBR(HE)
Fair value measurement AREETE
The Group measures its financial assets at fair value AEERERERRERAALBER
through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each EERAABEFTABRGZNERE
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be EeAABEEMB2EERGTE
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in HEHET 2 AR RSP LEEBEEFRR
an orderly transaction between market participants at the WHSEBRaEMIN2EBR -
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based NREBEEFEDERBRELEEED
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset ERERENRINREEXEBENE
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal EMBET AR ARBETEMHN
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a BRAREESEENKBENMTS
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the BT - FEXZAMNTISHVEABAR
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous SEERAE BEEXBEMNAR
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of BEDERNMZLEEREEXE
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions EEEMANBR(REMELHEE
that market participants would use when pricing the asset KBRFEENRELEMNZITE)G
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 2o

economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes EeMEEAABHEZTENZRE
into account a market participant’s ability to generate ME2EENRFEAZEEZ &R
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and KEXRA ABZEEETES—F
best use or by selling it to another market participant that RZEEZERREERAZTS
would use the asset in its highest and best use. DHEAEE 2KBERE -

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate AEEFRERREBEBANGKE
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are HE - MEBRAREBHEANAE
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of B UEEFNHEBTEBERH A
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of BERRERVEATITERE A
unobservable inputs. & o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Fair value measurement (Cont’d)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is

observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
contract assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

2.4

Eat R (47)
EXErREE)
FEMEERE

HMEEHRBRETRKAETFE
HMEANAEGHNEEREZEREASR
ERNE - IEZEEMNAKRE S
BAETHEF  -BEENATRLEDESER
BESRCELENUNEREESR
EARBEROERAZEANRS
E -URBENEEET HEEBE
EYTELERAERE EBIRNEA
BEFEEMAINASRA A5
BEFMBRSELAEMEETRD
TR -GEHRSELEBEMETHE
RHR - Mg B R — R E
oB AlgBAREE (I mEEK
BINHOEREESEEMERRE
EEXEU SRS EE&RNER
WS ELBEM -

HEBBREREER@EBBER
Yool & BRI HERR o Y (E REER -
B RARRAERERAIRREERK
MEELREERERBRNIRENS
AR AERERFTERRE R
BEEREELAHANERRTHE
EREEENR —HORAERNMN



2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

2.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. EEHEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EXERIBR(HE)
Related parties (Cont’d) B (E)
or %
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (o) MWz BT & T HI [ E 4 A

conditions applies: 5

() the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBHEAEEEBER %
same group; o2 A=

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —EEBAS—EERHN
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow /NS R - 16
subsidiary of the other entity); ABE—EEBNSARF

FRAEIKBERFAA)

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBHRAEEHARR—
same third party; E-TTMAEEDLE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and ivy —EAERBAF=ZFEEN
the other entity is an associate of the third entity; EELE ME—EEE

REZE=ZFEBNBERQ
E—J .

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for (V) ZELERIUAREBHARE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or EREEENEEAY R
an entity related to the Group; AR BERE 18 18 AT 81

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (i) ZEBX@IEMH#INAL
person identified in (a); P2 s L R4

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) @()EFF#EINATHZE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BREEATENSBZE
key management personnel of the entity (or of a B(EZEBEARNE
parent of the entity); and ZERBEKE &

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it (vii) ZEBIEMBESEENE
is a part, provides key management personnel Ak B A A\ A S E kA
services to the Group or to the parent of the SENAFRHIEER
Group. BANBRT -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining
lease terms of the
leased buildings
10% to 32%

19% to 32%

19% to 32%

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture and office equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. BEBR(AE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EXEBEHE)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Cont’d) NE BERKEBEARINE (&)
An item of property, plant and equipment including any ME- - BMERZREER(BRE&VE
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon R EMEZE ) SR TEH
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected EEARBAHFERAIOEESRIKL
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or B SRR IEER REERKLE
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset BROFERNEaEANLERE
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales BEEENEMNKEEE HEH
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset. BEEMEEMSRBFEERERERR

BEHERE o

Investment properties REWE
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings BEMERFHERDESKAR
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income FEAAEN LT REF(BEERA
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are BEE)EZ - ZSEMEVBRIZKAK
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. (BEXGHA)GE - Ry ER
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are B EYWEERZRBFEHRT N
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the RAREBEALRE-

end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values REMERABEEIMEENR
of investment properties are included in the statement of EREEAFEFABRR

profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an BEIHEREDENTANRAER
investment property are recognised in the statement of HEIHEFEEBERRER o

profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) BREE(BERM

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on BERNENERNEERVIZERE
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets BREAGE - EBETPBANE
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the FEERARBKERMNAAEHE -
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are BEEEMNAERAEHABRRER
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets IER - EREFHNBRTLEER
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful BIRAFERALEFHEE YRAE
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there DEERZEREENRERRE
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. FETRERGH ERTAFERF
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for M B EEN SRR REHEA
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at FEELEREMBFEERER

least at each financial year end.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Cont’d)

Technology and customer relationship are stated at
cost less any impairment loss and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 10
years.

Research and development expenses

All research expenses are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
technologies is capitalised and deferred only when
the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the project and the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

2.
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Warehouses and offices 16 months to 15 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(o)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2. ERtER(HE)

24 EXERBEE)

HE (&)

AEBEERABNAE)

(o)

HERE

REEMRBES HERER
REEHAELNEENTD
BETAER HENKEHE
TEMNK(BEEETERA)
R AE {7 7H & 5% B FE U SRR - B
R E B A Rey ] & E S
A K T8 B AR 1% R 61 (B B 2 R
XN EE - HENKTERE
AEBSEEETEMNBEER
BENTEEREHEN B
AEBITRALHE R ERERS
BERRIEHEEMNE R - I
RINIEBE RN KR 2l & HE
KA IR A8 B R F A IR
HEHRAER R X -

RABHENKHNRER - B
REERESFMEAZEE K
SEEREEMKASMIZE
fERMEHE -RRABAHZ
 HEREBESBAAEMNRBR
MEWER YTERXNEE
MR 2 o g oh - i R AE
RCHEMEAEMERE HEH
KB P& E (a0 A 45 23k A
REPHEYRKBEENKERR
ER)ABEAREENERE
AfEHIRES  HEARENK
HEREENTE -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER

121



122

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of some
warehousing units in a building (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease term and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL’).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of the profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into

account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —

equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —

amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —

ECLs
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Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

2. BEBR(HE)

2.4 EXEHBEF)
ETREEREGE
— L (&)

AEERR  BEEAMKABIOX
R eMEEEN AWM &EFT
BRAT ERABHIIBEERHAR
KB AKAIREES BB A& B
EAMERERTEE AT 2 AR AR
NEREE  NEBE IR & — 8]
TRMEERREN -

CREEERSEAERHKE AL
fﬁim%ﬂﬁ %/RT?&W%J

\\

REBHEHKAGENEREE BH
THERBEADBAAERARGE
BE - YR—RITAFRERRBE B
RATHE ST ENE S EWKKA
BREERI -

F—BER — EFEERREmVE
wuxlﬁﬁgﬁ
mwemITHE H
BEBHZEER
2B ABEHEER
BitE

FRE — BmVERNUKRE

B R BB K&

B IEERBEN

TMEENERT

B - HEBEEBR

THEHEEEE

MEBEAE

ERERHEHE
ERRENEZ®E
ACERIZES - = =)
MIERBREN R
BE) HERER
RzHAHEER
BHEAFE

R —



2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings, and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2. BEBR(HE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 2.4 EXEBEHE)
Income tax Fir 15 %t
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income PR e A 18 KR IE T IR -
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss WIHEREBERERNIEB B AFHIR
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other TEREEER  MREMEEK
comprehensive income or directly in equity. R EERNERER -
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the BEREREHRMCSEMKELR
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the FEBRMOMREBTELE  KEEAK
taxation authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws SEREMEBERNRITRZERE
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Bl BN IBEEENRBEREDH
end of each reporting period, taking into consideration e 56 75 1 1 K = sk % ) R RS A B 2
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in NHESBEETE -

which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all ELEMBRAAGEERSHERK

temporary differences at the end of each reporting period EELBENREEERYBRS

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their MEMBEAEBECHNMESFTEE

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. REETIR I o

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable FFERABTELRUEEZBHBRAR

temporary differences, except: EBIBEE - ETIIERBRIN:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial s HUBEBAHNRZIH Y
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in THRARRGHITTES
a transaction that is not a business combination FREERBE A EEEN
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither HEXEEXBEMEEANE
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and EHBEEE TEELRERE
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible AP IR E R ER &

temporary differences; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences e HERFRAARBEATMNII
associated with investments in subsidiaries and BEHNERTERMEEZEM
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the T W R E R A B R
temporary differences can be controlled and it is AILAfE G B E R M ZF R A 78
probable that the temporary differences will not RAARRRAIgE TG HE o

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each of the reporting
period.
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2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

() First-mile international freight services

Services included in the first-mile international freight
services are mainly for transporting the customers’
goods from designated domestic locations to
overseas designated locations, which includes
other value-added services such as customs
clearance. Revenue from the provision of first-mile
international freight services is recognised over
time, using an output method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the services transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining
services promised under the contract, that best
depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of services.
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e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)
(i)  Last-mile fulfillment services

Last-mile fulfillment services include providing
one-stop logistic service from the overseas port
to the overseas destination designated by the end
consumers, which includes different steps such as
overseas warehousing, other value-added services
and deliveries. These services are requested by
customers as needed and they are not dependent
on other services that are provided by the Group.
These services do not significantly affect each
other and, therefore, are not highly interdependent
or highly interrelated. Revenue generated from all
these services would be measured and recognised
with reference to the purchase order completion
measurement, which are on the same basis as days
consumed and over time.

For both types of services, the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

2.

R BR (4F)

24 EXEBEE)

WA (&)
EEAAMA (E)
iy ERBHRYG

EBREBARE S REHKLEIN
B AE R H B 8 EH I
BV — YRR - H
BREESINERE  EMIEERS
ERZNERRFZE - &ZFRSE
DHEFPEFERHMBR I
PAEUR AR 5 B 1 3 1) B A AR
BoRERBTEREFEN
o MR AE RS EERKE
AEHEEE - FFEAERKE
R AR B R B ST
R (AERRBOEREE
LBEEREE BENER -

HRZMERIENRY  BP
A K B B LR R 3R
RAKBEEOMREHRAFN S -

L1t 25 A9 4 A

T R A T 12 1 TR B O8S 2
EER - TRRENRREEE
BHBMEZARA  ZEHEM
e SSESCEE ERES Y
ft -

H b e A

MBWAEBERME LR RFE
R MERMNXREEMIA
B T8 B AT A HI PR A S A B A (40
B S AR RKRS WATRN
BReRMEERBFENNE -



2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control
of the related services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations,
the Group’s employees participate in various defined
contribution plans and state-managed retirement benefit
plans in the countries in which the Group operates.
Payments to these plans, where the Group’s obligations
under such plans are equivalent to a defined contribution
plan, are recognised as an expense based on certain
percentages of the salaries of these employees on a
monthly basis when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Housing benefits, medical insurances and other social
insurances

PRC employees of the Group are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurance plans. The Group
contributes to these funds based on certain percentages
of the salaries of these employees on a monthly basis.
The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited to
the contribution payable in each period. Contributions to
the housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances are expensed as incurred.
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Employee benefits (Cont’d)

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”)

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period,
it will assess whether the information affects the amounts
that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period
and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions
in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such
an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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2.4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of each reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of each
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

JUDGMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Identifying performance obligations in provision of
last-mile fulfillment services

The Group provides last-mile fulfilment services from the
overseas port to the overseas destination designated by
the end consumers, which includes different steps such
as overseas warehousing, other value-added services
and deliveries. The orders are placed separately by the
customers, which means such promises by the Group are
separately identifiable. These services are requested by
customers as needed and they are not dependent on other
services that are provided by the Group. These services do
not significantly affect each other and, therefore, are not
highly interdependent or highly interrelated, because the
Group would need to fulfil its promise to these independent
services separately. Consequently, these services which
are included in last-mile fulfillment services are identified as
separate performance obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. This requires significant judgement on the tax
treatments of certain transactions and also assessment on
the probability that adequate future taxable profits will be
available for the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was RMB76,443,000.
Further details are given in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

EXErHHIER R &R (48)
PR (47)
EERBREE

EFETE IR E B T A R R R A B
# AT RE VR SH AT N B B 2 BE
R - UARE TG EE
TAEREKRHAE - TAFGBER
A R 5 R R FE A UL B R FE
HEERA BN

HEtFRE Y

RERESHAHRRBRBRE KM
HTHEMEMHEMERRIRARS
BET—BURFEHEERARE
MEREEETENAERNERARR
T e

BB E

AEBEVSFETHERSAM
WE EERBMGBTESEHED
REEABUNPEHER  BETHE
AEEZERASEEERERESELE
BAMEBRKIESREEL A
WEESEBBUREUNFTEZER
&R ERIRE - K2024%F K20234F
12A31H HENEEEAARE
76,443,000 © # — F F B #H R
BB HRERME16 ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for properties in the same location and
condition and subject to similar leases and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, management
determines the amount within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. In making its judgement, management
considers information from a variety of sources, including
(i) independent valuations; (i) current prices in an active
market for properties of a different nature, condition and
location (or subject to different leases or other contracts),
adjusted to reflect those differences; (iii) recent prices of
similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments
to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the
dates of transactions that occurred at those prices; and
(iv) discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts, and (where
possible) from external evidence such as current market
rates for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and
timing of cash flows.

Details of the judgement and assumptions involved in
determining the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties have been disclosed in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on groupings of various customers/debtors segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type and
customer type).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Cont’d)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the cross-border e-commerce sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Leases — estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
first-mile international freight services and last-mile
fulfillment services, including overseas warehousing, other
value-added services and deliveries for the cross-border
e-commerce participants based in Chinese Mainland.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.
The information reported to the directors of the Company,
who are the chief operating decision-makers, for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors of the Company
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(@) Revenue from external customers
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2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T

China s 219,860 259,505
The United States ES 1,162,160 762,530
Canada mEx 99,474 95,687
Germany = 110,047 51,485
The United Kingdom = 78,825 35,680
Australia B K F g8 19,715 4,417
1,690,081 1,209,304

The above revenue information is based on the
location of the services rendered.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B EmRME
31 December 2024 2024412 /531H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 4. #E9IEE(#)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) M= (HE)

(b) Non-current assets

(b) FRBEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

China H 180,588 65,592
The United States x 642,284 91,691
Germany = 92,189 —
Indonesia ENJE 21,550 =
The United Kingdom =<y 20,296 8,122
Canada mEx 3,439 6,353
Australia B K ) 22 258 7
960,604 171,765

TR EEEHAEEM
EwRER TEEHE B
EHRBEEERRAREBETA
BamemEE -

The above non-current assets information is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill,
deferred tax assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS AFREEEFRHEH
B E2024F12A3BLFE - B &E
KEEE—IIHLELPZZH(BERE
MEZEFHRBEHN—EHERD
HE) MW AGEAEEZKARI0%
Ak

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no revenue from
transactions with a single external customer, including
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under
common control with that customer, amounted to 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue.

H E2023F12A31H IEFE - Kk B
HE—IFRTFPRS(BIERE ME
ZEPHAZSHN—EHEENHE)
R A (h AN E B UM A B912.5% o

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from
transactions with a single external customer, including
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under
common control with that customer, contributed 12.5% to
the Group’s total revenue.

EDAEZRARA
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

WA Htilg A R 2

REVENUE A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARHFTAT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Revenue from contracts with KEEPEHHKA
customers 1,690,081 1,209,304
(a) Disaggregated revenue information @ DHFVUAEHR
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AR¥ T
Type of services RisER
First-mile international freight EEBRREERY
services 219,860 259,505
Last-mile fulfillment services 12 B 4 IR 75 1,470,221 949,799
1,690,081 1,209,304
Timing of revenue LN
recognition
Services transferred over time BE B ) 82 1% AR 7% 1,690,081 1,209,304

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Cont’d)

REVENUE (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

5. WA Rttt A Rt &2 (#F)

WA (%)

(a)

DHFBANER (&

TRINERA & 8 E AR
THVANABNMRABEHRE
ERBENETIMERNERER
WA®HE:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Revenue recognised that was FAFVEHNEED
included in contract liabilities BRI A
at the beginning of the year:
First-mile international freight SRR EE RS
services 1,444 3,278
Last-mile fulfillment services B R E 4R 6,462 7,200
7,906 10,478
Performance obligations b)) BHER

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

For first-mile international freight services including
provision of transportation from the designated
locations in Chinese Mainland to the designated
oversea locations, the performance obligation is
satisfied over time and the completion progress of
these services is therefore measured by the number
of days from the date the Group receiving the goods
from the customers to the report date over the
estimated service period. The credit terms offered to
clients are generally within 30 days from the end of
the month, can be extended up to two months, or are
settled on an advance receipt basis depending on the
relationships with the customers.

FRAAEERAOEENERM
T

REREEEREERS(BEE
AP B A e E B =8 5
EEMHHNEH)MS  BOE
FAR—BREBAEIT - Bt
ZERBGOTHEERAEE
BEPEREYMZARERS
B HI &Y 5 5T AR 75 B A By B BRET
B -REGEFNEREBS
EEAREIOEA  HKEAE
REMMEAR - RBEKT A
BE AEBBRTERETEPZERE
mE °

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Cont’d)

REVENUE (Cont’d)

(b)

Performance obligations (Cont’d)

For last-mile fulfillment services including the provision
of one-stop logistic services from the overseas port
to the overseas destination designated by the end
customers, which includes different steps such as
overseas warehousing, other value-added services
and local deliveries, the performance obligation is
satisfied over time as progress towards the days
consumed over the estimated service period. The
credit terms offered to clients are generally within 30
days from the end of the month, can be extended
up to two months, or are settled on an advance
receipt basis depending on the relationships with the
customers.

The Group has elected the practical expedient for not
to disclose the remaining performance obligations for
these types of contracts because the performance
obligation is part of a contract that has an original
expected duration of one year or less.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5. WA Rttt A R 2 (#F)

WA (%)

(b)

BHEEE)

REEBAREME  BER
HEBIMNEOERIGEREFIETE
/)8 S B B9 i B9 — ik 290 07 BR
HBEREBSINERF  HaEE
AR 7% K ANt R X R F 25
BAEEERMGFTREBAERE
RKEWEEHEETT - IBRHSA
EFPFHNEAPBEEEARE
30BN XRAERZ=MMEA -
SIEBWRTREE - BAER
THEFRPZBEME -

AEEDEEATERENED
BEZEAHBNNFBREND
BEf REARENEXERFRR
HEHR—FHXUTHAHDH

—#5 -



5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

5. WA Rttt A Rt &2 (#F)

(Cont’d)
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS Ht iy A By &
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Interest income B W A 3,155 1,017
Government grants 55 #6 B 60 172
Surcharges from customers for REBEBRENERFR
overdue balances S RINE= 1,044 351
Foreign exchange gain, net PE 5 0 = F 58 3,886 2,076
Gain on fair value changes of BEARBAEFAEBEERN
financial assets at FVPL cMEEAAEE
2 5,055 42
Gain on disposal of an associate & — B e Qe s - 779
Rebate from credit cards REERARAFN
companies R 3,051 920
Rental income el A 370 =
Others Hh 1,449 754
18,070 6,111

Government grants and subsidies mainly represent funding
received from government authorities to support certain
of the Group’s daily operating activities. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these

grants and subsidies.

BA@REMERIEARFHE
WEIMAHSBASREE TAER
EEPNES - REMPNMEY
TR ARERORIFRIRFIR o

FINANCE COSTS 6. MBERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEK AT :
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Interest expense on borrowings B F B X 2,491 1,632
Interest expense on lease HEBGENFERX
liabilities 19,740 8,820
22,231 10,452
EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BR#MEFE
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEBBR B ATFE &R (K R)
(crediting): ATEIB®ES:
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR¥ TR ARET T
Cost of provision of first-mile IRHEEREREE
international freight services AR 75 B9 B AN 224,807 253,613
Cost of provision of last-mile RIEEERBYRE
fulfillment services o) 1,214,279 758,587
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% - B K& & &
and equipment weE 13 4,100 3,590
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEEINE
assets 15(c) 67,519 33,971
Amortisation of other Hivfmp & =g
intangible assets 17 7,330 7,330
Total depreciation and TEREHAE
amortisation 78,949 44,891
Lease payments not included KA EGE
in the measurement of lease FFEMEENK
liabilities 15(c) 3,941 2,571
Auditors’ remuneration % B R BN & 1,800 86
Listing expenses WX 10,454 22,493
Employee benefit expenses* EERAMAX"
(excluding directors’ (TBEREESEk&
and chief executive’s SITBAEME
remuneration (note 8)): (P 5E8)) :
Wages and salaries TERE= 246,975 168,841
Equity-settled share option WESZEED
expense AR R 7,537 —
Pension scheme RS FHEIMHR
contributions** 7,223 3,471
261,735 172,312

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d) FRIR AR (4F)
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B E AR TR AR FT
Research and development ot 3% 5
expenses 32,265 33,327
Loss on disposal of items HEWE  BER
of property, plant and REEBEWEE
equipment 14 1
Gain on disposal of an HE—MBE QRN
associate I 2= — (779
Fair value changes of financial & QA L BEFA
assets at FVPL BEmMEemEE
DR BIEE (5,055) 42)
Impairment losses on trade Eié%fkﬂﬁ K I8 R B
receivables, net B8 H 58 21 14,524 2,508
(Reversal of impairment)/ GHEECRE
impairment losses on BE), REEE
contract assets, net F R 22 (7) 7
Foreign exchange differences, [& i, = 58 % %8
net (3,886) (2,076)

*k

During the year ended 31 December 2024, amounts of
RMB200,497,000 (2023: RMB125,656,000) of employee benefit
expenses were included in cost of provision of first-mile
international freight services and last-mile fulfillment services.

The Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce
its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2023:

Nil).

**

HZE2024F12831BI-EE - EER
A H & A R #200,497,0007T (2023
F A R #125,656,0007T) © it A 1%
HEREREERBERERBLOR
BRI AR o

& PR Wt

HFE R
&) -

tECA] R R
K& 5T &)t 3k (20234 -

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year is as follows:

EFERERREITRARH®

FAEZMEMT:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBT T

Fees B 288 =
Other emoluments: E A& -
Salaries, allowances and e MR EYETR
benefits in kind 3,737 1,719
Pension scheme contributions RIKREET B R 210 191
Share-based payments LA 0 B A TR &Y
expenses NHRAEX 48,844 —
Performance related bonuses BB 1,479 1,972
54,270 3,882
54,558 3,882

(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(A) BIAFRTES

FAENBILFATEETN®E
s U

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung PR B = 5t A
Kevin 96 —
Mr. NG Cheuk Him REHREE 96 —
Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis FRBEE 96 —
288 —

Notes:

(i) Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin, Mr. NG Cheuk Him
and Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis were appointed as
non-executive director on 18 April 2024.

(i)  There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year.

154 EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERERTTHAEME(#F)
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE (B) MITESE  FPBTEERES
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE THRAR
2024 20244
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Share-based Performance
and benefits scheme payment related Total
inkind contributions expenses bonuses remuneration
DY
Fe 2ER Bihe REBMN &x

ENEN HE 123 PELE RERA FHAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®FTn  ARWTR  AR®Txn ARB TR

Executive directors: H{TEE:

Mr. Liu Yong R 1,218 97 23,582 694 25,591

Ms. Li Qin THut+ 1,158 97 20,192 694 22,141

Mr. Cheung Man Yu RNFEE 1,041 16 5,070 91 6,218
3,417 210 48,844 1,479 53,950

Non-executive FYTEES:

directors:

Mr. Luo Jianfeng BRELE 160 - - - 160

Mr. Zuo Manlun TRRTE 160 - - - 160
3,737 210 48,844 1,479 54,270

EDAKEZERER AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

EFEREREITRARH® (&)

(B) MITEE - FINTTEERE

—
=
=

Executive directors:

Mr. Cheung Man Yu

HTES:
BERL
PRt
RXTFRE

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Luo Jianfeng

FUTES:
BRERE
ERREL

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).

THRAR(#E)
2023%F
Pension
scheme Total
contributions remuneration
BkE
HEE:S HMes
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTL
95 1,820
95 1,735
1 327
191 3,882
191 3,882
FAMBEETARESTHAER

RELRBERETLAHFHOLR

BE(2023%F : ##) -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included 3
directors and the chief executive (2023: 2 directors and the
chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

IEEREFHES

FANREE=FMEERIEIRES
E&EmiTHRAB(R023F 28 8%
EEEiTBRAR) EHFM=FBEHN
EXHF8 c BRTEARRRESZH &
BSITBAEBNEETFHNEENRFR
MEMFBRT:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits %4 2R EWEF

in kind 1,658 1,809
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 5T B 5K 103 296
Share-based payments expenses ARSI A E RN 3R X 950 =
Performance related bonuses BB 180 1,080

2,891 3,185

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FMEATHEANNFESTRIER
BITBRABNZSHMEES A S
T~

Number of employees

BEEAY
2024 2023
20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 751,000,000 7T - —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T =&
2,000,000 7T 2 3
2 3

During the year, share options were granted to a
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employee in respect of his services to the Group, further
details of which are included in the disclosures in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the
above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

RERN RFEFRFEEFTERA
ExmdMEEHASENRBEM
WERDBRE HE-TFBH
RER A B 5% MR M 30 - T B K
EDIN %%HHEA?E@%WE’EM AV
BERRLAHEE MAFEZ
Eﬁ%i&%#ﬁﬁ%ﬁé&%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ\iﬁ%
EEZNEBRSTRAERSHFME
BEMFHMEE -

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

HONG KONG PROFITS TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
Hong Kong subsidiary of the Group is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%).

PRC CORPORATE INCOME TAX

The Group’s income tax provision in respect of its
operations in Chinese Mainland has been calculated at
the statutory tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the taxable
profits during the year, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

One of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is qualified as
High and New Technology Enterprises and is entitled to
a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% (2023:
15%) for the year. Another PRC subsidiary is entitled
to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in
Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry
Cooperation Zone for the year.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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10. FRR A

AREB AR ANEEKE QA &K
MR RRE R TR T RA R & P

B A o B 0 T 2 R 401
F1G Bl o
EHABR

EBFNEHERFARETBSELE
/) & 5T FE R B A JH 1£16.5% (2023
F:16.5%) Rt BB AL
E—HEAEBSTARBMASFBEH
FETHAEERER ZTRAAH
2,000,000 7T (20234 : 2,000,000
7 JT) B FE BR T A OF 1£8.25% (2023
F:825%) B EHB MHBHETH
fE &R B A OE B 1£16.5% (20234 :
16.5%) Tt G o

PEILEFRSR

RIBHEBERTER REREM
AEBEBRPRAMELEBTD
FTE M BERFNREREF B UL
TE B KO5% (20234 : 25%) 5+ & o

AEBNEP—BFRFLAAEA
BB EEER  REARATES
15% (2023%F : 15%) K1 ¥ FT 15 Fi (B
BEHRE - Z—HHPEFRAERER
AEZRABFREEARBESER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

INCOME TAX FOR OTHER JURISDICTIONS

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
income tax of other jurisdictions mainly arose from the
United States, Canada, Germany, the United Kingdom, and
Australia.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the United
States were subject to the federal tax at a rate of 21%
and the state tax at the rates ranging from 5.39% to 9%.
In addition, Canada profits tax has been provided at a
rate of 26.5%, Germany profits tax has been provided at
a rate of 32.8%, the United Kingdom profits taxes have
been provided at a rate of 19% and Australia profits tax
has been provided at a rate of 30% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in the respective jurisdictions.

Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantively
enacted in certain jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. However, this legislation does not apply to the
Group as its consolidated revenue is lower than EUR750
million.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

10. FRISMBAZ ()

HttBEREMRFR

H E2024% K2023%F12A318 Ik &
B -EtrZHEMGHEERE
FE -MEX - #2H - REKBX
F5 o

AAREXEBETMAZH T RAH
R E21% » MNBEN F5.39%
F9% o AN B ELE MR R LR
[& B A /) i 5T FE 2R B A1) 1226.5%
MEARNERFNGHBEMH - &
328%METIRERHFI SR BEME -
FI0% MR IREBEFSHEBEERL
#30% T K 5T 12 )R K F 25 7 15 7 #&
1o

XHEZEPCEAEBELMEN
ETREERBEMIELERM -
A ARAEBNESBEAER
7508 B BT 0 B ZOR P E
RASKHE -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

10. FRISMBASZ (4F)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARET T

Current B HA
Chinese Mainland B A 14,389 7,421
Hong Kong BB 3,789 2,473
The United States Ege 741 1,002
Canada mEx 668 617
Germany = 1,340 —
Other jurisdictions HfhaAE R 441 78

21,368 11,591
Deferred (note 19) iR RE (Bt 7E19) (2,410) (570)
Total tax charge for the year FAMBEZ HBE 18,958 11,021

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries
are domiciled and/or operate to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective rates of
each reporting period, are as follows:
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — —
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

10. PRGBS (#)

2024 2024%F
Chinese Mainland Hong Kong The United States Canada Germany Other jurisdictions Total
hERY B3 £8 nex &g AfhA%EE it
RMB'000 %  RMB'000 %  RMB'000 %  RMB'000 %  RMB000 %  RMB000 %  RMB000 %
AEETR % ARMTR % AR%TT % AR%TZ % ARETR % ARETR % ARMTR %
Profit before tax BHaHA 51,706 1,825 6,820 2,14 3,044 490 66,026
Taxat the statutory tax rate REEhERE
HERE 12927 2.0 301 16.5 2001 297 567 2.5 998 328 133 a1 1695 %1
Lower tax rates for specific BEALERY
Juriscictons or enacted by S ERERY
Jocel athorty HERE Gl @9 (s 8y - - - - - - - - B B
Expenses not deductiblefortax T AABER 8,711 16.8 2645 1449 - - 3 18 342 1.2 30 61 11,766 1.8
Income not subject to tax BERRUA - - (159) (7 B 0 - - - - - - (162 (02
Taxlosses not recognised FETREER - - %47 - - - - - - 306 8 o
Adjustments in respect of FEBAARTS
current tax of previous REhAe
periods - - - - (175 (26) - - - - - - 1 (03
Tax incentive on elighle AERERNRE
£Xpenses Bz 420 82 - - - - - - - - - - M) 64
Tex charge at the Group's RIEEEERE
effective rate HERRERR 1221 27 21 1494 1,649 24 605 2.3 1,340 40 166 389 18,958 21

EDARBEERARAT o
—EB-MEEH
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

b ARETR

Hong Kong

%

% ARETT

10. PRGBS (#)

Other jurisdlictions

%

% ARETR

Profitoss) before tax

BHHE/ (B

Tax at the statutory tax rate

Lower tax rates for specffic Jurisdlictions or

enacted by local authority
Expenses not deductible for tax
Income not subject to tax
Taxlosses not recognised
Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods
Taxincentive on eligible expenses

REERGRETERE
HETEREINTRE
ERanERT
FRER
BERRMA
AEAREES
REBEBRNEREN
L
REREINERES

22
04

Tax charge at the Group's effective rate

Chingse Mainland
hERY
RMB'000 %
ARETT
75435
18859 250
838 (110
1201 16
(4910 (84
6,843 91

0200)

280
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11.

12.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an interim
dividend of HK3.5 cents per ordinary share in aggregate of
HK$15,400,000 (equivalent to RMB14,075,000) have been
paid or declare by the Company (2023: RMB23,000,000).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend of HKB3.5 cents in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024 per ordinary share in aggregate of
HK$15,500,000 has been declared by the Board to the
owners of the Company whose names appear on the
Company’s register of members on 5 June 2025 (2023:
Nil). The amount of the final dividend declared for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is calculated based on the
number of issued shares, at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 400,797,498 (2023:
342,315,000) outstanding during the year, as adjusted to
reflect the rights issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

11.

12.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

xR

H E2024F12 A31BIEFE » KA A]
ERNKEIRTERBEER AR
3.5% 1l © 4 5+15,400,000% T (B &
WA R #14,075,0007T) (20234 : A
R #23,000,0007T) °

REHRE  EFEHE E2024
FI2AMBILEFEERRARBREE
% & 8B 3.5 1l © & 5F15,500,000
7 I F 20256 A5H & 5| A A A
A% 3R & i B AR R # B A (20234 -
) B E2024F12A31BILFEEE
KRR B IR AR A SR EK
HAEBHEEHITRMODEETE -

BAFRBRREAARGEK
By

FEREXAXZFNE2BIODREALAR
AETBEESRBEAELEARAN
B R F A BTN T ®B R MR
15 #400,797,498 % (20234 :

342,315,0000%) 5+ & + I 48 7 & A

R BREF RETTHY A

BERBEERNEEIRESARE
BREGSFTAARGFEFANBE -
AAETRANEBRNEFIES
FARTEIINEBREE - B
BEERENBNKANEEKE
BHER AEhBREMAEBEEEL
BEEERCTEXERASET AR
mEERITH EBRIMNE B

EDASEZE AR AT
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AR RRMEE

31 December 2024 2024412531 H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BAFIEBREFEAAEGLERK
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BF(E)

PARENT (Cont’d)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BRERNEBERNITIERT &

are based on: Bt & -
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Earnings 2R
Profit attributable to owners of SRR B A B E
the parent 47,068 69,403
Number of Shares
B3 8 E
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Shares Bz 12
Weighted average number of AESRERBNE
ordinary shares outstanding Fir FA B9 SF 1T 1R S
used during the year in the I AR N T &
basic earnings per share
calculation 400,797,498 342,315,000
Effect of dilution-weighted T R i T
average number of ordinary -
shares:
Adjustment for share option DB B EL AR
scheme 15,082,774 —
Adjustment for restricted share X PR I A% 15 B8 A VE
unit B 8,081,836 —
Adjusted weighted average AEEREERT R
number of ordinary shares FrRAMBERTERRKR
in issue used in the diluted KR N R B
earnings per share calculation 423,962,108 342,315,000

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Cont’d)

The weighted average number of shares used to calculate
the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 includes the pro forma issued share
capital of 342,315,000 shares, which comprised the
following:

(i) 228,210 shares in issue at 1 January 2023; and

(i)  On 28 May 2024 (“Listing Date”), the Company
allotted and issued a total of 342,086,790 shares
credited as fully paid at par to the holders of shares
whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company on the day preceding the Listing Date
in proportion to their then existing shareholdings by
capitalising the relevant sum from the share premium
account of the Company.

The weighted average number of shares used to calculate
the basic earnings per share for year ended 31 December
2024 includes the weighted average of 97,625,000 shares
issued upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the Listing
Date, namely 58,040,068 shares, the weighted average of
2,990,500 shares issued for exercise of share options on
7 November 2024, namely 442,430 shares and the above
mentioned 342,315,000 ordinary shares.

No adjustment had been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the year ended 31 December
2023 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potential
dilutive ordinary shares in issue during that year.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

12. BARERERSHAAREEER

B¥®E)

HZE2023F12A31HILFE  :1E8F
A& H 7K & F) B BT B A9 AR 10 hn S 5
H B IEEE B 17 R 4342,315,000
f& A& (D Hb et

() 202341818 #228,210% B
BTG R

(i) M2024F5828A(TL ™ A
) ARRBABEARRE KD
HEMEBSEERMENFR
BIEREMBESAI—BRIAK
NAREEZMORGIFEA
ENNSREMLEEERE R
2% 17 A& ££342,086,7900% A BR 71|
B MM ERRINERN T RS
BBAC

HZE2024F12A31HILFE  tEF
I B K 2 R B BT A 9 BR (D 0 A S 5
BEEARABRMRLETHEHES
BHMARSMER AR L&
/797,625,000 0% A% {5 hn # S 15 £k (BD
58,040,068% & 17) « 7 2024F 11 A7
A A 17 F 8 R 4 M 2 17 #92,990,500
A% A% 17 N 35 21 (B 442,430 B % 17)
% I uit342,315,000% & @ f& o

B E Y E 22023F12A31H IEFE
FI2YMEBREABN S BEEL S
BAFEMNAR EBAEAEERZT
EUWEEETEEHSLEBR -

EDASEZE AR AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BEREH
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and
improvements machinery  Motor vehicles office equipment Total
BERH BERKE RE  BARBARG g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

31 December 2024 202412 831H
At 1 January 2024: 20245 181R -

Cost A 3,265 5,247 4,510 3,208 16,290

Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (1,927) (4,199) (2,59) (2,187) 10,908)

Net carrying amount BHGE 1,338 1,048 1,975 1,021 5,382
At 1 January 2024, net of R2024E1A1R

accumulated depreciation NBRENE 1,338 1,048 1,975 1,021 5,382
Additions RE 184 6,978 4,507 1,176 12,845
Disposals e - (3) 5) (16) (24)
Depreciation provided during the SR EE &

Jear (639) (1,745) (1,02) (124 (4,100)
Exchange realignment AR - (52) (12) 6) (70)

At 31 December 2024, net of R2024512 4318 -

accumulated depreciation NBEHNE 884 6,256 5,442 1,451 14,033
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31A

Cost A 3,449 11,708 8,087 4,308 28,452

Accumulated depreciation ZithE (2,565) (5,452) (3,545) (2,857) (14,419)

Net carrying amount FAFE 884 6,256 5,442 1,451 14,033
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. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

13. W% - WERR R (F)

Leasehold Plant and Furniture and
improvements machinery Motor vehicles office equipment Total
HERE BER#&E nE  RRREAR g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H
At 1 January 2023; R2023E1A1R :
Cost [ 3,256 5,109 3,740 2,128 14,833
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (1,208) (2,902 (1,682) (1,475) (7,357)
Net carrying amount REFE 1958 2,207 2,058 1253 7476
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023E1A18
accumulated depreciation NhEsHHE 1958 2,207 2,058 1253 7476
Additions RE = 194 748 520 1,462
Disposals i3 - (29) - () (30)
Depreciation provided during the RN EEE
year (620) (1,358) (862) (750) (3,590)
Exchange realignment R - 30 31 3 64
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023F128317
accumulated depreciation NhREHNE 1338 1,048 1975 1,021 5,382
At 31 December 2023: 202312318
Cost A 3,265 5,247 45570 3,208 16,200
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (1,927) (4,199) (2,595 (2,187) (10,908)
Net carrying amount BEFE 1338 1,048 1,975 1,021 5,382
EDASEZR AR A 7
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BEYE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARKET T
At beginning of year RE A - =
Additions NE 21,989 —
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B (439) —
At end of year RER 21,550 —

In 2024, the Group entered a contract for purchasing lands
and warehouses in Indonesia. After signing the formal
sales contracts in December 2024, the Group substantially
has the right and obligation of the lands and warehouses.
Nevertheless, due to the complexity of the procedures for
the land ownership transfer, the land ownership certificates
were finally obtained in March 2025.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details of which
are included in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties were within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
as their valuations were arrived at by reference to certain
significant unobservable inputs. There were no transfers
into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in
the determination of fair values:

20245 - AR EFTZ—ERERE
BEITHRAEMNAL - R2024F
AR EEREBEANE A5 H
EELrEHBEZ TR REMNER
FEF -AMm AR LA EE
BIRFWERNE  HE 220256387
BB HAEEZEE -

BREWERDDAKLLEHERALAET
F=H E-IREFBIARESE
BT R M RE15 o

RBERR BRREYEMBETD
BR2EETEANAUHERBAE
B AEENREVEBERAR
BEEBANE = FRLKRLHA
BASZBBLE=FWNIBR -

TRINLEEAABEMANMGE
A

Valuation Unobservable
Fair value techniques inputs
PREE F“EFE FTUBEBAE
RMB’000
AR TR
Lands and warehouses 21,650 Recent transactions Recent transaction
approach prices

TH & A E &ERH5E KRR 5 ER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

15. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for some warehouses and
offices used in its operations. Leases of some warehouses
and offices generally have lease terms of 16 months to 15
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movement during the year are as

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

15. 8§

FREFESEEA

AEBRELEMANTDRAER
MAETEHREEGN -HBOEER
MAEMHABERI6EARISF -
—BmE AEBTERAEEMN
INTEEERS>BEHREELE -

@ FERAEEE

AEEFAERAREENERR

follows:

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B & AR TR ARBT T

At beginning of year iNE =) 107,743 139,425
Additions NE 691,427 —
Depreciation charge TERX 7 (67,519) (33,971)
Exchange realignment bE H, 8 B 4,314 2,289
At end of year RER 735,965 107,743
EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

15. LEASES (Cont’d) 15. &8 (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) FREESEHEAE)
(b) Lease liabilities by HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FAHEEENEEEBERE D
movements during the year are as follows: AT
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR ARBT T
At beginning of year RF 7 124,399 153,791
New leases HHE 691,427 =
Accretion of interest FAEBERNE
recognised during the year 1 g 6 19,740 8,820
Payment 3R (79,090) (40,741)
Exchange realignment bE 5 382 4,572 2,529
At end of year RER 761,048 124,399
Analysed into: DA
Within one year —F R 85,176 34,724
In the second year REZF 80,006 30,931
In the third to fifth years, RE=FZF%
inclusive hFE(EERE
WEER) 226,810 39,546
Beyond five years REFMNUE 369,056 19,198
761,048 124,399

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

170 EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

HERENIHMOMTNGEE M
BB R M E35F R E -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

15. LEASES (Cont’d)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d)

() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

15. & (#)
EEEEBEBEA(E)
0 MREZHIEINHEEHEBIE
mT:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 19,740 8,820
Depreciation charge of right- FHAEEENERX

of-use assets 67,519 33,971
Expense relating to short- HBEEHAEFEMNMAX

term leases 3,941 2,571
Total amount recognised in B P ERKIBHERE

profit or loss 91,200 45,362

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
in Indonesia under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB370,000 (2023: Nil), details of which are included in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

d HERSRLEBERGEEWHK
KM T2 IR E -

FREAFJHEA

AEERBLEHERFHBEER
EENREYMERH E14)  ZEH
ENBRR—REBRKBEPL XM ERE
X RBEEFHRTHRETEN
HeRE AEEBFRNCHEAEE
WA B A K ¥370,0007T (20234 :
) FRHEARNGAMBRRMES

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

15. LEASES (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under operating

15. & (#)

FREFEBHAASE)

MN2024F12A31H B A EE R
BEHERFPMLLEHEE/EW KL

leases with its tenants are as follows: HHEERERT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Not more than 1 year TEBB1F 1,496 =
Over 1 year to 2 years BEIFEE2F 1,551 =
Over 2 years to 3 years BiE2F E=34F 1,068 =
4,115 -

16. GOODWILL 16. &
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Cost and carrying amount B 7R K BR E B 76,443 76,443
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL o8 R E A

Goodwill acquired through business combination is
allocated to Shenzhen EDA CLOUD Technologies
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen EDA”) which was regarded as a
cash-generating unit (the “Shenzhen EDA CGU”).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

16. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 16. W8 (#7)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Cont’d)

The recoverable amount of the Shenzhen EDA CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budget covering a
five-year period approved by senior management.

e i A ()

RYNFEERSELEEMHNA YD
THRREBEERBEAERTE  HE
RERNSREEEM ENTF M
BRENHESRERA -

Annual Budgeted Pre-tax
revenue Terminal gross discount
growth rate growth rate margins rate
FWA EQ BE BRI

BEE  MEE  EAE  BEE

202412431 12.7%
2023512 A31H 6.3%

31 December 2024
31 December 2023

2.0% 14.8%-15.0% 20.1%
2.3% 15.0%-15.1% 21.7%

The above assumptions were used in the value in use
calculation of the Shenzhen EDA CGU. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

Annual revenue growth rate — The predicted annual revenue
growth rate for the five years subsequent to the date of
assessment is one of the assumptions used in the value in
use calculations. The annual revenue growth rate is based
on the historical performance and market outlook perceived
by management.

Terminal growth rate — The terminal growth rate was
estimated to be 2.0% as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 2.3%), which has taken into consideration
the prevailing industry practice.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

AERGEERSELEU 2
REERERT LEARKREK - TXHE
MEREEAETEHBRERNRRKE
HREREBMMBRENSESRER

CES

FPWARER - RFHERERASF
WIEAFWARRERBFEEBE
BEFRANBRZ— - FRAERX
DERBEXRRLEREEH M HA
%E"ng °

BumRE — & RIRITITEEN -
T8 {5 4% i 18 K R p2024%F12 A31H
A2.0% (2023FE12 A31H : 2.3%) °

BEEMNE - BEEMNENEE
DREZEEREFENNFEAR
ZRNNFHENX(AEHUERRES
MM RBHOTEERET -

REIRE — FrARIRLER R R ER B A )2
R 7G BE B AL B0 45 5 LR o

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

16. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis
Details of the headroom measured by the excess of the

recoverable amount over the carrying amount are as
follows:

16.

A ()
e i A ()
HRE DT

RA DR EREENE /R
EN LA ZERAFBET:

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Shenzhen EDA CGU FxINGEERcEAEN 218,278 186,029

Management has undertaken sensitivity analysis on the
impairment test of goodwill. The assumptions used in
the impairment review in the table below would have, in
isolation, led to the Shenzhen EDA CGU'’s recoverable
amount to be equal to its carrying value:

BB T A TT R B R E R B R U
ME DM o N R BT R ORL(E 2 B AT A Y
BREBREAESHRY HESE
ReESBUAKESEEEER
(EREEE

Change of key assumptions
required for carrying value to
equal recoverable amount

REHERETKESEESEMEN

TEBRED
2024 2023
2024 20234

Annual revenue growth rates FIWAERE

(during the five-year period) (AFHREA) (63.4%) (51.1%)
Gross profit margin FH X (8.9%) (12.3%)
Pre-tax discount rate TR AT AL IR =X 20.9% 19.9%

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the management of
the Group considered there was no reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions mentioned above that
would cause the carrying amount of the Shenzhen EDA
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount. The management
of the Company determined that there was no impairment
of the Shenzhen EDA CGU.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMEE

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HthER B E
Customer
Technology relationship Total
B EFE#% ast
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Pt 3 ARBTR ARBTR ARBETTT

31 December 2024 2024%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2024, 20241 1A #Y

net of accumulated B - B RE

amortisation i3 20,720 37,920 58,640
Amortisation provided during £ P 5T 12 # 5

the year 7 (2,590) (4,740) (7,330)
At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 18,130 33,180 51,310
At 31 December 2024: 202412318 :

Costs X AR 25,900 47,400 73,300

Accumulated amortisation BETEEH (7,770) (14,220) (21,990)

Net carrying amount REFE 18,130 33,180 51,310
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, R2023F1 1B H)

net of accumulated B AR B 25

amortisation % 55 23,310 42,660 65,970
Amortisation provided during & 5T 2 # §8

the year 7 (2,590) (4,740) (7,330)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12 A31H 20,720 37,920 58,640
At 31 December 2023: 2023512 A31H :

Cost XA 25,900 47,400 73,300

Accumulated amortisation REEHE (5,180) (9,480) (14,660)

Net carrying amount REFE 20,720 37,920 58,640

EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE

18. REELRMHIKE

2024 2023

20244 20234F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AR®EFTT

Share of net assets EHEEFE 45,461 —

The details of the joint venture are as follows:

BELENFBEOT:

Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars of incorporation/ interest
issued registration and attributable Principal
Name capital held business to the Group activities
rTEBEERS
e &1 AL FrEREER
£% RA&zFH1E BRNEXENLE BAlk TEER
Hubei Ezhou EDA Cloud Partnership shares PRC/ Chinese 49.95% Investment
Enterprise Management Mainland
Partnership (limited
partnership)* (“Ezhou EDA")
(RltESMTHEERE
EEEECXAERAR)
MIEIMNTHEESRE aRnRE HE R A ®E
ERABREERBRER)
((SMBHEE])
e The English name of this entity represents the best efforts

made by the directors of the Company to translate the Chinese
name as the entity does not have an official English name.

Ezhou EDA which is considered a material joint venture of
the Group, and is accounted for using the equity method.
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18.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE (Cont’d)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Ezhou EDA, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the consolidated statements of financial
position:

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

18. REERLRMIRE(F)

T%EIJH_‘\%EBJII% ENMBEER R
R EMEABRRERFELR
WIEE?*’“M“H%R%%H’JEEETE;T

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARET R
Current assets MENEE 91,094
Current liabilities mEAaE (25)
Net current assets and net assets RBEEFEREEFE 91,069
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in HAEERALLENERHE:
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership (note) A% & %ﬁﬁ; b 51 (B 5E) 49.95%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint AEESIhEECEEEFE
venture 45,461
2024
2024 F
RMB’000
AR T
Profit and total comprehensive income for FRNBEEREZEWEERE
the year 69

Note: According to the articles of association, the percentage of
profit sharing is based on the proportion of capital contribution
actually made to Ezhou EDA.

M RFBEEASKERMER - FEHKE
LOIABEBRmSMNBETTED
Lol R 4 -

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

19. DEFERRED TAX 19. EFERIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during REAELEHRBEERAGZEE
the year are as follows: N
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES EERIEAR
Fair value
adjustments

Accelerated  arising from
tax acquisition of Right-of-use

depreciation  subsidiaries assets Total
e B8
FARELEM
MEHERE LAEERE FHAEEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTE ARBTR ARETn ARETR

At 1 January 2023 R2023F 1818 - 9,896 39,185 49,081
Deferred tax credited to profit ~ FEFABFEZE

or loss during the year HEHR - (1,100) 9,274) (10,374)
Exchange realignment B 5 A E - - 774 774
At 31 December 2023 and PA2023F12 318 |

1 January 2024 20241418 - 8,796 30,685 39,481
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  EEHBE /(3 A)

to profit or loss during the BREZETRKE

year 1,662 (1,099) 173,215 173,778
Exchange realignment [E R 10 = 1,574 1,584
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H 1,672 7,697 205,474 214,843
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

19. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

19. SRIERIA ()

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS EBEREASE
Provision for
Loss available impairment
for offsetting of financial
Lease against future and contract
liabilities taxable profit assets Total
AR
R RIERB ERREN
HEEE FENEE LEAERE “E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT AREFT ARBETT
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 /1M 43,260 102 4,269 47,631
Deferred tax charged to profit FENREERZ
or loss during the year EET A (8,533) (110) (1,161) (9,804)
Exchange realignment B X, 38 B 863 8 - 871
At 31 December 2023 and 202312 A31A &
1 January 2024 20241 R1H 35,590 — 3,108 38,698
Deferred tax credited to profit ~ FEFALRBHFZ
or loss during the year ERHE 175,745 273 170 176,188
Exchange realignment B 3, 38 B 1,640 1 - 1,641
At 31 December 2024 7202412 318 212,975 274 3,278 216,527
EDASEIZR AR A F

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

19. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d) 19. SEERIA(HF)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the

EHRMS B TEERBEEM
BEEESEMBRARKRPETE
He-ATRRMBEREMS A&

deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting BIEREIBE R 2 DT

180

purposes:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Net deferred tax assets REBMRRAKRADER
recognised in the consolidated B IR E IR & B R A
statement of financial position 11,053 8,013
Net deferred tax liabilities MEVMBRARABER
recognised in the consolidated BRI B EF R
statement of financial position 9,369 8,796

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB1,231,000 (2023: RMB715,000) and in Singapore of
RMB19,000 that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies from which
the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 10% for the Group. As at 31
December 2024, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax liabilities of RMB14,103,300 (2023: RMB12,201,500)
in respect of temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries, amounting to
RMB141,033,000 (2023: RMB122,015,000), that would
be payable on the distribution of these retained profits
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and plans to retain such undistributed profits
in Chinese Mainland for business development. Therefore,
it is not probable that these profits will be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

20. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

20. Rt FFRERE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARKET T

Prepayment for equity A& & A 3R IE
investments 73,757 —
Deposits & 17,897 —
Others HAth 631 —
92,285 =

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at the end of reporting
period, the loss allowance was assessed to be not

ARFALESRTNERMEERTH
I £ 36 R A0 280 5 5R0R B S ) FE UK
THAEREE - R EHIR - BB BB W

AHERIEEKR

material.
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EHEKHE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR®EF T

Related parties (note 33(d)) 78 Bt 75 (B #£33(d)) 35 —
Third parties F=F 214,128 151,459
214,163 151,459

Impairment B (16,797) (9,028)
197,366 142,431

EDASEIZERAERA R

—s-mEgg 191



182

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit terms offered to
clients are generally within 30 days from the end of the
month, extending up to two months for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management. The Group’s trade receivables from third
parties relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

21. BB RIA(E)

AEBEETZFZENE S KK
FEERET WHEFP—RFERESL
- REGEEPHNERPATR
BAXRENARN  EENELAK
ZREKREMER - BR2EFHORE
EELR AEESKEBERNHE
REEEBWHIE - BMEHHERE
BEHEN ARENEKE=

E5RBERLTRAETFPAR
Y EEXEFNEERR A&
BYEREESRRRBEHRTER
EMERmKEMERIERERE -
B 5B AT E -

RBEHREZREFBZERA
HRMBEEREZREDTIT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETIT

Within 3 months 31E AN 194,002 141,771
3 to 6 months 3Z261E A 2,840 333
Over 6 months 2 E6E A 524 327
197,366 142,431
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

21.

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

RAEBRIF(HF)

BRmY A REERREED
m -

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

At beginning of year REH 9,028 17,907

Impairment losses B &5 18 14,524 2,508
Amount written off as B A& AU D /3R IE

uncollectible (6,755) (11,387)

At end of year RER 16,797 9,028

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date. The Group uses a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses for trade receivables. The provision
rates are based on groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer
type and service type). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Besides, for
balances in relation to individual customers which bear
specific credit risk depending on the repayment history,
financial position and other external or internal information,
management estimates the amounts recoverable by taking
into account any credit enhancement held by the Group
and recognises provision against the difference between
the net remaining balance and the amount recoverable.

REREAHBETREDT - K
SEXRARBEEEFEEZREK
HHEREEER - BBEELER
AERUBERARAN(AREFPHER
ERBBHEADNZEEF DS
MANEE - Rt E BRI
BR BEEEHEMNKRSAHA
SONEBEESEE ERMARLR
REBEMNIBRANGIERASEER -
gE S - B E K L B RS AR K
Hph M ABERMwE R ER
ERBRMERNTEFHNESRME &
BEEZRARERAENEMNEER
R ER - BEKREESE X
PLER T AESRF BB E £ 8 2
MERBERREE -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the trade receivables using a provision matrix:

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

21. BB RIA(E)

TXHINRABREBREETENES
FEU K IRE(E E R B E Y

GROUP A i
Related
Third parties parties Total
B=h BEA @
Within 3to 6to Over Within
3months 6 months 12 months 12 months 3 months
3EAM 3Z6fR 6Z12f8F EB12EA MEAR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
As at 31 December 2024 12024512 A31H
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 2.3% 48.5% 68.8% 100.0% 2.3% 41%
Gross carrying amount BEHE 198,450 5,510 1,682 137 35 205,814
Expected credit losses EHEERR 4,482 2,670 1,158 137 1 8,448
As at 31 December 2023 120234124318
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 2.7% 52.5% 74.9% 100.0% 2.7% 5.6%
Gross carrying amount BEREEE 145,753 701 1,303 3,159 = 150,916
Expected credit losses BHEEER 3,982 368 976 3,159 = 8,485
GROUP B Zi
Related
Third parties parties Total
-y BEA o
Within 3to 6 to Over Within
3months 6 months 12 months 12 months 3 months
AR 3Z6fR 6Z12fF HEB12EA AR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETR
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512A31H
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount BEmE 17 1,563 6,769 = = 8,349
Expected credit losses BHEEESR 17 1,563 6,769 = = 8,349
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H
Expected credit loss rate BHEEERX 100% 100% 100% 100% - 100%
Gross carrying amount BERAEE - - - 543 - 543
Expected credit losses BHEEER - - - 543 = 543
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

22. CONTRACT ASSETS 22. eV EE
2024 2023
20245 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Contract assets EHNEE - 275
Impairment VRIEL - (7)
- 268

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from the provision of cross-border direct delivery services
as the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful
completion of delivering to the overseas destination
designated by the end consumers. Upon completion
and acceptance by the end consumers, the amounts
recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade
receivables.

The Group’s trading terms and credit policy with customers
are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements. The expected timing of recovery or settlement
for contract assets is within one year.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

BREERVNERRRERHRBERED
ARG B U A - B A 1B B R R 1
A XD SERK TR 42 o 0B B B 1R TE /) UB
SNE B R o B TE AKX 2 AR U O
EERRR HERBANEENS
BREFOBREZENRFA -

AEFRTFHNRHERAREER
RRNGEVBHRRME2IRE - &
MEEMABW @ EERERIF
WO

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBTT

At beginning of year REH 7 -
Impairment losses (reversed)/ (BEE),/ BHERREES

recognised B (7) 7

At end of year RER - 7

EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23

RECEIVABLES

AR - REeEREMEKRRIRA
2024 2023

2024 20234F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBTT

Prepayments TR 3R IE 34,531 21,317
Deposits biegca 28,607 21,754
Value-added tax recoverable QEEE:-L =g 17,578 7,550
Tax recoverable A Uy [B] 7% 18 - 766
Advances to employees THEEMB K 276 32
Payment on behalf of customers REZEPZM@AM
for custom duties 10,510 4,787
Amount due from the immediate FEW B B E R ARIRIA
holding company - 605
Other receivables H A e W 3R 600 1,841
92,102 58,652

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at the end of reporting
period, the loss allowance was assessed to be not

material.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M BHmRME
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H
24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, HithEmEFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR T ARBTTT
Non-current FERE
Equity instruments at BAREBEEA
FVOCI: Hth 2 U 2 &Y
RARTA:
Unlisted equity securities FEETRAES (i) 5,000 —
Current E
Funds at FVPL BRAREEAR
S ES (i) 52,713 —
57,713 o
()  Unlisted equity securities were irrevocably designated () HRAEERAZZHREREB

at fair value through other comprehensive income as
the Group considers these investments to be strategic

in nature.

(i) The Group’s funds are classified as financial assets iy XEEMESEI>BEAEA
at FVPL as their contractual cash flows do not qualify
for solely payments of principal and interest.

BEEEE 3Eimﬂx$ 75 1
TR EEREAREE
AR EEE S -

BEFAEBESNEREE -
7%/\@ ?ﬁfﬁﬂi//luij[z_éé
ERARINIARERFE -

ﬁﬂ?ﬁ

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS 25. BeaRBITHER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Restricted cash: Z|RHEE
Pledged deposits R EERN 14,164 —
Cash and cash equivalents: HRekREEEY:
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHEH 295,881 211,427
Time deposit E H T 3K - 10,000
295,881 221,427
Cash and bank deposits RERIBITER 310,045 221,427
Denominated in: FTE BN
RMB (note) AR (B &) 168,184 127,610
us$ ETT 90,723 86,873
HK$ BT 39,707 23
EUR X 7T 3,665 511
GBP HEE 5,436 4,440
AUD RIT 374 346
CAD ik 1,956 1,624
310,045 221,427
Note: The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, Mizk: ARBTHEAHIBKEMER -
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control SR+ AR AR R B M CONBE B IR 1R
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and PIDRCHERE - EERNEERR
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is E)  AEETFERERELE I
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks EEKNRITHBAREHIBKE
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. HmEE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (Cont’d)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposit is made for a period
of three years and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rate. However, the Group can withdraw the time
deposit in a period less than the pre-determined period of
three years and such time deposit then earns interest at
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Therefore,
management considers that such time deposit is held for
short term cash commitment. The bank balances and time
deposit are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

26. TRADE PAYABLES

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

25. e RBITHFER(HE)

RITRSRE T HRITHF R X
BUEBHE - EMERBRB=F -
W R & B #) TE B 7 50 M) R BREUR 8. o
A AEBEARBLEEEN=F
HRZAMEERFR BEBEE
HERERBRRITHERN RiZF
BAEBRERAE Al EEER
RELTEHERENERIE S AL
MR - RITEREEHERFA
EERFAIMERERCHERTT

26. HHEMIRE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T

Trade payables =Y
Related parties (note 33(d)) 78 Bt 77 (B 3£33(d)) - 166
Third parties £=F 148,261 127,709
148,261 127,875

An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEEHR EXNBHZAHNES
FENFRIBE RR B D AT A0 T ¢

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AREF T

Within 1 year 1F A 147,491 127,272
1 to 2 years 1226 282 84
2 to 3 years 2FE3F 1 35
Over 3 years B iB3F 487 484
148,261 127,875

Trade payables are unsecured, interest-free and normally
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days.

BoENZEBEBAERE 25 B
HIHB0E60KKHR £ E -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. HfhFE &% IR K EEHIRE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Contract liabilities (note (i) a8 aE(EEEd) 24,719 10,698
Payroll and welfare payables B & R AE T 20,730 19,876
Interest payable FEAS T & 46 =
Dividends payable FE A iR B 4,875 —
Other tax payables H b & B 3K 1,123 775
Accruals fEEtTE B 4,660 1,634
Other payables H b T RIB 2,707 2,631
58,860 35,614
Notes: B 5
0] Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to 0] AHEEEEREBEERBEER

render first-mile international freight services and last-mile
fulfilment services. The increase as at 31 December 2024
was mainly due to business development and the increase in
customer base.

(ii) Other payables and accruals are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

28. BORROWINGS 28. B
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
20245128318 2023%12 4318
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate %)  Maturity  RMB'000  rate(%)  Maturty  RMBOOO
BRFIE (%) HEA AR%®Tn EEMER HHE ARETR
Current B
Bank overdrafts ROEX 19.9% On demand 94 19.9%  On demand 418
— unsecured o it REX BEX
Bank loans RITER 2.84%-4.5% 2025 73,752 3.6%-4.47% 2024 51,800
— unsecured - BE#E
Current portion of long ~ REIRITEFHM 2.8% 2025 92 2.8% 2024 106
term bank loans NHHS
— unsecured - EEE
Other borrowing Hip i 2.85% 2025 45,000 - N/A -
@
118,938 52,324
Non-current JFENE
Bank loans RITER - - - 2.8% 2025 98
— unsecured - ERE
118,938 52,422
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
Analysed into: AR i
Bank loans and overdrafts JEEEBIETER RSB Y
repayable:
Within one year or on demand R—FRNHEEK 118,938 52,324
In the second year RE—F - 98
118,938 52,422
EDAKSEEZERER AT

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

28. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s overdraft facilities amounting to RMB9,453,000
(31 December 2023: RMB9,479,000), of which RMB94,000
(81 December 2023: RMB418,000) had been utilised as at 31
December 2024.

28. B (#5)

&

(@)

R20245F12 A31H » NEBE KIS TRt
&/ AR #9,453,0007T (2023412 A
310 A R #9,479,0007T) " E & &
) B A B 94,0007t (2023412 A 31
A : AR #418,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s bank loans are (b) H2024F12A31H » AEEKE TR
guaranteed by: TEFRBATEBERER:
()  apersonal guarantee provided by the legal representative () ZERAFRAAMEERTRAREHD
of a subsidiary of the Company; and BALER: &
(i)  a guarantee provided by third-party financing guarantee i) FB=ZFUBERIAAREEANFA
corporations and intra-group subsidiary. AR HEHER -
As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s bank loans are M2023F12 8310 - AL EMHE TR
guaranteed by: TERBATEEEER:
()  a personal guarantee provided by a shareholder of the () ARA—BRERELRBRERHNE
Company and his spouse; AR
(iy  a personal guarantee provided by the legal representative (i) ARQRABFRAMEENREARHELN
of a subsidiary of the Company; and BALER: &
(i) a guarantee provided by third-party financing guarantee (i) B=FTHBERIARHENER -
corporations.
The Group’s borrowings are denominated in: © AEBNEREATEBEMTE:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
RMB AR 118,752 51,800
CAD T 186 622
118,938 52,422

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s other borrowing was loan
from a related party. The loans are unsecured, bear interest
at 2.85% per annum and had maturity of six months. Details
of which are included in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. &&¥
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARKET T
Issued and fully paid: BERITEBT:
442,930,500 (2023: 228,210) 442,930,500 0%
ordinary shares with par (20234 : 228,2100% )
value of US$0.01 each (2023: R EEO0.01F TTH
US$0.01 each) L @Ak (20234 -
= H20.01E7T) 31,493 15
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital AR ZBRAZBHHPENT -
is as follows:
Number of
shares in Share Share
issue capital premium Total
R
RAHAE N R EE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR N AR
T T T
At 1 January 2023, 31 R2023F1/1A -

December 2023 and 2023F12A31B K

1 January 2024 2024F1A1H 228,210 15 - 15
Issuance of ordinary shares BEERDREERT

relating to IPO (note (a)) L@k (M EQ) 97,625,000 6,941 195,794 202,735
Capitalisation issue B BT (P 3 (0)

(note (b) 342,086,790 24,323 (24,323) -
Share issue expenses B BITHY - - (22,405) (22,405)
Share options exercised BT ERE

(note 30(a)) (Fff 330(a)) 2,990,500 214 5,695 5,909
At 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 442,930,500 31,493 154,761 186,254

EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Notes:

(@)

In connection with the IPO, 97,625,000 ordinary shares of a
par value of US$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$2.28
per share at a total cash consideration, before deducting the
underwriting fees and commissions and other estimated listing
expenses, of approximately HK$222,585,000 (equivalent to
RMB202,735,000).

On the Listing Date, the Company allotted and issued a total of
342,086,790 shares credited as fully paid at par to the holders
of shares whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company on the day preceding the Listing Date in
proportion to their then existing shareholdings by capitalising
the relevant sum from the share premium account of the
Company.
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29. k& (#5)

&

(@)

RERAMEEMS © 97,6250000
FREEIIE THEBRERS
f2.28 B THEKET BESNE
(RNBBHEER e R EMGEE
71 B S2) 4 A222,585,00058 T (18
BN A R#202,735,0007T) °

RETBH  ARFBBBARQRK
DHEEENEBRERTELANS
XN EEEBRLETESHII—BEY
AR BREREZMOBRGHFEARE
ERMNEEFREMRERETE
$£342,086,790% A BR 71| & %k 2 A A%
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
share based payment schemes are as follows:

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

30. LIz {7 &8 REaY 18

REHETEANEEURND S ER
M RET SR SR T

2024 2023
2024F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B % AR T AR T
Expenses for share option B EREIETH
scheme -3 (@) 32,648 —
Expenses for restricted X PR il B 0 B i 51 2
share unit scheme HTH R X (b) 23,733 —
Total amount recognised in RERPHERD
profit or loss meRE 56,381 —
Including: B
Directors’ remuneration EE=E 48,844 =
Employee benefit expense BTRMNAX
(excluding directors’ (TRIEESHH)
remuneration) 6,886 =
Cost of provision of first- REEEBEAORSE®
mile fulfillment services DN 59 —
Cost of provision of last- REERERAORSE®
mile fulfillment services [N 592 —
56,381 —
(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (A) FSBEHERtE

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a pre-initial public offering
share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) on 14 May 2024 for the purpose
of providing an incentive for directors, senior
management, employees and officers and to reward
their performance with rights which permit them to
subscribe for shares in the Company and to own the
Company in proportion with their contribution to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

BRNMABERNBRETS

KABR2024F5 148 R e
RAFRBEEERETS(E
RAFRBEERBREE
EEREE SAEEE E
BRkERBERMEHE W
FRERFRFEEHARAR,
KETMTRARNEER -
BERBARBRMDILEE K
DE LNEBEEZRE -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 30. LI SERBFTIR(HE)
(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) (A) BRRxiEstEI(4F)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont'd) BERARBENBRESS (&)
() Movements in share options () BRENEE
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price* options
hn A ¥£35
THEE BREHAE
HK$ per share 000
FREE T T
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A31B &

1 January 2024 2024F1H18 = =
Granted during the year FAFKRE 0.75 31,212
Lapsed during the year FRLK 0.75 (94)
Exercised during the year FRITHE 0.75 (2,990)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 B31H 0.75 28,128

* The exercise price of share options granted to * KTES  HfthfgE 85
directors, other employees or officers depends SR EREREN T
on the outcome of the future closing price of the RO v NS¢
shares, details of which are set out in the section (i) MENER  FBEHR
Outstanding share options below. T 3 (ii) 14 R 17 15 A B A%

—E o
The 2,990,500 share options exercised during F K 1T £ #92,990,50019
the year resulted in the issue of 2,990,500 B EERADR BT
ordinary shares of the Company and new share 2,990,5000% & B i & ¥
capital of US$29,905 (equivalent to RMB214,000, # A% A&K29,905% (M &
before issue expenses). » A R #214,0007T @ &

APEITHX) -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
(i) Movements in share options (Cont'd)

The subscription rights attaching to 2,990,500
share options were exercised at the subscription
prices of HKDO.75 per share, resulting in
the issue of 2,990,500 ordinary shares for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HKD2,243,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,073,000).

The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during the
year was HK$2.39 per share.

(i) Outstanding share options

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

30. LIBx {7 & & REaY 13k (#F)

(A) REBRfEsHEI(4)
BALHBRENBRESS (&)
() BRENZZ(E)

B B 72,990,50010 A% &
HEMNREEZZRTS
BITHRBERITE =
{# 2% 17 72,990,5000% & @
B EHNBRERNMNES
R 4 {8 52,243,000/
T (4 & A R #2,073,000
JT) ©
FRAEBITENERELT
BEAMNETFEORELSS
B2.395%8 7T °

(i) ERITE R R

Number of

options Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
BREHE TEE FEAH T
19,156,000 the lower of (i) 33% of the 24 November 2024 Prior to the expiry

offer price and (ii) 33% of the
closing price of the shares
one business day immediately
preceding the date of exercise
(i) 2 & B /Y33% K (i) B 5
TEBEHA—EE%ER

R B HI33% 2 RIKHE

2,990,500 33% of the closing price of
the shares one business day
immediately preceding the
date of exercise
ERTEAMA— AL
P 7 I T B B933%
2,990,500

2,990,500

28,127,500

of 2 years from
vesting date

202411248 SEEAEE
24F & i Al

29 May 2025 Prior to the expiry
of 2 months from
vesting date

2025%5A29H BB
21 A = Al
29 May 2026
202645 H29H
29 May 2027
2027458 29H

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 30. LI SERBFTIR(HE)
(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) (A) BRRxiEstEI(4F)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont'd) BRALHBENBRESTS (&)

(i) Fair value of options (i) FERER) LT EE
The directors of the Company used the Monte AN EEFEAERRE
Carlo simulation to determine the fair value of BB EIETERERED
share options as at the grant date, which is to BEHMAAEBE AL
be expensed over the relevant vesting period. BESTHEESEBHAX
The weighted average fair value of share options He-RFA MEZF B
granted during the year was HK$1.44, HK$1.31 REBEREERENE
and HK$1.31 (equivalent to RMB1.31, RMB1.19 REMEFEHAABESD
and RMB1.19) per share for directors, senior B B & R1.447% T~ 1.31
management and employees, respectively. BT R13ETHEERA

R#13170 « A R¥1197T
EARMI19TT) ©

The following table lists the inputs to the model TREIFTAEKER 28 A
used: B -
Dividend Expected Risk-free
yield volatility interest rate
B2 = FHKE ERBERAZE
% % %
% % %
Directors 5= 0.86 46.19 3.85

Senior management and SHREEE R

employees EE

— Batch 1 — FE 0.86 46.24 3.72

— Batch 2 — F24t 0.86 46.24 3.72

— Batch 3 — E34t 0.86 46.24 3.72

— Batch 4 — F4Ht 0.86 46.24 3.72
During the year, the Group has recognised a RERN REEDHERR
share option expense related to the Pre-IPO BRRAFE S ERE
Share Option Scheme of RMB32,648,000 B EENERER
(2023:Nil) in total. & # A R #32,648,0007T

(20234 : ##) o
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 30. LI B ERERIFTRR(AE)

(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) (A) RERRHERIEI(4E)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
(i) Fair value of options (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 28,127,500 share options outstanding
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 28,127,500 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share
capital of US$281,275 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 28,127,500
share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 6.4% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on 14 May
2024 (the “Adoption Date”), the purpose of which
is to provide incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group.

Eligible participants under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme include (i) directors (including any
executive director, non-executive director and
independent non-executive director) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time employee) of the
Group (“Employee Participant”); and (ii) directors
and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company
(“Related Entity Participant”); and (iii) certain service
providers who the board of directors (the “Board”)
considers, are in the interests of the long-term growth
of the Group (“Service Provider”).

BRLHBRENBRESS (&
(i) FERER DA NEE(E)

RFEBHKR  AQFRIE
=t & % 528,127,500 14
RITE Z B - BRIEAR
RRAZBEBEARLERE &
AT M R AT 2 B AR A
# & B %% 1728,127,5000%
ARAFIEE N R A B
G & Ax281,2753 T (K 5t
BITHR) -

REZEFBHRERILER
B ARRIREFEHES
28,127,500 & K 17 1F <
Bl#E AR RNZA
ZEETRMZ46.4% o

BEXROMBERBRESS

KRB 2024 FE5 8148 ([HR 44
EﬂﬁJ)?%%WEﬁHQ%EJrEU(fé/’Z

rAEEREREED B
EREERZHEEARAERMR
TR EEIRE B RS
Ebo

BAAHAEERBERETEE
THAERZ2HEERBNASE
BZEEBREEMATES
FRITEERBUIFRITES)
kEEB(Tim 2Btk B(E
a@éﬁ%b P R () AR A R E R
NE - BETFARKEE QA
MEEKEE(HBEERZZ2HA
=) & (|||)§$A(f§$AJ)W
AR AEERBEREANE
TR e ([ARAS HLFERE ) o

EDASEZR AR A 7
“ECMEER
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 30. LI B ERRIFTRR(AE)

(A) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) (A) RERRMERIEI(4E)

200

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for the scheme period which is of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire
at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof,
unless terminated earlier by the shareholders in
general meeting. The maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and other share option schemes of the Company shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue
as at the Listing Date (i.e., 21,997,000 shares) unless
the Company obtains approval from its shareholders
in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribe under the Listing Rules. The total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the
Company’s shares in issue, unless approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting and/or
such other requirements prescribe under the Listing
Rules is obtained.

The amount payable by the grantee on application or
acceptance of an option shall be HK$1.00. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during a
period as the Board may determine which shall not
exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provision of early termination thereof. The vesting
period for options shall not be less than 12 months,
but shall end in any event not later than ten years
from the date of offer for the grant of the option
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

(A)

(B)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)

The exercise price in respect of any particular option
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to an eligible participant and shall be at least
the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option.

No share options have been granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the reporting
period.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

Pre-IPO RSU Plan

The Company adopted a pre-initial public offering
Restricted Share Unit Scheme (the “Pre-IPO RSU
Plan”) on the Adoption Date. The purpose of the
Pre-IPO RSU is to reward the participants for their
contribution to the success of the Group, and to
provide incentives to them to further contribute to the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development to the Group. Eligible participants
of the Pre-IPO RSU include employees or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors of the Group) as well as any
suppliers, customers, other key personnel or other
natural persons or entities that have contributed
or will contribute to the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries.

e M RRME
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30. LIBx {7 & & REaY 13k (#F)

(A)

(B)

Ris B 4 51 BV (4%)
BERLHBRERBRESS (&

ABBEERAFEERBRE
AT 8RB 45 T B A Y
TEE SHEZS2EET
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B e
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FA 3% & A X IR % B 0 B AL 51 3
(TERAFEE /X R0
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 30. LI B ERRIFTRR(AE)

(B) RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME (Cont’d) (B) SEFR B #7 B G &t B (4F)

202

Pre-IPO RSU Plan (Cont’d)

On the Adoption Date, the Company was granted
to three executive directors at an aggregate of
12,770,000 shares at no consideration. The vesting
date is 24 November 2024 and no share was
issued or held under the Pre-IPO RSU Plan as at
31 December 2024. There is no other performance
target required except the eligible participant remains
as employees of the Group and has no improper
conduct during the vesting period.

The fair value of the restricted shares granted at the
grant date was determined using a discounted cash
flow model and was HK$2.04 (equivalent to RMB1.86)
per share.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
amortised the difference between the fair value of the
share awards and the consideration have to pay to
the Company over the vesting period and recognised
share award expenses of RMB23,733,000 (2023: Nil)
which was charged to profit or loss.

Post-IPO RSU Plan

The Company adopted a post-initial public offering
Restricted Share Unit Scheme (the “Post-IPO RSU
Plan”) on 14 May 2024. The purpose of the Post-IPO
RSU Plan is (i) to recognise the contributions by
the grantees and to give incentives thereto in order
to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The
eligible participants under the Post-IPO RSU Plan
include any Employee Participant, Related Entity
Participant or a Service Provider.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

31.

(B)

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME (Cont’d)

Post-IPO RSU Plan (Cont’d)

The Post-IPO RSU Plan shall be valid and effective
for ten years from the date on the Adoption Date.
The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants
made pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Plan and all other
share schemes as adopted by the Company from
time to time shall not exceed 21,997,000 shares. The
vesting period shall not be less than twelve months,
subject to terms and conditions of the Post-IPO RSU
Plan.

No share was issued or held under the Post-IPO RSU
Plan as at 31 December 2024. No RSUs have been
granted under the Post-IPO RSU Plan during the
reporting year.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior periods are presented in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

(A)

(B)

SHARE PREMIUM

The share premium account represents the amount
paid by shareholders for capital injection in excess of
its nominal value.

MERGER RESERVE

Deemed capital contribution arising from transferring
one of the subsidiaries of the ultimate holding
company to the Company without consideration.

e M RRME
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

31.

RESERVES (Cont’d)

(C)

(D)

(E)

CAPITAL RESERVE

Capital reserve represents contribution of certain
equity interests from former shareholders and the
deemed contribution from shareholders of the Group
by way of discharge of liability.

STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and
the articles of association of the group companies
established in the PRC, these companies are required
to appropriate 10% of their net profit after tax, as
determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards,
to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations and in the articles of association
of the group companies, the statutory surplus
reserve may be used either to offset losses, or to be
converted to increase the share capital of the group
companies provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered
capital of them. The reserve cannot be used for
purposes other than those for which it is created and
is not distributable as cash dividends.

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION RESERVE

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of companies
whose functional currency is not RMB.
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31 December 2024 202412 /431H

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 32. {f&R&RBRME
OF CASH FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (A) EEFHERH

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB691,427,000, in respect of lease
arrangements for warehouses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a
shareholder of the Company, LS DiDi Network
Technology Limited, waived the liability amounted to
RMB25,000,000 due from the Company, accordingly,
the Group accounted for the liability discharge by
a shareholder as a deemed contribution from a
shareholder, which increased the capital reserve of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had offset the loan receivables with trade payables
of RMB4,728,000, in respect of the offsetting
arrangements with this supplier.

B 2024128318 It F & -
AEBRARERELHELER
BB TRAREERTEES
& A R#691,427,0007T °

H £2023F12A318 I F & -
RNAR) 2 — % MR E A
BEBERAAREERKAR
Az &fE AR¥25000,0007T -
HES  AEBE—ZRED
BERBRIE—BRETE
RRARZEAREFEIZN -

B £2023%F12A31H It F & -
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  32.
OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

RaReRBERMESE)

(B) MEEHELEMAREE

Amounts
due to
related Interest
parties payable
included included
in other Interest- in other
payables bearing Lease payables
and accruals  borrowings liabilities and accruals
AR ES A HEA
ME R et ENARER
HEZEN EEEZ
BELRE TEEX HESE EMRE
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTT AR®FR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 /18 27,621 41,330 153,791 -
Interest expenses FMERX - - 8,820 1,632
Changes from financing cash MEHEREELE

flows of - (2,621) 10,531 (40,741) (1,632)
Other non-cash movements Hi kR e @ (25,000) 143 2,529 =
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A31H &

1 January 2024 202451 41H - 52,004 124,399 -
Interest expenses FERE - - 19,740 2,491
Changes from financing cash BEHEREEL

flows ok - 66,858 (79,090) (2,445)
Other non-cash movements Hth kR # - (18) 695,999 -
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31R — 118,844 761,048 46

(C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

(C) HRIASRHAEN

FAGRERERERNEER

consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows: ERHBEBIOT
2024 2023
2024 %F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARBT T
Within operating activities KEEHNK 3,941 2,571
Within financing activities mEESRN 79,090 40,741
83,031 43,312
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

33. AHARSR &R

BALANCES
(A) NAME AND RELATIONSHIP OF RELATED (A) FAEEFH BIERRAE
PARTIES
Name Relationship with the Group
wE AR HEASBENEER
Liu Yong Director of the Company
25 RRBREF
Li Qin Director of the Company
=) RRARIES

Samanea China Holdings Limited

Flextrade Holdings Limited

Lesso Mall Development (Auburn) Pty Ltd.

Liansu Group Company Limited

HEEBEABRAQF

Foshan Liansu Building Material Trading
Co., Ltd.

HILTHEEMESBRAA

Beijing Ligian Technology Co., Ltd.

ERDEZRRBER QT

Immediate holding company of the Company*
RAARIHEEERAR”

Fellow subsidiary of the Company*
RRABIRRF RE

Fellow subsidiary of the Company*
RARIMRIRF AR

Fellow subsidiary of the Company*
RRBINRIRF RE”

Fellow subsidiary of the Company*

RARWRIRF AR
Subsidiary of a joint venture
—HeaELENTAA

of the Company after IPO.

These companies are the subsidiaries of China Lesso
and its subsidiaries became the substantial shareholder

* ZERASTEBENF QA
BEFRAREBERARBEER
BMABARAHEEZRR -
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AT HRRME
31 December 2024 2024412531 H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 33. AP XSG RERE)

BALANCES (Cont’d)
(B) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (B) MEBHHXS

AEBERFRNEBBITEUAT

The Group had the following material transactions

with related parties during the year: BEARXRS:
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR T
Fellow subsidiaries: RZEF QA :
Revenue from first-mile EREEREE
international freight services PR 745 U 2 (i) 1,267 2,544
Cost of provision of last-mile REEREERD
fulfillment services Rk 75 B9 X AR (ii) 830 2,045
Short-term borrowings HHER (iii) - 23,153
Loan to a fellow subsidiary m—EREREF
NAEEER (v - 17,229
Substantial shareholder: FERKE:
Revenue from first-mile CHIERREE
international freight services PR 75 W 2= (i) 1,596 =
Cost of provision of last-mile RIEEEREY
fulfillment services AR 75 &9 A A (ii) 1,140 =
Subsidiary of a joint venture: —HEEDLEN
FRA]:
Short-term borrowing and REER K
interests F & (v) 45,046 =
Repayment from directors BEEEXN - 11,423
Notes: B 5
(i)  The services provided to fellow subsidiaries/substantial (i) REBETRETEREDN
shareholder were made with reference to the prices RiETH2EARAEERE =75 H
and conditions offered by the Group to third-party BEREMNERREHEE
consumers. Hj °

REBEFTLEE AR R
FEHERBTAMNBEEL -

(ii) The Group entered into lease agreements to lease (ii)
warehousing units in buildings in Australia.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Cont’d)

(B) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

The Group entered into three loan agreements with a
carrying amount of US$1,000,000, US$1,000,000 and
US$1,273,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023, respectively, with a fellow subsidiary to meet its
short-term funding needs. The aforesaid loans were
unsecured, interest-free and had maturity of one year. All
of the loans have been repaid before the end of 2023.

A fellow subsidiary borrowed two loans from the
Group with a carrying amount of US$1,450,000 and
US$1,000,000, respectively, during the year ended 31
December 2023. The aforesaid loans were unsecured,
interest-free and had maturity of one year. Both of these
loans was early repaid by the fellow subsidiary before the
end of 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group entered into a loan agreement amounted to
RMB45,000,000 with a subsidiary of a joint venture to
meet its short-term funding needs. The aforesaid loan
was unsecured, bear interest at 2.85% per annum and
had maturity of six months. The borrowing was early
repaid by the Group in March 2025.

(C) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

33. ABARSREER ()

(B) EEMWFBHIX S (#)

et : (&

(i)

B £2023F12A318 It F E -
ANEBE—FBRERF ARG
“HhEXRWH REESNA
1,000,000 T * 1,000,0003 7¢
’1,273,000%& 7T - LB EE
AT R - L ERABER
2B R MERNEIE - R
AEREN2023FEREE -

B E2023F12A318 It F & -
—HWRERTFRARMAEEE
AMEER KEES A
1,450,000% 7t }&1,000,000%
e FMERAEKE - 28
BHRAIFE - MEERHYA
A & F 2 7 R 20234 & Bl 12 A

& -

H £2024F12A318 It F & -
AEFE-HALMENTA
RIFIN— M EXRM=#E - FEAE
B A R #45000,0007T * LA
REEHESE K - L ER
BEEE  FF X E285%
FHAAENEARN - AEEE
MR2025F3ARANEEZER °

(C) EMBAHRKREIRHE

PARTIES

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR¥ TR ARBT T
Trade receivables =0y & e (i) 35 =

Prepayments and other AR RIE R EAM
receivables & W SR I8 (i) 263 923
Trade payables =Y iM) - 166
Borrowings &= i) 45,000 —
Interest payables FE AT F) B i) 46 —

EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 33. MMAXSERER(HE)
BALANCES (Cont’d)
(C) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (C) MEABIHEIR K MBEREER (M)
PARTIES (Cont’d)
Notes: Bt 5 -
(i)  The detail information of credit terms for trade receivables (i) B 5 FE W TE K H Ath FE U2 318
and other receivables is set out in note 21 and note 23 to WEERIFHENEREGS
the consolidated financial statements. B TS SRR M 521 R B 323 o
(i) Save as disclosed in notes 26 to the consolidated (i)  BRERE MISIMEM 26T BB
financial statements, these balances are unsecured, BN ZEEBRREER &
interest-free and normally settled on terms same as BER—REZEBIE=FER
independent third parties. WIEREE -
(i)  The balance was unsecured, bear-interest at 2.85% per (iy ZELEHBHAEEE FRXAH
annum and had maturity of six months. 2.85% ' EIHAR AREAA
(D) As at 31 December 2024, no Group’s bank loan (31 (D) H2024F12A318 » ANEBE I # IR
December 2023: RMB6,800,000) were guaranteed by TE K (2023F12A318: A R#E
a personal guarantee by Mr. Liu Yong and his spouse, 6,800,0007T) =&t El 4 T HEI B
respectively, as required under the scheme. S R i BEENEAERE
iR o
(E) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT (E) *KEFEEHASHEHE

PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits &  SEZB N EYE
in kKind ) 4,456 2,480
Pension scheme contributions BEEEFTEIHR 299 277
Share-based payments expenses A& 15 & E i 69~ &
53 49,636 —
Performance related bonuses B IEAD 1,659 2,072
56,050 5,029
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34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

34. M IAMLARREHE

EEANNERMIANSHRERAR

instruments as at the end of each of the reporting period MEEEENT:
are as follows:
FINANCIAL ASSETS eEMEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5 AR TR AREFIT
Financial assets at BRBERATEN
amortised cost cREE
Trade receivables B 5 EINGKRIE 21 197,366 142,431
Financial assets included in T AFEfH FIE »
prepayments, deposits and &% & H b B
other receivables RIENTRMEE 23 39,992 29,019
Financial assets included in 5+ A H fib JE7% &
other non-current assets EENEMEE 20 17,897 =
Cash and bank deposits Be RRITERK 25 310,045 221,427
565,300 392,877
Financial assets at FVOClI EAARABEA
H2mKkEN
EMEE
Unlisted equity securities IE LT AR T 55 24 5,000 .
Financial assets at FVPL &2 AEESA
EXNEREE
Funds He 24 52,713 =
623,013 392,877
EDAKEZERER AT
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

34.

EMTAMLARRENEHE)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES eMmAR
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR T AREFT
Financial liabilities at REBHERATEN
amortised cost ctHmas
Trade payables 2 5 IR 26 148,261 127,875
Financial liabilities included  &F A H fib &1 50 E &
in other payables and ErtERN SR
accruals =R 27 12,288 4,265
Borrowings N 28 118,938 52,422
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 761,048 124,399
1,040,535 308,961
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

Carrying amounts

REE

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

34. EMTAMLARREEHF)

AEESRIAEGEESRARD
AEEEERINOERER
BT

EBE
B

P

Fair values
AREE

31 December

31 December 31 December

31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 2024%F 20234
12831H 12H31H 128318 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTR AREFTT ARETTR AREF T

Financial assets CREE
Unlisted equity securities ELEMBREES 5,000 = 5,000 =
Funds HEe 52,713 — 52,713 -
57,713 - 57,713 -

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer. At the end of each of the reporting
period, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.

EREMNERLAEED B
ZRWKIE  BHREMNFKE A
BNRIE - e R EMERFTIEN
TREEARFTAE M RN RIE K
BFAEANEREENAAEBER
HEEERE T2EHARZETA
RAEHANEH -

A6 1B DA B A% AR 3R S E 0 B A5 BB P
BEEEEMIARARBEFED
BEREEF MELEERAERE
MBERS NEREHKR MK
MAPTEMTEANEELZHLE
ERERANEIEHABE - HE
HERMGEEN I E -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of interest-bearing borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 were assessed to be
insignificant. The carrying amounts of interest-bearing
borrowings approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of funds have been estimated based on
net asset values, determined with reference to observable
(quoted) prices of underlying investment portfolio.

The fair values of unlisted equity securities have been
estimated based on recent transactions approach,
determined with recent transaction prices.
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34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL  34.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °

INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

e M RRME

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

EMTAMNLARRENEHE)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LPREEEBHR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREHIAEEesmITAEAALEE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: ATERER:
Assets measured at fair value: LARBEFENEE:
31 December 2024 20244128 31H
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTEN EATEE EBEAFTEHE
RE BABE BABE
(F—-%) (B=&) (B=4) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
Unlisted equity securities ELETRAE S - - 5,000 5,000
Funds He - 52,713 - 52,713
- 52,713 5,000 57,713

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024

AT BR2024FE12A31B e @ T A
HETHAE R A B R A 85
ERELHREDN:

Significant Sensitivity of fair
Valuation technique unobservable input value to the input
BEAFAEE RABEY
fHE L% WA BB WASBNWERE
Unlisted equity Recent transactions Recent transaction N/A
securities approach prices
FE L HIRAGE 5 RO HE IR G ER T iE A
EDASEEZERER A
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. iR EEHRRBE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash rEENFZem T ABREEREA
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, financial HEBEAMNE S &iﬁf ZEY -
assets at FVPL, trade and other payables, and borrowings, Bo5REMERFKIE - ZAAEBE
which arise directly from its operations. The main purpose FAEEMNERE E Bk EAM
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the ERNREAREBR ELEEHT A
Group’s operations. NETIZEENEAAEEMNEEES
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial AEEesMTEELENETEZASP MZ%
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency FM=EmEpE - NERR EERR R
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group mMEBELRERR . —MME ﬁx
introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. EREBEBEFEEARTRE - A
To keep the Group’s exposure to these risks at a minimum, H%ZK%I@EWE%EJ%H %?:EE—{EE
the Group has not used any derivatives and other AEEBYEFBEATETARE
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not MTERETEHH AXEBUTERFE
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading HETTESBRITEERSRE -
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees EFeRIJUTAEEEELERBRH
policies for managing each of these risks and they are WE - BEEBMEWNT:

summarised below:

(A) INTEREST RATE RISK (A) T Mm%

In respect of the floating interest rate instruments, the REBFNETAME A&
Group is subject to the cash flow interest rate risk, ARZEemAMNERR - Mt
while for the fixed interest rate instruments, the Group BEMETAEmME AEEAE
is subject to fair value interest rate risk. The Group EZXANABEMNERR A&
currently does not have an interest rate hedging B B Ay R 8 X & & F
policy to mitigate interest rate risk; nevertheless, the EHAHABK -BREWO  BE
management monitors interest rate exposure and will BERNEXER TREFE
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should FrERE HERNNERRE -

the need arise.
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AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

35. MERRBREEARRBE (#F)

(A) INTEREST RATE RISK (Cont’d) (A) ¥ B%(4F)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRHP BRERERKE
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all ENEBMNREREEFEARE
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit B EBEEMEBEERETE
before tax by assuming the floating rate borrowings BT - AN B BR A% AT A B
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were 5 T2 7] g8 ) F) 2 2L &) B RK
outstanding for the whole year. g -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit
points before tax
2y BR B A0 R
#m G i OR D)
RMB’000
ARET T
Year ended 31 December B £2024F12A31H
2024 IEFE 50 (594)
Year ended 31 December #H =2024F12 A31H
2024 IEFE (50) 594
Year ended 31 December & £2023F12A31H
2023 IEFE 50 (176)
Year ended 31 December # £2023F12A31H
2023 IEFE (50) 176
EDAKEZR AR A

R MEFFR
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e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s main businesses are located in Chinese
Mainland and most of the transactions are conducted
in RMB. Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities
are denominated in RMB, except for certain cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
right-of-use assets, lease liabilities and borrowings
denominated in HK$, US$, GBP, EUR and CAD. The
Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate
risk; nevertheless, the management monitors foreign
exchange rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of each reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB against the relevant currencies,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the translated
value of monetary assets and loans).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¥R EERERBE (&)

AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Cont’d) (B) BB (#E)

Increase/
(decrease) in

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit before

exchange rate tax
fE & RR B A1 F
#/inCRA) & O D)
% RMB’000
% ARET T
2024 2024
If the RMB weakens against MARBRETRE
the US$ [9) 9,199
If the RMB strengthens MARBHETIAE
against the US$ 5) (9,199)
If the RMB weakens against MAREHEBLEZE
the HKD [0) 1,685
If the RMB strengthens W ARBEBITLHE
against the HKD (5) (1,6895)
If the RMB weakens against M A REHB TR E
the EUR [9) 790
If the RMB strengthens i A REH BT HE
against the EUR 5) (790)
If the RMB weakens against WMARBHINTEE
the CAD [5) 759
If the RMB strengthens i AN REH it HE
against the CAD 5) (759)
2023 20234
If the RMB weakens against MARBHRETRE
the US$ © 3,436
If the RMB strengthens mAREHETLHE
against the US$ 5) (3,436)
If the RMB weakens against MARBEIMTEE
the CAD 5 (279)
If the RMB strengthens M ARBHIMTHE
against the CAD 5) 279
EDAKEZR AR A
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¥R EERERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

(C) CREDIT RISK (C) E& mB%

220

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade receivables, contract assets, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash and cash equivalents since
they are substantially deposited at state-owned
banks and other medium or large-sized listed
banks in Chinese Mainland. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these banks.

The Group expects that the credit risk associated with
trade receivables and other receivables from related
parties is considered to be low, since related parties
have strong financial capacity and commitment to
meet contractual cash flow obligation in the near
term.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by analysis by customer/
counterparty. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk for trade receivables and other
receivables from third parties as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables and other receivables
from third parties are widely dispersed. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — —
e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¥R EERERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

(C) CREDIT RISK (Cont’d) (C) {EEEmBE(#)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B KB & F R PR R ER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TR RAI2AIBERAE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the EEEBRRNEEEREH&EAK
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past FERR(EEEXNAHER -
due information unless other information is available BRIEEBTFBLZKAKE HENA]
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging BESEMERMNUARFERMAE
classification as at 31 December. The amounts BERYSHE FEJINEHEAR
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial BEEMNMERKREE -
assets.
As at 31 December 2024 "2024%12AH31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZfA
BUEEEE 2HENGERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R 81 (29 B &3 BA % @

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETr ARBTR ARETx

Trade receivables* B AN E - - - 214,163 214,163
Financial assets included in ~ tABNFE &%

prepayments, deposits T E th B U SRIB £

and other receivables EREE

— Normal* —EE™ 39,992 - - - 39,992
Financial assets included in ~ stAEMIERBEE

other non-current assets MemdE

— Normal™* —EE™ 17,807 - - - 17,897
Cash and cash equivalents ~ B2 KB £ 5EY

— Not yet past due S CE St 310,045 - - - 310,045

367,934 - 214,163 582,097

EDARBIZRARAT oo
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

35. MERRBREEARRBE (#F)

(C) CREDIT RISK (Cont’d) (C) EEmIE(#)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d) BRERFERFERER (&
As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12H831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T=fAA
BHEEEE HRBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
(23 B&2 B&3 BlFE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Trade receivables* BH RN A" - - - 151,459 151,459
Contract assets* ANEE" - - - 275 275
Financial assets included in ~ FFABNFE - %4
prepayments, deposits KA F B
and other receivables EREE
— Normal* —FE™ 29,019 - - - 29,019
Cash and cash equivalents B2 KBE£SEY
— Not yet past due — b R 221,427 - - - 221,427
250,446 - - 151,734 402,180

>k

For trade receivables and contract assets to which the
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed
in note 21 and note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits, other receivables and other
non-current assets are considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to
be “doubtful”.

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

>k

75 82 [ i B 8 0 97 6 8 TR
EMESRERERS WEE
% 2 B 4 T R
b5 45 B 90 O 2221 R B 222
B -

FRABENRE - e HitE
YR IR T E At 3E O B & EE
EREENEREERAEHR AR
B AUTEEMBTIEREE
BYnEREEERERRARE
EARBEERIETR] TR
CREENEEEZRBEARI
Rt e



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — - °

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

35. MERRBREEARRBE (#F)

(D) LIQUIDITY RISK (D) WENE & M
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter nNBESRBEEARSE &
difficulties in meeting financial obligations due to CEBRMEBENABITHMBEEREED
shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity Bk e AEEHEBENREE S
risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities RERErEREcREERABRE
of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s FHAMER ASEMNER
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity EREBFEBEESFREEAY
of funding to finance its working capital needs as well oz Ao
as capital expenditure.
The tables below analyse the maturity profile of the TERIMEAEETHBERS
Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of each WERNIBARRZ(ERED
reporting period, which is based on contractual REGBAR) ©
undiscounted payments.
2024 20244
Less than 1t05 Over
On demand 1 year years 5 years Total
REX 15/ 1256  5EHL @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%®Tn
Trade payables ESRITHIE - 148,261 - - 148,261
Financial liabilities included in ~ stAE M EMFER
other payables and accruals EAERNERAR 12,288 - - - 12,288
Lease liabilities HEaE - 126,360 428,469 490,568 1,045,397
Borrowings &5 94 121,118 - - 121,212
12,382 395,739 428,469 490,568 1,327,158

EDAEZRARA
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e I HRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¥R EERERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

(D) LIQUIDITY RISK (Cont’d) (D) HEE S M)
2023 2023%F
On  Less than 1105 Over
demand 1 year years 5 years Total

REX kA 1556 5%k @t
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR

Trade payables BHENTA - 127,875 = = 127,875
Financial liabilities included in -~ §FA E fh JE 1 58 R B &t
other payables and accruals ERMEBAE 4,265 = = = 4,265
Lease liabilities HERR - 41,581 82,667 20,945 145,193
Borrowings B 418 53,366 110 - 53,894
4,683 222,822 82,777 20,945 331,227
(E) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (E) BFER
The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital AEBEEEANTIEZERRE
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as REAEEFBELENR
a going concern and to maintain healthy capital WHBRBREOBEARL X U
ratio in order to support its business and maximise SHEBER&EANERREE -

shareholders’ value.

The Group regards equity attributable to owners AEEBT R A HEE ARG E
of the parent as capital and manages its capital mRREALEREEARERE
structure and makes adjustments to it in light BRIBLEERAOELBEREAE
of changes in economic conditions and the risk ENRRFBETHE - Ri
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain BRABRERNGHE  AEET
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust FEMBEIRARE MK R
the dividend payment to shareholders or return REEXR - NWEHAN-BR
capital to shareholders. No change was made in the BERAMBERE BHEIMELE
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital EREE -

during the reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Cont’d)
(E) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
The Group monitors capital using the gearing ratio,

which is total debt divided by total equity attributable
to owners. The gearing ratios at the end of each

e M RRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

35. MERRBREEARRBE (#F)

(E) BXER(MH)

AEEEREERAEL XE
BEABKRIAEE ARIGAE

reporting period are as follows: WEEBBELERNT:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% AR¥ TR ARBEF T
Borrowings BN 118,938 52,422
Equity attributable to (SN P N
owners of the parent L= 596,211 324,044
Gearing ratio BEEAGBLE 20.0% 16.2%
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 36. HEMEER

On 27 January 2025, the Group’s subsidiaries, PT
Flexlogis Investment Indonesia and Flexlogis Private
Limited (“Purchasers”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the Group’s substantial shareholder,
China Lesso, pursuant to which the Purchasers have
conditionally agreed to acquire and China Lesso have
conditionally agreed to the sale, transfer, and assignment
of 100% of the total issued shares of its subsidiary, PT
Samanea Logistics Property (“Target Company”), with
the consideration of approximately IDR13,659,044,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB6,179,146). China Lesso
and the Purchasers have agreed that the Target Company
shall continue to assume the interest-free debt in the
amount of IDR54,966,785,897 (equivalent to approximately
RMB24,866,149) owed by the Target Company to China
Lesso, which shall be payable by the Target Company
within six months after completion of the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital of the Target Company by the
Purchasers.

20251 H27H » AL B H F A F
PT Flexlogis Investment Indonesia
I Flexlogis Private Limited ([:2% &
FHEAREERF ERER RS
AIVEBEmE B ZFESHE
REREWE - Mo EE G
RELE BENEZHETRFPT
Samanea Logistics Property ([ B 1Z
READHEEHEBTRG  KEL
#13,659,044,000E1 /E /& (M8 & M 4
AR ¥6,179,1467T) ° B HE 22 | %
ZEEFRE BERRIBEBAE
ERAREXRPEBBN R BER
& #£54,966,785,897E) B /& (1 & R
N R #24,866,14970) © & B 15 &
HERARIETKEBRELQA 2 E
EETRANKEESNERARNA -

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

37. FATFHMBIRAR

BERBREHRIABHEMRNKNE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAHRE 56,433 7
Other non-current assets HEtIERBHEE 67,757 =
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 124,190 7
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BRAHIE - Ze kEAM
receivables JE W 3k 1B 38 2,703
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE T N B I8 173,725 91,996
Cash and bank deposits He RIRTTHER 9,735 165
Total current assets MEEERE 183,498 94,864
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals H b & < 5038 K&
FEETIER 9,701 1,324
Amounts due to subsidiaries B F RARIRIE 7,841 17,757
Total current liabilities mEaEeE 17,542 19,081
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETE 165,956 75,783
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #AEERABER
LIABILITIES 290,146 75,790
Net assets EEFE 290,146 75,790
EQUITY ¥
Share capital % 31,493 15
Reserves (note) A EES) 258,653 75,775
Total equity ey CEC 290,146 75,790
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e B EmRME

31 December 2024 202412 /431H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. XARIMMBERAE(HF)
COMPANY (Cont’d)

Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARHERENT :
Shares
Share Capital option  Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
BRHGEE EXRE BRERE RENE @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETL ARBTL ARBTR ARETR

At 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H — 70,000 - 283 70,283
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZ2ERFLE - - - (16,508) (16,508)
Deemed capital contributions by way NEBRER—ZREBENH N
of discharge of liability due to a BETE
shareholder - 25,000 - - 25,000
Capital injection iE 20,000 - - - 20,000
Dividends recognised as distributions to ~ #R Ak T HEAE AR S
owners (20,000) (3,000) — — (23,000)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023F12A31H k202451 A1H - 92,000 - (16,225) 75,775
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZE N H L5 - - - (10,353) (10,353)
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to IPO B EE X AR EE#TERRK 195,794 - - - 195,794
Capitalisation issue BRI (24,323) - - = (24,323)
Share issue expenses ROBETRE (22,405) - - - (22,408)
Recognition of equity-settled share option  H 58 JA 18 25 45 & ) & I 1 B 52
expense - - 56,381 - 56,381
Exercise of share options ERENTE 5,695 - (3,836) = 1,859
Dividends recognised as distributions to ~ HRAMESA DKL K E
owners - (14,075) - - (14,075)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12 A31H 154,761 77,925 52,545 (26,578) 258,653
38. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 38. tEERESMBHRE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and RAMBERERN202543A250EE
authorised for issue by the board on 25 March 2025. EEHERRETE -
EDAKEZRERA T
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Glossary

i

“Board”

[EFg]

“BVI”
(RBABERES]

“China” or “PRC”
[ B

“Company” or “our Company”

[AnaE ]

“Current Ratio”
[ 8tk %]

“EBITDA
[Br %

“FVOCI”

e AR EEFAEMEE W]

“FVPL
(AR EEF AR

“Gearing Ratio”

[EEREX]

” o«

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”
[ B gk [ 3]

“HK$"

[T

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[&#]

EDA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
2024 Annual Report

the board of directors of the Company

RRABIEES®

the British Virgin Islands
REBERARES

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this report,
excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARKENE pRA{ZEMS X ARFEE  RFIRAE

EDA Group Holdings Limited (previously named as EDA Cloud
Technology Holdings Limited (S EZ Z2 & #E KRB R 2 7)), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 17
September 2020 with limited liability

EDA Group Holdings Limited (AT S EZRIFEZERBERAF]) * B
—_E_EFAATLREREHETMRINERRER AR

the ratio of current assets to current liabilities
MEBEERURSBENL X

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

ERFE - BIA - T E R EHATRF

fair value through other comprehensive income
RARBEFAAHMEZE KR

fair value through profit or loss
BARBEFARR

total debt divided by total equity attributable to owners
BERERAEAABGEER

our Company and our subsidiaries (as defined under the Listing
Rules) at the relevant time and, where the context requires, in
respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the holding
company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries of our
Company at the relevant time

AR RBMARBAREESTFRR(ERR EMAA) KX EFRR
BIRARAKAERAEFARNERARANHBEMS - X2
AIREBERRENERT AR

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BELEEE® — BT

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
MEEBETRE



“Listing Date”
[ET R

“Listing Rules”
[EmRAl
“Quick Ratio”
[R B L %]

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”
(38 7% & B & &R 01

“Share(s)”
[ AR 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 32 Frr |

28 May 2024
20244528 H

Glossary
Ay
a5

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange

4 X

B 22

Pt 78

7 LA Al

the ratio of current assets less inventories to current liabilities

MBEERTFEBRURBEENL X

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

B

25

TE®E - AR%

Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong

BB EDIESTIEEF R HEED

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a

nominal value of US$0.01 each
AABRAFREGREEOOIE LA TR

holder(s) of our Share(s)

B EHEBEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

N

(AAVAN
El=

RHMBERAT]

EDASEZE AR AT
—E-NEER
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Corporate Information

NEEHR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. LI Qin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHEUNG Man Yu
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZUO Manlun
Mr. LUO Jianfeng

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin
Mr. NG Cheuk Him
Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. NG Cheuk Him
Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin
Mr. LUO Jianfeng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LIU Yong
Mr. NG Cheuk Him
Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN Kwok Cheung Kevin
Mr. WONG Ping Yee Natalis
Mr. LIU Yong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
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802 West Bay Road
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Cayman Islands
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

21/F, Block A

Daoxing Science and Technology Innovation Centre
Xingdong Community

Xin’an Street

Bao’an District

Shenzhen PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 03, 12/F

Tower 2 South Seas Centre
75 Mody Road

Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

Bank of China Limited, Qianhaiwan Branch
AUDITOR AND REPORTING ACCOUNTANT
Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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Corporate Information

NEEHR

LEGAL ADVISER

As to Hong Kong law and U.S. securities law

Dentons Hong Kong LLP

As to PRC law
Han Kun Law Offices

As to Cayman Islands law
Harney Westwood & Riegels

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Ignite Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited

STOCK CODE
2505

WEBSITE

www.edayun.com
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